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UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D. C. 20549  

Form 10-K  
(Mark One)  

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014  

or  

Commission File Number: 000-55261  

GLORI ENERGY INC.  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chart er)  

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (713) 237-8880  

 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  

 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  

� Yes � No  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  

� Yes � No  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during 
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the 
past 90 days.  

� Yes � No  

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to 

be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the 
registrant was required to submit and post such files).  

� Yes � No  

 
Indicate by check mark if the disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any 
amendment to this Form 10-K.  

�  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See 
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):  

      

�     ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH E SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

      

�     TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) O F THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

Delaware     46-4527741  
(State or Other Jurisdiction of     (I.R.S. Employer  

Incorporation or Organization)     Identification No.)  

      

10350 Richmond Avenue, Suite 850        

Houston, Texas 77042     77042  
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)     (Zip Code)  

Title of each class  Name of each exchange on which registered  

    

Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share  The NASDAQ Capital Market LLC  

    

Warrants  Other OTC  



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12-b2 of the Exchange Act). � Yes � No  

The aggregate market value of Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant on June 30, 2014 was approximately $146,974,000.  

 

There were 31,571,357 $0.001 par value common shares outstanding on March 09, 2015.  

Documents Incorporated By Reference  

 
Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2015 annual meeting of the stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed no later than 120 days after 
the close of the registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, are hereby incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 
 

 

Large accelerated filer  �     Accelerated filer �     Non-accelerated filer  �     Smaller reporting company   � 

            (Do not check if a smaller reporting company.)        
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PART I  
 

Item 1. Business  
   
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements based on expectations, estimates, and projections as of the 
date of this filing. These statements by their nature are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions and are influenced by various factors. As a consequence, actual results may 
differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. See the risk factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Part II, Item 7A—Quantitative 
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Part II and Item 7A—Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.  

 
Overview  
 
Glori Energy is a Houston-based energy technology and oil production company that deploys its proprietary AERO Technology to increase the amount of oil that can be produced from 
conventional fields at a substantially lower cost than traditional enhanced oil recovery methods ("AERO System"). Only about one-third of the oil discovered in a typical reservoir is 
recoverable using conventional oil production technology, leaving the remaining two-thirds trapped in the reservoir rock. Our AERO System technology stimulates the native 
microorganisms that reside in the reservoir to improve the recoverability of this trapped oil. The AERO System can reverse production declines and significantly increase ultimate 
reserve recovery at a low incremental cost per barrel.  Glori owns and operates oil fields onshore in the U.S. where it deploys its technology, and additionally markets the AERO 
System as a technology service to exploration and production ("E&P") companies globally. Glori derives revenues from fees earned as a service provider of our technology to third 
party E&P companies, and also uses its technology to increase oil production in fields that we acquire and operate in the United States.  
   
We intend to acquire and redevelop additional mature oil fields with historically long-lived, predictable production profiles that fit our criteria for the AERO System. We target mature 
sandstone assets onshore in the United States with good permeability and production supported by waterflood or waterdrive systems, or with clear potential for waterflooding. We 
believe our acquisition strategy can enhance the revenues, cash flows and returns from such oil fields through waterflood optimization and implementation of our AERO System of 
enhanced oil recovery. We believe this strategy will enable us to further demonstrate the efficacy of our AERO System while allowing us to capture the increase in revenues and 
ultimate recovery. We believe the acquisition of principally proved producing oil reserves, with production and cash flow history, is an economically attractive, low-risk complement to 
our service business which is dependent on customer adoption of the AERO System technology. Further, by owning our own oil properties, we can manage the implementation of 
AERO System in a controlled environment and accelerate the industry adoption of our technology.  
 
Glori Energy Technology Inc., a Delaware corporation (formerly Glori Energy Inc.) ("GETI"), was incorporated in November 2005 (as successor in interest to Glori Oil LLC) to 
increase production and recovery from mature oil wells using state of the art biotechnology solutions.  
 
In January 2014, GETI entered into a merger and share exchange agreement with Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation ("INXB") and certain of its affiliates, Glori Acquisition 
Corp., Glori Merger Subsidiary, Inc., and Infinity-C.S.V.C. Management Ltd., as INXB Representative (such transaction, the "Merger"). On April 14, 2014, the Merger and share 
exchange agreement was closed and the merger was consummated. As part of the Merger, Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation merged with and into Glori Acquisition Corp., 
with Glori Acquisition Corp. surviving the merger. Following that merger, Glori Merger Subsidiary, Inc. merged with and into GETI, with GETI surviving the merger. Following the 
Merger, GETI became the wholly-owned subsidiary of Glori Acquisition Corp., and Glori Acquisition Corp. adopted the name "Glori Energy Inc."  
   
In March 2014, GETI incorporated Glori Energy Production Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glori Holdings Inc., to purchase the Coke Field Assets (as defined below) and incur the 
associated acquisition debt, as described in detail in NOTE 4 in Item 15 to Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

   
Glori Energy Inc., GETI, Glori Oil (Argentina) Limited, Glori Oil S.R.L., Glori Canada Ltd., Glori Holdings Inc., Glori California Inc., OOO Glori Energy and Glori Energy 
Production Inc. are collectively referred to as the “Company”, "Glori", "Glori Energy", "we", "us", and "our" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Glori's common stock is publicly traded on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automatic Quotation System (NASDAQ). Our corporate headquarters is located at 10350 
Richmond Ave., Suite 850, Houston, Texas 77042. As of  December 31, 2014 , we had a total of 42 active employees consisting of 10 employees engaged in research and development, 
23 employees in operations and 11 employees in management, business development and administrative positions. We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, available free 
of charge on or through our website, www.glorienergy.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Additionally, we 
maintain our code of ethics and business conduct, audit committee charter, compensation committee charter, policy governing director qualifications and nominations, policy governing 
related person transactions, insider trading policy and corporate governance guidelines in the corporate governance section of our website. The SEC also maintains a 
website, www.sec.gov, which contains our reports, proxy and information statements and other information we have filed.  
 
Glori Technology Services   

Glori’ s AERO System incorporates a dedicated field deployment unit designed to work with existing waterflood operations. Waterflooding is a commonly used process of injecting 
water into the reservoir in order to increase oil recovery. The AERO System does not have any significant new impact on the environment because it utilizes existing production 
equipment and infrastructure, and does not change the nature of the customer’s oil production operations. In an existing waterflooded oil field, implementation of the AERO System 
does not require the drilling of new wells nor does it require other significant new capital investment.  

Glori believes its AERO System increases the oil production rate and the ultimate quantity of oil recovered over the life of the oil field, and extends the life of the field by integrating 
sophisticated biotechnology with traditional oil production techniques. Glori has performed extensive laboratory and field testing to validate, integrate and advance technology 
transferred from three different scientific groups that collectively represent decades of funded research and development. Glori’s technology is protected by several patents and patent 
applications. Glori and its collaborators, Statoil Petroleum AS, or Statoil, in Norway, The Energy and Resources Institute, or "TERI", in India, and Bio Topics S.A., in Argentina, have 
collectively applied AERO and predecessor technologies in more than 100 wells throughout the world. Glori estimates that these technology implementations have recovered over six 
million barrels of oil that would not have otherwise been recovered. Glori anticipates continuing to demonstrate results with its AERO System technology and expand its customer base 
as well as utilizing AERO System technology on its own oil fields.  

Glori Market Opportunity  
   
Glori’s market for its AERO System consists of domestic and international oil production from sandstone reservoirs with permeability greater than 75 milli-darcies which are under 
waterflood or are waterflood candidates.  
   
Glori believes its AERO System represents the most cost effective enhanced oil recovery method from both a capital expenditure and an operating cost perspective. Glori believes that 
its primary competition for this sizable market is from traditional enhanced oil recovery technologies, such as gas injection and chemical injection, as well as from other microbial 
enhanced oil recovery methods. Glori believes that its AERO System is superior to traditional enhanced oil recovery technologies both economically and environmentally and that the 
AERO System is able to recover oil that traditional enhanced oil recovery methods cannot recover on an economic basis. Because the AERO System works with naturally occurring 
microbes in the reservoir, Glori believes its processes do not cause any damage to the environment. Glori also views its AERO System as presenting a lower capital expenditure profile 
than traditional enhanced oil recovery technologies because it requires no new meaningful infrastructure investment when deployed in an operating waterflood.  
 
Technology  

Oil Production  

During the primary recovery stage , oil is produced through natural drive mechanisms. Recovery factor during this stage is low, typically about 10%. Secondary production generally 
begins once the pressure in the reservoir is insufficient to force the oil to the surface and is performed by adding external energy to the reservoir through injection of fluids, water or 
gas, to increase the reservoir pressure. Typical recovery factors in secondary production can reach 30%, depending on the properties of oil and the characteristics of the reservoir rock. 
About two thirds of the original oil in place remains trapped in the reservoir even after waterflooding.  
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Glori’s Technology  

The AERO System acts to improve the performance of secondary production water floods by stimulating the native micro-organisms that reside in the reservoir to improve the 
recoverability of this trapped oil. Glori does not introduce specific microbes selected for its purposes, nor does it rely upon genetically-engineered microorganisms. Instead Glori adds 
customized nutrients to the reservoir to grow the existing indigenous microbes in that reservoir. Microbes residing in oil reservoirs have the natural ability to use oil as a food source to 
facilitate growth given the right conditions. Growth of microbes on the oil is a fundamental requirement for AERO System functionality. Because the oil acts as a food source, the bulk 
of ingredients to fuel the AERO System are already in the reservoir, limiting the externally added components to the specific nutrients Glori introduces and the injected water that 
constitutes the waterflood. The microbial growth and activities occur only where the oil is trapped. This process is complex and depends on several distinct groups of microbes 
performing specialized tasks in the chain of biological reactions. The complexity of the process makes it vulnerable to disruption from external changes in the surrounding environment. 
Glori leverages its knowledge of how to establish a consistent environment with the right characteristics for effective deployment of the AERO System in order to mobilize trapped oil.  
   
As part of the implementation of the AERO System process, Glori scientists analyze the injection water and water treatment system at the candidate oil field to determine if the water 
quality is compatible with AERO System requirements. Glori does not need potable water for the AERO System to be successful, but it does need the water to be non-detrimental to the 
microbe’s desired activities.  

When the analysis and process development for the candidate field have been completed, the project moves into the field deployment phase. Glori has designed its deployment systems 
to integrate with current oil field waterflood equipment to simplify installation. This has resulted in modular field units that can be customized for continuous input of nutrients to the 
reservoir. Glori’s field units are equipped with sensors to monitor performance remotely, which allows us to service oil fields efficiently in remote locations. The oil that is produced 
from the utilization of the AERO System is delivered to market using the existing wells and pipelines that are already available to the oil producer. The additional oil that is captured by 
the AERO System is not altered in the process. Glori has verified this process by continuous operation of an oil field pilot project for more than three years during which no significant 
change in the n-alkane distribution could be detected.  

Depending on the amount of oil trapped in the reservoir, Glori expects the production benefits from AERO System deployment to be sustained over many years until the field becomes 
uneconomic. At this point, Glori believes up to an additional 20% of the previously trapped oil will have been produced. Although Glori currently applies the technology primarily to 
mature waterfloods, Glori anticipates further performance improvements when its AERO System process is initiated at an earlier stage of oil recovery.  

Research and Development  

Glori has made significant investments in the development of the AERO System and will continue to fund further technology development in the future. Deployment of the AERO 
System enables and activates key microbial functionalities within an oil reservoir. These functionalities mobilize otherwise trapped oil resulting in increased production of oil. The 
functionalities required for successful deployment of the AERO System will be analogous between different reservoir conditions, but the microbes performing them and the nutrients 
required to best stimulate their growth may be different. To understand this complex system of diverse microbes and their interactions requires understanding the molecular 
mechanisms at work. As Glori’s knowledge of the biochemistry of oil mobilization by the AERO System develops, it expects to have the ability to both improve current deployment 
strategies and deploy the AERO System in a greater range of reservoir conditions.  

Glori’s research and development strategy seeks to extend the reach and effectiveness of the AERO System. Efforts towards this goal are focused on 1) continued optimization of 
implementation primarily focused on biology and chemistry of water used in injection systems Glori continues to make significant progress in developing a system to treat reservoir 
water for optimum performance, 2) exploring the limits of permeability, viscosity, and other key parameters to afford continued enhancements in field performance and increase the 
range of suitable projects, and 3) understanding the mechanism of residual oil release which will suggest areas for further improvements as well as afford data to build models to better 
predict field outcomes.  

Glori’ s research and development programs are designed to drive down costs per incremental barrel of oil produced by increasing oil yield and production rates as well as by increasing 
both the number of candidate oil fields and the scale of deployment.  

In 2009, Glori entered into a technology cooperation agreement with Statoil, which has been replaced by an updated 2011 agreement, further extended in 2014. The collaboration 
agreements incorporates intellectual property and know-how that Statoil has been developing for many years.  
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In July 2014, Glori was awarded U.S. Patent 8,783,345, Microbial Enhanced Oil Recovery Delivery Systems and Methods, which provides patent coverage for additional 
methodologies in the successful implementation of the AERO technology. In September 2014, Glori was awarded U.S. Patent 8,826,975, Systems and Methods of Microbial Enhanced 
Oil Recovery, which affords key intellectual property protection for Glori's AERO technology. Glori owns the intellectual property (IP) rights of these patents and inventors include 
personnel from both Glori and Statoil.  

Glori’s Competitive Strengths  
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•  Disruptive and proven technology: Glori believes that the AERO System is a transformative and disruptive innovation that manipulates the existing reservoir microbial 
communities to improve the recovery of oil in waterflood or water drive oil fields. Glori believes its AERO System is applicable in more oil fields than other existing enhanced oil 
recovery technologies.  

•  Attractive returns from acquisition of oil fields: Glori intends to acquire additional mature oil fields which are under waterdrive, waterflood or are good candidates for 
waterflood. By acquiring oil fields and implementing the AERO System technology, Glori can capture 100% of the increase in production, revenues and ultimate oil recovery, 
resulting in the potential for superior acquisition returns. Additionally, by acquiring its own fields, Glori expects to accelerate the industry adoption of its technology.  

•  Established commercial contracts: Glori customers include international oil companies and independent oil and gas companies in North America and Brazil. Glori's business 
does not depend on any particular customer. See also the discussion included in Item 1A under the heading "Our revenue to date has been derived from a limited number of 
customers, and the loss of any of these customers could materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations."  

•  Profitable stand-alone economics: Glori’ s current commercial application of the AERO System is profitable on a project level basis. The total operating cost per barrel, excluding 
minimal upfront capital costs, attributed to the use of Glori’s technology is minimal. Unlike many other emerging clean-energy technologies, successful commercialization of the 
AERO System does not depend on the availability of government subsidies or mandates.  

•  Capital-light technology: Unlike other enhanced oil recovery processes, the AERO System can be deployed to waterflood reservoirs with very little capital expenditure. The 
AERO System is applied to a reservoir by utilizing Glori’s field deployment module, which requires relatively minor capital investment. Glori believes its technology has the 
potential to create a sustainable source of additional economic oil production that will extend the lives of oil fields and related infrastructure for many years.  

•  Clean alternative to traditional enhanced oil recovery: Glori’s AERO System increases the oil recoverable from an existing field using infrastructure already in place. When 
deployed in a waterflood reservoir, no new wells need to be drilled, no new pipelines are laid, no new significant energy input is required into the process and there is no new 
disruption to the environment. Furthermore, because the activity is biological and occurs in the reservoir, there is minimal consequent carbon dioxide or greenhouse gas footprint. 
Once the application of the AERO System ends, the microbes in the reservoir are no longer supplied with nutrients and the reservoir will return to its pre-treatment status. By way 
of comparison, other enhanced oil recovery techniques require significant energy input, such as thermal injection, or significant additional infrastructure to implement, such as gas 
injection. In addition, other enhanced oil recovery techniques introduce new environmental impacts, in particular gas injection and chemical injection techniques, which result in a 
sizable carbon dioxide or greenhouse gas footprint or the addition of a large quantity of chemicals or polymers into the reservoir.  

•  Intellectual property position: Glori’s intellectual property, consisting of substantial know-how and trade secrets, is the result of decades of research and development by Glori, 
Statoil Petroleum AS, or Statoil, in Norway, The Energy and Resources Institute, or TERI, in India, and Bio Topics S.A., or Biotopics, in Argentina. Glori also has multiple patents 
and patent applications. Glori believes its intellectual property and decades of research provide it with a strong competitive advantage and creates a high barrier to entry.  

•  Experienced management and technical team: Glori’s management and technical team’s expertise includes microbiology, chemistry and biochemistry, microbial genomics, 
engineering, geology and geosciences, petroleum engineering, reservoir engineering and production management, and in their respective careers, Glori’s team members played key 
roles in the commercialization of dozens of successful large-scale industrial biotechnology and traditional oil field acquisition and development projects.  
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Milestones and Commercialization Strategy  
 
Technology Milestones  
   
Confirmation of microbial activity:  Glori has determined through field sampling and laboratory testing that essentially all hydrocarbon bearing reservoirs either contain microbes or 
can be injected with source water that does contain microbes that are capable of utilizing the residual hydrocarbon to grow, and in doing so create biomass as biofilms. Glori is 
continuously refining its methodologies to grow these microbes and Glori’s criteria for selection of nutrients to facilitate certain functionalities in the process. Below is a table that 
shows, from the sample set Glori has tested, 80% of hydrocarbon bearing reservoirs contain microbes suitable for enhanced recovery. For those that do not show evidence of viable 
microbes, there is associated “source water” (usually from a subterranean reservoir at a different depth from the target reservoir) that does contain viable microbes.  
    
Improvement in oil recovery factors:  Over the past five years, Glori has achieved a number of significant advances in its research and development effort. Glori’s application of 
technology progressed from small, discreet application at producing wells under a “huff and puff” process (whereby the nutrient mix is injected into a producer well which is then shut-
in for a period of days to allow the microbes to grow before the well is re-opened to production), to full scale application at injection wells under a continuous injection process. In 
addition, Glori added microbial genomics and bioinformatics capabilities in its laboratory facilities to further advance Glori understanding of the microbial processes involved in oil 
mobilization.  
   
Development of Glori’s AERO System technology:  In 2010, Glori implemented its pilot commercial AERO System project in the field. In April 2011, Glori applied for patent 
protection of this technology. In 2012, Glori applied for two additional patents associated with exploitation of the AERO mechanism.  
   
Commercialization Milestones  
   
Demonstration of commercial application:  First deployed in 2010 and subsequently deployed in multiple field projects, the AERO System has demonstrated improvements in oil 
production and decrease in decline rates in commercial demonstration projects in the USA and Canada. These AERO System implementations build on predecessor technology 
implementations that collectively account for over 100 treatments in different wells in multiple locations around the world. The AERO System performance is presented in SPE paper 
144205 and has won recognition with multiple industry awards including winner of the Energy Institute 2013 Innovation Award, finalist in the World Oil Award for New Horizons, 
runner up for World Petroleum Congress Excellence in Innovation, winner Corporate LiveWire 2015 Innovations and Excellence in Oil and Gas and was named to the Global 
Cleantech Group 2013 Cleantech 100 report.  
     
Commercialization Strategy  
   
Glori’s mission is to use microbiology to efficiently recover large quantities of oil currently trapped in reservoirs using existing oil wells. To achieve this Glori intends to:  
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•  Acquire and operate oil fields:  Deployment of the AERO System technology to its own oil fields will enable Glori to capture 100% of the revenues and cash flow benefit 
from the increased production and to generate enhanced acquisition returns. In October 2010, Glori acquired the North Etzold field to test and further develop the AERO 
System. To accelerate adoption of the AERO System, Glori plans to strategically acquire and develop additional mature oil fields in geographies that it expects will improve 
its portfolio of field successes.  

•  Expand Glori’s project portfolio:  As of December 31, 2014, Glori had five customer projects in the Field Deployment stage and another seven projects in the Reservoir 
Analysis and Treatment Design phase. Glori expects to add additional projects that are currently in various stages of evaluation. Glori expects industry adoption to grow over 
time and as acceptance and recognition increases, it expects its AERO System revenues to grow significantly.  

•  Optimize Glori’s performance and expand the applicability of the AERO System:  While Glori is already active on a commercial scale, it intends to continue to improve 
its performance and predictability of the AERO System additional customer projects and assets Glori acquires. Glori believes that in the future it will develop additional 
capabilities that will expand the types of fields to which it can apply its technology, such as expanding the applicability of Glori’s technology to heavier oils and carbonate 
reservoirs.  
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AERO System Service Offering  
 
Glori employs a two-step process to screen and evaluate an oil field for AERO System suitability, whether for an oil field to be acquired or for a customer. This process ensures a 
systematic, engineered and customized approach to technology deployment in each reservoir. The same process is used to screen an oil field acquisition.  
   
Reservoir Analysis and Treatment Design Phase (Analysis Phase) : Glori obtains representative oil and water samples from the reservoir as part of its screening process to evaluate 
AERO System potential. Samples are taken to Glori’s Houston laboratory where detailed geochemical analysis is performed. The heart of the Analysis Phase deals with 
microbiological activities, where the indigenous formation microbes are analyzed for functionality. The general activities for the Analysis Phase are:  
 

   
Tests are performed at Glori’s Houston laboratory using microbes from the reservoir and nutrient media with the formation water and oil to verify AERO System performance under 
simulated reservoir conditions. Several iterations of tests are often performed to optimize the system compositions to achieve the optimal AERO System activity. If microbial growth 
appropriate for economical oil recovery can be demonstrated, the project then moves forward to the Field Deployment Phase. The Reservoir Analysis and Treatment Design phase 
typically takes an aggregate of two months to complete.  
   
Field Deployment Phase : Once the viability of the AERO System is demonstrated in the Analysis Phase, a detailed project development plan is finalized, and the project proceeds to 
the Field Deployment Phase where the AERO System is initiated in the oil field to stimulate the indigenous microbes in the oil bearing reservoir.  
   
Glori mobilizes skid-mounted injection equipment to the field location. This equipment has been specially designed and tested by Glori at its Houston facility, and may be 
manufactured by select third parties. The equipment is continuously monitored and operated remotely from Glori’s project command center in Houston. The equipment remains on the 
lease throughout the duration of AERO System activities. It is usually installed near the waterflood water injection plant where Glori’s microbial nutrient media are injected into 
waterflood flowlines for delivery to the reservoir.  
   
Once initiated, Glori and its customer continually evaluate the technical, operational and economic results of the Field Deployment Phase activity. Assuming the project meets the 
desired criteria, Glori will work with the customer to prepare a project expansion plan, up to and including full-field deployment of the AERO System.  
   
Typically, Glori starts the Field Deployment Phase as an initial field validation in a small section of a producing field. Results from the AERO System are typically detected within two 
to three months after it initiates the Field Deployment Phase. After the initial Field Deployment Phase field validation is complete, Glori may enter into a longer term contract with its 
customer to continue or expand the use of the AERO System throughout the oil field.  
     
Oil field Acquisition Strategy  
   
Glori intends to acquire and redevelop mature oil fields with historically long-lived, predictable production profiles. Glori believes it can enhance the revenues, cash flows and 
acquisition returns from such oil fields through well recompletions, secondary recovery, waterflood optimization and implementation of its AERO System of enhanced oil recovery. 
Glori also plans to selectively acquire fields which may have low current production but have (i) excellent reservoir qualities, (ii) significant original oil in place remaining, and (iii) 
provide opportunities to re-enter existing wells, return them to production, and deploy the AERO System to capture significant economic quantities of oil. Glori believes this strategy 
will enable it to further demonstrate the efficacy of its AERO System while allowing it to capture the increase in revenues and ultimate recovery. Often these mature fields have not 
been fully exploited and have not been exposed to enhanced oil recovery technologies.  
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•  Review field characteristics data; 
•  Perform a geological suitability analysis of the target structure; 
•  Collect samples from targeted wells; 
•  Conduct geochemical characterization of oil and water; 
•  Determine the presence of indigenous microbes in the reservoir fluids. 
•  Incubate and study indigenous microbes; and 
•  Develop an optimal nutrient package for field application including any needed modifications to the field injection water. 
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Additionally, by owning its own oil properties Glori will be able to manage the implementation of the AERO System in a controlled environment and accelerate the industry adoption 
of the technology. Glori has assembled a team of oil industry professionals with extensive experience in all facets of acquiring and managing oil properties. Glori is seeking and 
evaluating acquisitions that fit its criteria for the AERO System. These fields are mature active waterdrive or waterflood fields, or assets with clear waterflood potential, sandstone 
reservoirs with good permeability and are located onshore in the United States. Glori’s acquisition team is developing a “pipeline” of potential acquisitions, both through direct private 
negotiations as well as the public bid process.  
 
The AERO System and the efficiency it brings to oil production is central to the future of the combined business, as it gives Glori its competitive advantage in the field of enhanced oil 
recovery. As a result, Glori has taken steps to protect the underlying intellectual property.  
   
The AERO System is based on intellectual property and know-how developed by Statoil (a multinational Norwegian company), and has been further developed and expanded through a 
collaboration agreement by Statoil and Glori scientists and engineers. Glori’s access to this underlying intellectual property includes access to certain key U.S. patents granted by a 
technology cooperation agreement with Statoil, dated April 11, 2011. This agreement gives Glori perpetual, irrevocable, royalty free licenses to U.S. patent 5,163,510 (Method of 
microbial enhanced oil recovery, issued 11/17/1992, expiration date 2/21/2011), U.S. patent 6,546,962 (Introduction of air into injection water, issued 4/15/2003, expected expiration 
7/7/2020), and U.S. patent 7,124,817 (Method of treating a hydrocarbon bearing formation, issued 10/24/2006, expiration 11/3/2020). Glori holds three U.S. patents, US Patent 
7,681,638 (Wellbore treatment for reducing wax deposits, expiration 6/12/2028), US Patent 8,783,345 (Microbial enhanced oil recovery delivery systems and methods, issued 
7/22/2014, expected expiration in 2032), and US Patent 8,826,975 (Systems and methods of microbial enhanced oil recovery, issued 9/9/2014, expected expiration in 2032). US Patent 
8,826,975 affords key intellectual property coverage for Glori’s AERO technology and effectively extends both the scope and coverage time of certain of the Statoil patents. In 
addition, Glori has filed two active U.S. patent applications, including U.S. Appl. No. 13/826827 (Ultra Low Concentration Surfactant Flooding, filed 3/14/13) and U.S. Appl. No. 
13/827639 (Optimizing Enhanced Oil Recovery by the Use of Oil Tracers, filed 3/14/13).  
 
Glori’s Properties  
 
The following is a description of the meanings of some of the oil and gas industry terms used in Glori's Properties section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and throughout the 
remainder of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

   
In the fourth quarter of 2010, Glori acquired the North Etzold field, an oil field in Kansas, and in September 2012 Glori acquired the contiguous South Etzold field. The Etzold field is 
located in Seward County, Kansas and includes total acreage of 760 acres with an average Working Interest (as defined below) percentage of 100%. Current net production is 
approximately 10 Bbl per day. "Working Interest" means the right granted to the lessee of a property to explore for and to produce and own natural gas or other minerals. The Working 
Interest owners bear the exploration, development, and operating costs on either a cash, penalty or carried basis.  
 
On March 14, 2014, Glori Energy Production Inc. closed the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets for a purchase price of approximately $40 million as described in detail in NOTE 4 in 
item 15 to part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In September 2014,  Glori acquired three additional leases at Coke Field from a private seller for $2 million. For the month 
ended December 2014, the average net daily production associated with the Coke Field Assets was 505 Boe per day (approximately 99% oil and 1% natural gas). The Coke Field 
Assets are located in the East Texas basin in Wood County, Texas and include total acreage of 2,446, and have an average Working Interest percentage of 98.7% (the average of 
producing well Working Interest).  
   
The Coke Field Assets are comprised of the majority of the Coke Field along with three leases in the Quitman Field. All leases are operated by the Company. The Coke Field is a salt 
dome structure discovered in 1942.  
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Bbl     Barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons. One barrel is 42 gallons of liquid volume.  

Boe     Barrel of oil equivalent, determined by using the ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of oil.  

MBbls     Thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.  

Mcf     Thousand cubic feet of natural gas.  

MBoe     Thousand barrels of oil equivalent, determined by using the ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of oil.  

Mmcf     Million cubic feet of natural gas.  
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The primary oil producing zone has been the upper Paluxy formation at about 6,300 ft. which has a natural water drive. Glori became the operator of the Coke Field Assets on March 
14, 2014. Glori’s Working Interest is 100% in all the Paluxy wells. The Sub-Clarksville formation occurs at about 4,100 ft and a unit has been formed across the whole field. Glori’s 
Working Interest in the Sub-Clarksville unit is 87.82%. Glori’s Working Interest is 100% in the three Quitman Field leases.  
    
How Glori Evaluates Its Operations  
   
Glori uses a variety of financial and operational metrics to assess the performance of its oil operations, including:  
   

 
Oil and Natural Gas Production Volumes, Prices and Production Costs  
   
Glori’ s oil and natural gas production data presented below is based on the proved reserve reports as of January 1, 2013, 2014 and 2015 by William M. Cobb & Associates, Inc. for the 
Coke Field Assets and Collarini Associates for the Etzold field. Copies of the January 1, 2015 proved reserve reports prepared with respect to these properties are included as exhibits 
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
The following table sets forth our production volumes, net production prices and production costs of oil and natural gas produced by Glori for the years ended December 31, 2012, 
2013 and 2014:    

 (1) Assumes a ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gas per barrel of oil.  
   
Over time, production from a given well or formation decreases. Growth in Glori’s future production and reserves will depend on its ability to implement the AERO System and to 
continue to add proved reserves in excess of its production. Accordingly, one of Glori’s key focuses is on adding reserves through acquisitions. Glori’s ability to add reserves through 
development projects and acquisitions is dependent on many factors, including its ability to borrow or raise capital, obtain regulatory approvals, procure necessary equipment, 
materials, and personnel and successfully identify and consummate acquisitions. Please read “Risk Factors— Risks Related to our Business” in Item 1A in this Form 10K for a 
discussion of these and other risks affecting Glori’s proved reserves and production.  
 
Drilling and Other Exploratory and Development Activities  
   
Productive wells are producing wells plus other wells mechanically capable of production. As of December 31, 2014, Glori had 29 total gross and net productive wells. During 2012 
and 2013, there was one productive well drilled at the Etzold Field and no exploratory wells drilled.  
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•  production volumes; 
•  realized prices on the sale of oil; 
•  lease operating expenses; and 
•  operating cash flow 

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Production data:                 

Oil (MBbls)  5     6     133  
Natural Gas (MMcf)  —    —    72  

Total (MBoe) (1)  5     6     145  

Average sales price per Bbl/Mcf:                 

Oil  $ 87     $ 92     $ 87  
Natural gas  —    —    $ 2.43  

Average production costs per Boe:                 

Lease operating expense  $ 96     $ 69     $ 46  
Production taxes  4     4     4  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  19     28     27  
Impairment  $ —    $ 348     $ 91  
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Delivery Commitments  
   
Glori does not have any long-term commitments to provide a fixed and determinable quantity of oil under existing contracts or agreements.  
 
Third Party Commitments  
 
Subsequent to the purchase of the Coke Field, Glori hired a third party broker to secure a new first purchaser that would yield the highest price per barrel. Effective July 1, 2014, Glori 
entered into an agreement to sell all net oil production from its Coke Field Assets to a new third-party oil purchaser secured by this broker. Pursuant to this agreement, Glori owes the 
third party broker a 50% commission on the sales price difference between the two purchasers for one year. The new first purchaser agreement came into effect on August 1, 2014 
through August 31, 2014 and continued month to month thereafter.  
 
Oil and Natural Gas Data  
   
Proved Reserves  
   
Evaluation and Review of Proved Reserves.  Glori has retained William M. Cobb and Associates, Inc., independent petroleum engineers, to provide an estimate of proved reserves for 
the Coke Field Assets as of January 1, 2014 and 2015 and Collarini Associates, independent petroleum engineers, to provide an estimate of proved reserves at the Etzold property as of 
January 1, 2013, 2014 and 2015.  
 
Neither Collarini Associates nor William M. Cobb and Associates, Inc. own interests in any of Glori’s properties, nor are they employed by Glori on a contingent basis. A copy of the 
independent petroleum engineering firms’ proved reserve reports at January 1, 2015 are included as an exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

   
The technical persons responsible for preparing Glori’ s proved reserve estimates meet the requirements with regard to qualifications, independence, objectivity and confidentiality set 
forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.  

   
Glori maintains an internal staff of petroleum engineers and geoscience professionals who work closely with its independent reserve engineers to ensure the integrity, accuracy and 
timeliness of the data used to calculate its proved reserves relating to its assets. Glori’s internal technical team members meet with its independent reserve engineers periodically during 
the period covered by the proved reserve report to discuss the assumptions and methods used in the proved reserve estimation process. Glori provides historical information to its 
independent petroleum engineers for its properties, such as ownership interest, oil and natural gas production, well test data, commodity prices and operating and development costs. 
Mr. Tor Meling, Glori’s Vice President of Reservoir Engineering, is primarily responsible for overseeing the preparation of all of Glori’s reserve estimates. Mr. Meling is a petroleum 
engineer with over 25 years of reservoir and operations experience, and Glori’s geoscience staff has an average of approximately 30 years of energy industry experience per person.  
   
The preparation of Glori’s proved reserve estimates are completed in accordance with its internal control procedures. These procedures, which are intended to ensure reliability of 
reserve estimations, include the following:  
   

 
Estimation of Proved Reserves.    Under SEC rules, proved reserves are those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated 
with reasonable certainty to be economically producible—from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and 
government regulations—prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether 
deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. If deterministic methods are used, the SEC has defined reasonable certainty for proved reserves as a “high degree of 
confidence that the quantities will be recovered.”  
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•  review and verification of historical production data, which data is based on actual production as reported by Petro-Hunt L.L.C. (the prior owner and operator of the Coke Field 
Assets);  

•  preparation of reserve estimates by Mr. Meling or under his direct supervision; 
•  review by Glori’s Chief Executive Officer of all of its reported proved reserves at the close of each quarter, including the review of all significant reserve changes and new PUDs 

additions, if any;  
•  direct reporting responsibilities by Mr. Meling to Glori’s Chief Executive Officer; and 
•  verification of property ownership by competent legal counsel or individuals under counsel’s direct supervision prior to an acquisition. 
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All of Glori’s proved reserves as of December 31, 2014 were estimated using a deterministic method. The estimation of reserves involves two distinct determinations.  
 
The first determination results in the estimation of the quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas and the second determination results in the estimation of the uncertainty associated 
with those estimated quantities in accordance with the definitions established under SEC rules. The process of estimating the quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves relies 
on the use of certain generally accepted analytical procedures. These analytical procedures fall into four broad categories or methods: (i) production performance-based methods; 
(ii) material balance-based methods; (iii) volumetric-based methods; and (iv) analogy. These methods may be used singularly or in combination by the reserve evaluator in the process 
of estimating the quantities of reserves. Reserves for proved developed producing ("PDP") wells were estimated using production performance methods for the vast majority of 
properties. Certain new producing properties with very little production history were forecast using a combination of production performance and analogy to similar production, both of 
which are considered to provide a relatively high degree of accuracy. Non-producing reserve estimates, for developed and undeveloped properties, were forecast using either volumetric 
or analogy methods, or a combination of both. These methods provide a relatively high degree of accuracy for predicting proved developed non-producing and PUDs for Glori’s 
properties, due to the mature nature of the properties targeted for development and an abundance of subsurface control data.  

   
To estimate economically recoverable proved reserves and related future net cash flows, Collarini Associates and William M. Cobb and Associates, Inc. considered many factors and 
assumptions, including the use of reservoir parameters derived from geological, geophysical and engineering data which cannot be measured directly, economic criteria based on 
current costs and the SEC pricing requirements and forecasts of future production rates.  
   
Under SEC rules, reasonable certainty can be established using techniques that have been proven effective by actual production from projects in the same reservoir or an analogous 
reservoir or by other evidence using reliable technology that establishes reasonable certainty. Reliable technology is a grouping of one or more technologies (including computational 
methods) that has been field tested and has been demonstrated to provide reasonably certain results with consistency and repeatability in the formation being evaluated or in an 
analogous formation. To establish reasonable certainty with respect to our estimated proved reserves, the technologies and economic data used in the estimation of our proved reserves 
have been demonstrated to yield results with consistency and repeatability, and include production and well test data, downhole completion information, geologic data, electrical logs, 
radioactivity logs, core analyses, available seismic data and historical well cost and operating expense data.  
   
Summary of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves.       

   
The following table presents Glori’s proved oil and natural gas reserves as of December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 based on the proved reserve reports as of January 1, 2013, 2014 and 
2015 by William M. Cobb & Associates Inc., Glori's independent petroleum engineering firm for the Coke Field Asses and Collarini Associates, Glori’s independent petroleum 
engineering firm for the Etzold field. All of Glori’s proved reserves are located in the United States. Glori’s estimates of net proved reserves have not been filed with or included in 
reports to any federal authority or agency other than the SEC in connection with this offering. Future exploration, exploitation and development expenditures, as well as future 
commodity prices and service costs, will affect the reserve volumes attributable to the acquired properties. The reserve estimates shown below were determined using a 12-month 
average price for oil and natural gas for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014.  

(1) Assumes a ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gas per barrel of oil.  
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   December 31,  

   2013     2014  

Estimated Proved Reserves:           
Oil (MBbls)  18     1,402  
Natural Gas (MMcf)  —    54  

Total (MBoe) (1)  18     1,411  
Estimated Proved Developed Reserves:           
Oil (MBbls)  18     1,402  
Natural Gas (MMcf)  —    54  

Total (MBoe) (1)  18     1,411  
Estimated Proved Undeveloped Reserves:           
Oil (MBbls)  —    — 
Natural Gas (MMcf)  —    — 

Total (MBoe) (1)  —    — 
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The changes from December 31, 2013 estimated proved reserves to December 31, 2014 estimated proved reserves reflect production during this period of approximately 145 MBoe. 
The increase in proved developed reserves is due to the purchase of the Coke Field Assets of approximately 1,792 MBoe. The change also includes the downward revision of PDP 
reserves due to an increase in costs incurred over our prior year reserve report.  
 
Reserve engineering is and must be recognized as a subjective process of estimating volumes of economically recoverable oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in an exact 
manner. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation. As a result, the estimates of different 
engineers often vary. In addition, the results of drilling, testing and production may justify revisions of such estimates. Accordingly, reserve estimates often differ from the quantities of 
oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered. Estimates of economically recoverable oil and natural gas and of future net revenues are based on a number of variables and 
assumptions, all of which may vary from actual results, including geologic interpretation, prices and future production rates and costs. For risks associated with proved reserves see 
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additional information regarding our proved reserves can be found in the notes to Glori’s financial statements included 
in Item 15 to Part IV of this Form 10-K and the proved reserve reports as of January 1, 2015, which are included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Oil & Gas Properties, Wells, Operations, and Acreage  
 
Productive wells consist of producing wells and wells capable of production, including natural gas wells awaiting pipeline connections to commence deliveries and oil wells awaiting 
connection to production facilities. Gross wells are the total number of producing wells in which Glori has a Working Interest, and net wells are the sum of its fractional Working 
Interests owned in gross wells. As of December 31, 2014, Glori owned an average 99.2% Working Interest in 29 gross and 28.8 net productive wells.  
 
Coke Field Assets  

   
On March 14, 2014, Glori Energy Production, a newly created subsidiary of Glori Holdings Inc., a subsidiary of the Company, acquir ed certain oil, gas and mineral leases in Wood 
County Texas (the “Coke Field Acquisition”). In September 2014, we closed on the acquisition of a 74.8% net revenue interest in three producing leases and approximately 136.5 gross 
acres at the Coke Field from a private seller for $2 million. The leases contain two wells which had an initial production rate at acquisition of 27 barrels net of oil per day and one water 
injection well.  

   

Etzold  
   

We acquired a 100% Working Interest in the Etzold Field in October 2010, with our leasehold position located in Seward County, Kansas. We held approximately 760 gross (760 net) 
acres as of December 31, 2014, all of which are developed and either producing from or prospective for the Etzold Field.  
 
Other  
 
We paid out lease bonuses during 2014 in Texas in the amount of approximately $200,000 for the prospective rights to mineral operations consisting of 1,068 gross acres.  
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Gross, Developed and Undeveloped Acreage  
   
The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2014 relating to Glori’s gross, developed and undeveloped leasehold acreage:  

   

 

 
The Coke Field  
   
On March 14, 2014, Glori Energy Production Inc. closed the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets for a purchase price of approximately $40 million as described in detail in NOTE 4 in 
Item 15 in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Coke Field Assets are in the East Texas Basin, located in Wood County, Texas, and include an average Working Interest 
percentage of 98.7% (average of Producing well Working Interest). As of January 1, 2015, the net proved developed producing oil and natural gas reserves associated with the Coke 
Field Assets based upon estimates provided by William M. Cobb & Associates, Inc. were 1,396 MBoe (approximately 99% oil and 1% natural gas). For December 2014 the average net 
daily production associated with the Coke Field Assets was 505 Boe per day (approximately 99% oil and 1% natural gas).  

   
The Coke Field Assets are comprised of the majority of the Coke Field along with three leases in the Quitman Field. All leases are operated by Glori as of March 14, 2014. The Coke 
Field is a salt dome structure discovered in 1942. The primary oil producing zone has been the upper Paluxy formation at about 6,300 ft. which has a natural water drive. Glori’s 
Working Interest is 100% in all the Paluxy wells. The Sub-Clarksville formation occurs at about 4,100 ft and a unit has been formed across the whole field. Glori’s Working Interest in 
the Sub-Clarksville unit is 87.82%. Glori’s Working Interest is 100% in the three Quitman Field leases.  
   
The Etzold Field  
   
In the fourth quarter of 2010, Glori acquired the North Etzold field, a non-producing oil field in Seward County, Kansas as a greenfield lab for our AERO technology science team. 
This oil field has served as a controlled environment to implement revisions in technology and surface systems to accelerate development and adoption of Glori’s AERO System 
technology. Collarini Associates, one of Glori’s independent petroleum engineering firms, has estimated that as of January 1, 2015, proved reserves net to Glori’s interest in its property 
was approximately 15 MBoe, all of which were classified as PDP.  
   
At December 31, 2014, the Etzold property was being assessed for long-term economic viability, with specific attention to reducing direct operating expenses primarily by continuing 
the initiative commenced in the second quarter of 2014 to reducing the number of wells being operated. These considerations included historical direct operating expenses and 
production history of each producing well. As a result of this effort, the direct production costs for the property have been reduced from approximately $76 per barrel in 2013 to 
approximately $56 per barrel in 2014, primarily due to significantly reduced electricity use as many of our previously uneconomic well were shut in. Etzold continued its intended role 
of providing a controlled environment for AERO implementation strategies, especially with respect to the quality of water used in the injection process.  
   
As of December 31, 2014, no wells were in the process of being drilled (including wells temporarily suspended), and no waterfloods were in process of being installed.  
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   Developed Acreage (1)     Undeveloped Acreage (2)     Total Acreage  

   Gross (3)     Net (4)     Gross (3)     Net (4)     Gross (3)     Net (4)  

Etzold Field  760     760     —    —    760     760  
Coke Field  2,667     2,587     —    —    2,667     2,587  
Other  —    —    1,068     488     1,068     488  

Total  3,427     3,347     1,068     488     4,495     3,835  

(1)  Developed acres are acres spaced or assigned to productive wells and does not include undrilled acreage held by production under the terms of the lease. Developed acres are 
determined on surface acres.  

(2)  Undeveloped acres are acres on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas, 
regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves.  

(3)  A gross acre is an acre in which a Working Interest is owned. The number of gross acres is the total number of acres in which a Working Interest is owned. 
(4)  A net acre is deemed to exist when the sum of the fractional ownership Working Interests in gross acres equals one. 
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Title to Properties  

   
Prior to completing an acquisition of producing oil and natural gas leases, Glori performs title reviews on the most significant leases and, depending on the materiality of properties, it 
may obtain a title opinion, obtain an updated title review or opinion or review previously obtained title opinions. Glori’s oil and natural gas properties are subject to customary royalty 
and other interests, liens for current taxes and other burdens which it believes do not materially interfere with the use of or affect its carrying value of the properties.  

   
Glori believes that it has satisfactory title to all of its material assets. Although title to these properties is or may be subject to encumbrances in some cases, such as customary interests 
generally retained in connection with the acquisition of real property, customary royalty interests and contract terms and restrictions, liens under operating agreements, liens related to 
environmental liabilities associated with historical operations, liens for current taxes and other burdens, easements, restrictions and minor encumbrances customary in the oil and 
natural gas industry, Glori believes that none of these liens, restrictions, easements, burdens and encumbrances will materially detract from the value of these properties or from its 
interest in these properties or materially interfere with its use of these properties in the operation of its business. In addition, Glori believes that it has obtained sufficient rights-of-way 
grants and permits from public authorities and private parties for it to operate its business in all material respects as described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Facilities  
   
Glori’ s leases its headquarters in Houston, Texas, which comprises approximately 7,800 square feet and is leased through September 2016. Glori also leases its laboratory and 
warehouse facility which comprises approximately 17,000 square feet and is leased through May 2017. Glori believes its current facilities are adequate for its current needs and for the 
foreseeable future.  
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors  
   
Risk Factors Relating to our Business  
   
Our business is difficult to evaluate due to its limited operating history.  
   
Since our inception in November 2005, the majority of our resources have been dedicated to our research development and testing efforts, and we have only recently begun to transition 
into the early stages of (i) commercializing the AERO System and (ii) acquiring, restoring and operating mature oil fields that fit our criteria for the AERO System. In addition, we do 
not have a stable operating history that you can rely on in connection with your evaluation of our current business and future business prospects. Our business and prospects must be 
carefully considered in light of the limited history of the AERO System and our acquisition of mature oil fields, and the many business risks, uncertainties and difficulties that are 
typically encountered by companies that have uncertain revenues and are committed to focusing on research, development and technology testing for an indeterminate period of time.  
   
Our proposed business strategies described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporate our management’ s current analysis of potential markets, opportunities and 
difficulties that we face.  
 
We cannot assure you that our underlying assumptions accurately reflect current trends and conditions in our industry that the AERO System will be successful or that we will be able 
to profitably operate any oil fields that we acquire. Our business strategies may change substantially from time to time or may be abandoned as our management reassesses 
opportunities and reallocates resources. If we are unable to develop or implement these strategies, or if the AERO System becomes not economically viable, we may never achieve 
profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we cannot predict the level of such profitability, and it may not be sustainable.  
   
We have incurred substantial losses to date, may continue to incur losses in the future and may never achieve or sustain profitability.  
   
We have incurred substantial net losses since inception, including net losses of $11.9 million, $10.6 million and $18.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 
respectively, and these losses may continue. As of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $64.1million. We expect to incur additional costs and expenses related to the 
continued development and expansion of our business, including our research and development operations, the commercialization of the AERO System and the acquisition, restoration 
and operation of additional mature oil fields. Our ability to achieve profitability depends on our success in increasing industry acceptance of the AERO System and the completion and 
successful integration of oil property acquisitions. There can be no assurance that we will achieve profitability.  
 

14  



Table of Contents  
 
   
The AERO System has only been applied to a limited number of reservoirs, and the viability of the AERO System in a broader range of reservoirs is still uncertain.  
   
Our AERO System has only been applied in a limited number of sandstone reservoirs to date. The future success of our business depends on our ability (i) to demonstrate that the 
AERO System has the ability to increase oil recovery on a more widespread basis, on a larger scale and on attractive economic terms and (ii) to profitably restore and operate any oil 
fields we may acquire. Reservoir characteristics differ and, consequently, certain elements of our services are specifically engineered for each reservoir. As a result, we may not be able 
to achieve results in other reservoirs consistent with those we have thus far achieved in the reservoirs where the AERO System has successfully been applied. For example, as discussed 
in detail below, in 2010, we acquired a non-producing oil field in Kansas known as the North Etzold field, which was to be used primarily as a field laboratory for the AERO System. 
The North Etzold field consisted of 14 shut-in wells which had been stripped of wellbore tubulars, artificial lift equipment and the associated oil and water processing and storage 
facilities. While the Phase 1 Recompletion resulted in a 45% increase in the daily production rate from the primary production well after implementation of the AERO System, the 
Phase 2 Recompletion, which was done simultaneously with the implementation of the AERO System, did not result in oil production sufficient to cover the direct production costs. 
Consequently, implementation of the AERO System could yield less favorable oil production rates and overall oil recovery results than those thus far achieved where the AERO 
System has successfully been applied.  
 
The AERO System may not be commercially viable in marginally producing wells if the base and incremental production does not support the cost of operating such wells. 
Accordingly, the incremental oil associated with implementation of the AERO System will also continue only as long as oil can continue to be produced economically. Any inability to 
broaden our customer base and increase commercialization of the AERO System applications effectively or to realize sufficiently favorable oil recovery results in a significant number 
of other reservoirs, including those we may acquire, will limit the commercial acceptance and viability of the AERO System, which would materially harm our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  
   
The success of the AERO System is dependent upon the information we receive.  
   
The success of an application of the AERO System to a particular reservoir is dependent upon information that we receive regarding the reservoir characteristics and geology. If this 
information is inaccurate, we may not be able to achieve results in such a reservoir consistent with those we have thus far achieved in the reservoirs where the AERO System has been 
applied successfully. With respect to our customers, because of the uniqueness of our technology and the early stage of its development, we must educate potential customers on our 
technology in order to be able to generate business. New customers generally prefer to initially test our technology in a small portion of their lowest-priority oil field.  
 
Since our test only includes a small portion of the injection wells and production wells in the oil field, it is important that the customer be able to identify which injection wells are 
servicing the production wells in the test area. For example, on a recent project one of the customer’s production wells was subsequently determined to be outside of the sand-body 
structure, and therefore not directly connected to the reservoir, so any waterflooding or application of the AERO System could not be effective for that production well since water 
could not flow from the injection well to the production well.  
   
We may have difficulties gaining market acceptance and successfully marketing the AERO System to our potential customers.  
   
A primary component of our business strategy is to market the AERO System to oil producers. To gain market acceptance and successfully market the AERO System to oil producers, 
we must effectively demonstrate the commercial advantages of using the AERO System as an alternative to, or in addition to, other enhanced oil recovery methods. We must prove that 
the AERO System is a cost effective method of significantly increasing the amount of oil that can be recovered from a reservoir. If we are unable to demonstrate this to oil producers, 
we will not be able to penetrate this market, generate new business or retain existing customers. In addition, until the efficacy of our technology is more widely demonstrated we are 
likely to experience long sales cycles and long test cycles, which may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Our revenue to date has been derived from a limited number of customers, and the loss of any of these customers could materially harm our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  
   
We have a limited number of customers. For the year ended December 31, 2014, all of our service revenue was generated from 15 customers. If any of these customers terminates or 
significantly reduces its business with us, or if we fail to generate new business, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed. However, we 
intend to mitigate this risk by continuing to diversify our revenue stream by acquiring, restoring and operating mature oil fields that fit our criteria for the AERO System.  
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Oil prices are volatile, and a decline in the price of oil could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Our results of operations and future growth will depend on the level of activity for oil development and production. Demand for the AERO System depends on our customers’
willingness to make operating and capital expenditures for waterflooding procedures and the AERO System. Our business will suffer if these expenditures decline. The recent decline 
in oil prices and the uncertainty about future oil prices may adversely affect the prices we can obtain from our customers or prevent us from obtaining new customers for our services. 
The decline in oil prices will result in a decrease in revenues from the Coke Field and from other oil fields we acquire and make it more difficult to acquire other oil fields. Our 
customers’ willingness to develop and produce oil using waterflooding and the AERO System is highly dependent on prevailing market conditions and oil prices that are influenced by 
numerous factors over which we have no control, including:  

   

 
Oil prices have historically been volatile and cyclical. A prolonged reduction in the price of oil will likely affect oil production levels and therefore affect demand for our services. In 
addition, a prolonged significant reduction in the price of oil could make it more difficult for us to collect outstanding account receivables from our customers. A material decline in oil 
prices or oil development or production activity levels could materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Oil fields, once acquired, may not be appropriate for our purposes or may have environmental or other liabilities associated with them that may negatively affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
In addition to marketing the AERO System, we intend to acquire mature fields and implement the AERO System. We cannot assure you that the oil fields we acquire will result in 
commercially viable projects.  
 
The potential of a given property to continue to produce oil or resume production of oil and to be adaptable to the AERO System cannot be determined with a high level of precision 
prior to our acquisition of the property. We will continue to perform due diligence reviews of the properties we seek to acquire in a manner that we believe is both consistent with 
practices in the industry and necessary to determine the characteristics of such properties and the viability of the oil fields for the application of the AERO System. However, these 
reviews are inherently incomplete and cannot assure us of the quality of the oil fields or of the likelihood of success of the AERO System in enhancing their production of oil. It is 
generally not possible for us to test a property or conduct an in-depth review of its related records as part of its acquisition. Even if we are able to complete an in-depth review and 
sampling of these properties, such a review may not reveal existing or potential problems or permit us to become sufficiently familiar with the properties to fully assess their potential 
for successful application of the AERO System.  
   
Even when problems are identified, it may be necessary for us to assume known or unknown environmental and other risks and liabilities to complete the acquisition of such properties. 
In addition, since the properties we are targeting are older, mature oil fields, their existing infrastructure may be out of date, damaged, in need of repair or removed, and we could incur 
unanticipated costs to repair or replace this infrastructure. The discovery of any unanticipated material liabilities or remediation costs or the incurrence of any unanticipated costs 
associated with our oil field acquisitions could harm our results of operations and financial condition.  
   
If water that is not toxic to microbes is not available at a well site, the AERO System will not work or will require additional costs either to clean the water or bring in non-
toxic water to the AERO System to perform correctly and, therefore, may not be a viable option for some oil fields.  
   
The AERO System requires non-toxic water to support microbial activity in the reservoir. The water used in waterflooding does not have to be potable water, but if suitable water is not 
being used, the AERO System will not work unless additional costs are expended to clean the water or to bring in water that is non-toxic. These additional costs may make the AERO 
System less cost effective or not cost effective for some oil fields. For example, in a recent implementation of the AERO System, the salinity of the produced water used in the 
waterflood operations was very high, making it toxic to most microbes.  
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•  changes in the supply of or the demand for oil; 
•  the condition of the United States and worldwide economies; 
•  market uncertainty; 
•  the level of consumer product demand; 
•  the actions taken by foreign oil producing nations; 
•  domestic and foreign governmental regulation and taxes; 
•  political conditions or hostilities in oil producing nations; 
•  the price and availability of alternate fuel sources; 
•  terrorism; and 
•  the availability of pipeline or other takeaway capacity. 
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While our customer began using water from an existing nearby water well to provide a better environment for the microbes, which made the AERO System more effective, we may not 
be able to provide non-toxic water to some oil fields, eliminating these oil fields as candidates for the AERO System.  
 
The AERO System is currently usable only in oil reservoirs with specific characteristics, which limits the potential market for our services.  
   
For an oil reservoir to be suitable for the AERO System, the reservoir must be waterflooded or a candidate for waterflooding, must be composed of sandstone, must have permeability 
greater than 75 milli-darcies and must have a suitable water source. This limits the potential market for our services, which may negatively impact our results of operations and 
profitability.  
   
Our operations involve operating hazards, which, if not insured or indemnified against, could harm our results of operations and financial condition.  
   
Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in our technology, including exposure to pressurized air that may be used in the AERO System equipment and pressurized fluids that may 
be associated with the water injection system, and to hazards typically associated with oil field service operations, oil field development and oil production activities, including fire, 
explosions, blowouts, spills and damage or loss from natural disasters, each of which could result in substantial damage to the oil producing formations and oil wells, production 
facilities, other property, equipment and the environment or in personal injury or loss of life.  
 
These hazards could also result in the suspension of operations or in claims by employees, customers or third parties which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition. Operations also may be suspended because of equipment breakdowns and failure of subcontractors to perform or supply goods or services.  
   
Some of these risks are either not insurable or insurance is available only at rates that we consider uneconomical. Although we will maintain liability insurance in an amount that we 
consider consistent with industry practice, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities could exceed policy limits. We may not always be successful in obtaining contractual 
indemnification from our customers, and customers who provide contractual indemnification protection may not maintain adequate insurance or otherwise have the financial resources 
necessary to support their indemnification obligations. Our insurance or indemnification arrangements may not adequately protect it against liability or loss from all the hazards of our 
operations. The occurrence of a significant event that we have not fully insured or indemnified against or the failure of a customer to meet its indemnification obligations to us could 
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.  
   
Our operations involve risks associated with the sale and distribution of crude oil.  
   
The sale of our crude oil production (if any) depends on a number of factors beyond our control, including the availability, proximity and capacity of, and costs associated with, 
gathering, processing, compression and transportation facilities owned by third parties. In addition, lack of financing, construction and permitting delays, permitting costs and other 
constraints could limit or delay the construction of new gathering, processing, compression and transportation facilities by third parties or us, and we may experience delays or 
increased costs in accessing the pipelines, gathering systems or rail systems necessary to transport our production to points of sale or delivery. Any significant change in market or other 
conditions affecting gathering, processing, or transportation facilities or the availability of these facilities, including due to our failure or inability to obtain access to these facilities on 
terms acceptable to it or at all, could materially and adversely affect our business and, in turn, our financial condition and results of operations.  
   
A portion of our oil production in any region may be interrupted, or shut in, from time to time for numerous reasons, including as a result of weather conditions, accidents, loss of 
pipeline or gathering system access, field labor issues or strikes, or capital constraints that limit the ability of third parties to construct gathering systems, processing facilities, or 
interstate pipelines to transport our production, or we might voluntarily curtail production in response to market conditions. If a substantial amount of our production is interrupted at 
the same time, it could temporarily adversely affect our cash flows.  
   
Our hedging activities may prevent the realization of the full benefits of price increases.  
   
To the extent that we engage in commodity-price-risk management activities to protect our cash flows from commodity price declines, we may be prevented from realizing the full 
benefits of price increases above the levels of the derivative instruments used to manage price risk.  
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In addition, our commodity-price-risk management may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including instances in which: i) our production is less than the 
hedged volumes, ii) there is a widening of price basis differentials between delivery points for our production and the delivery point assumed in the hedge arrangement, iii) the 
counterparties to our hedging or other price-risk management contracts fail to perform under those arrangements or iv) a sudden unexpected event materially impacts oil prices.  
   
We periodically enter into or may enter into hedging activities with respect to a portion of our production to manage our exposure to oil, gas and natural gas liquids price volatility. To 
the extent that we engage in price risk management activities as protection from commodity price declines, we may be prevented from fully realizing the benefits of commodity price 
increases above the prices established by our hedging contracts. In addition, our hedging arrangements may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including 
instances in which the counterparties to our hedging contracts fail to perform under the contracts.  
   
The loss of key personnel or the failure to attract and retain highly qualified personnel could compromise our ability to effectively manage our business and pursue our 
growth strategy.  
   
Our future performance depends on the continued service of our key technical, development, sales, services and management personnel. In particular, we are heavily dependent on the 
following key employees: Stuart M. Page, President and Chief Executive Officer, Michael Pavia, Chief Technology Officer, Thomas Holland, Senior Vice President of Production, Ken 
Nimitz, Senior Vice President of Operations, and Victor M. Perez, Chief Financial Officer. The loss of key employees could result in significant disruptions to our business, and the 
integration of replacement personnel could be costly and time consuming, could cause additional disruptions to our business and could be unsuccessful. We do not carry key person life 
insurance covering any of our employees.  
   
Our future success also depends on the continued ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical, development, sales, services and management personnel. A significant increase 
in the wages paid by competing employers could reduce our skilled labor force and increase the wages that we must pay to motivate, retain or recruit skilled employees.  
   
In addition, wage inflation and the cost of retaining our key personnel in the face of competition for such personnel may increase our costs faster than we can offset these costs with 
increased prices or increased sales of the AERO System.  
   
We may require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals and to make future acquisitions, and a failure to obtain this capital when needed or on acceptable terms 
could materially affect our growth rate and force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our research and development and commercialization efforts.  
   
Since our inception, most of our resources have been dedicated toward research and development, as well as demonstrating the effectiveness of the AERO System in our labs and in the 
field. We also intend to expend substantial resources for the foreseeable future on further developing the AERO System and also we intend to expend significant resources on the 
acquisition and operation of additional mature oil fields to continue to test and demonstrate the AERO System in reservoirs with a variety of characteristics. We cannot assure you that 
debt or equity financing will be available or sufficient to meet our requirements. Our inability to access sufficient amounts of capital on acceptable terms, or at all, for our operations 
could materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate in the future.  
   
Our financial condition and operating results have varied significantly in the past and may continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year in the future due to a variety of 
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Factors relating to our business that may contribute to these fluctuations are described elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
Accordingly, the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future operating performance.  
   
Our industry is highly competitive, and if we do not compete successfully, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be harmed.  
   
The enhanced oil recovery industry is large and intensely competitive. Our competition comes mainly from other methods of enhanced oil recovery, such as thermal injection (for 
example, steam), gas injection (for example, carbon dioxide) and chemical injection into producing properties. There are also other companies developing or planning to commercialize 
microbial technology that is similar to the AERO System or other emerging enhanced oil recovery technologies, including Dupont, Geo Fossil Fuels, LLC, and Titan Oil Recovery, Inc. 
Some of our competitors have longer operating histories, greater recognition in the industry and substantially greater financial and other resources for developing new technologies as 
well as for recruiting and retaining qualified personnel than we do. Their greater financial resources may also make them better able to withstand downturns in the market, expand into 
new areas more aggressively or operate in developing markets without immediate financial returns.  
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Strong competition and significant investments by competitors to develop new and better technology may make it difficult for us to maintain and expand our customer base, force us to 
reduce our prices or increase our costs to develop new technology. Our success will depend on our ability to adapt to these competitive forces, to adapt to technological advances and to 
educate potential customers about the benefits of using our technology rather than our competitors’ technology. Our failure to respond successfully to these competitive challenges 
could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Our industry is characterized by technological change, and if we fail to keep up with these changes, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be 
harmed.  
   
The enhanced oil recovery industry is characterized by changes in technology, evolving methods of oil recovery and emerging competition. Our future business prospects largely 
depend on our ability to anticipate and respond to technological changes and to develop competitive products. If other enhanced oil recovery methods yield better results or are less 
expensive than our method, our business will suffer. We may not be able to respond successfully to new technological developments and challenges or identify and respond to new 
market opportunities, services or products offered by competitors. In addition, our efforts to respond to new methods of oil recovery and competition may require significant capital 
investments and resources, and we may not have the necessary resources to respond to these challenges. Failure to keep up with future technological changes could harm our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  
   
Our acquisition of oil fields will cause us to incur a variety of costs and could face numerous risks that would adversely affect our business and operations.  
   
If appropriate opportunities become available, we may acquire businesses, assets, technologies or products to enhance our business in the future. In connection with any future 
acquisitions, we could:  

   

 
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including problems integrating the purchased operations, technologies or products, unanticipated costs and other liabilities, diversion of 
management’s attention from our core business, adverse effects on existing business relationships with current and/or prospective partners, customers and/or suppliers, risks associated 
with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and potential loss of key employees.  
 
We may not be able to successfully integrate any businesses, assets, products, technologies or personnel that we might acquire in the future without a significant expenditure of 
operating, financial and management resources, if at all. The integration process could divert management time from focusing on operating our business, result in a decline in employee 
morale and cause retention issues to arise from changes in compensation, reporting relationships, future prospects or the direction of the business. Acquisitions may also require us to 
record goodwill (a non-amortizable intangible assets that will be subject to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges) incur amortization 
expenses related to certain intangible assets and incur large and immediate write-offs and restructuring and other related expenses, all of which could harm our operating results and 
financial condition. In addition, we may acquire companies that have insufficient internal financial controls, which could impair our ability to integrate the acquired company and 
adversely impact our financial reporting. If we fail in our integration efforts with respect to any of our acquisitions and are unable to efficiently operate as a combined organization, our 
business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially harmed.  
   
If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business could be harmed.  
   
If the AERO System becomes commercially accepted, we may experience rapid growth. Any such growth would likely place significant demands on our management and on our 
operational and financial infrastructure. To manage growth effectively, we would need to, among other things, improve and enhance our managerial, operational and financial controls, 
hire sufficient numbers of capable employees and upgrade our infrastructure. We would also need to manage an increasing number of relationships with our customers, suppliers, 
business partners and other third parties. These activities would require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources. If we fail to maintain the efficiency 
of our organization as it grows, our revenues and profitability may be harmed, and we might be unable to achieve our business objectives.  
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•  incur substantial debt to fund the acquisitions which increase our risk of non-compliance without loan agreements; or 
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Some of our contracts will be governed by non-U.S. law, which may make them more difficult or expensive to enforce than contracts governed by United States law.  
   
We expect that some of our customer contracts will be governed by non-U.S. law, which may create both legal and practical difficulties in case of a dispute or conflict. We plan to 
establish operations in regions where the ability to protect contractual and other legal rights may be limited compared to regions with better-established legal systems. In addition, 
having to pursue litigation in a non-U.S. country may be more difficult or expensive than pursuing litigation in the United States.  
   
Our business operations in countries outside the United States are subject to a number of United States federal laws and regulations, including restrictions imposed by the 
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act as well as trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of Treasury and the United 
States Department of Commerce, which could adversely affect our operations if violated.  
   
We must comply with all applicable export control laws and regulations of the United States and other countries. We cannot provide services to certain countries subject to United 
States trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Asset Control of the United States Department of the Treasury or the United States Department of Commerce unless we 
first obtain the necessary authorizations. In addition, we are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which generally prohibits bribes or unreasonable gifts to non-U.S. 
governments or officials. Violations of these laws or regulations could result in significant additional sanctions including fines, more onerous compliance requirements, more extensive 
debarments from export privileges or loss of authorizations needed to conduct aspects of our international business. In certain countries, we may engage third party agents or 
intermediaries to act on our behalf in dealings with government officials, such as customs agents, and if these third party agents or intermediaries violate applicable laws, their actions 
may result in penalties or sanctions being assessed against us.  
   
Our international operations are subject to additional or different risks than our United States operations.  
   
We intend to expand our AERO System services and operations into a number of countries outside the United States. There are many risks inherent in conducting business 
internationally that are in addition to or different than those affecting our United States operations, including:  

   

 
Operating internationally exposes our business to increased regulatory and political risks in some non-U.S. jurisdictions where it operates. In addition to different laws and regulations, 
changes in governments or changes in governmental policies in these jurisdictions may alter current interpretation of laws and regulations affecting our business. We also face 
increased risk of incidents such as war or other international conflict and nationalization.  
   
Many of the countries in which we plan to operate have legal systems that are less developed and less predictable than legal systems in the United States. It may be difficult for us to 
obtain effective legal redress in the courts of some jurisdictions, whether in respect of a breach of law or regulation, or in an ownership dispute because of: (i) a high degree of 
discretion on the part of governmental authorities, which results in less predictability; (ii) a lack of judicial or administrative guidance on interpreting applicable rules and regulations; 
(iii) inconsistencies or conflicts between or within various laws, regulations, decrees, orders and resolutions; (iv) the relative inexperience of the judiciary and courts in such matters or 
(v) a predisposition in favor of local claimants against United States companies.  
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•  sometimes vague and confusing regulatory requirements that can be subject to unexpected changes or interpretations; 
•  import and export restrictions; 
•  tariffs and other trade barriers; 
•  difficulty in staffing and managing geographically dispersed operations and culturally diverse work forces and increased travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated 

with multiple international locations;  
•  differences in employment laws and practices among different countries, including restrictions on terminating employees; 
•  differing technology standards; 
•  fluctuations in currency exchange rates; 
•  imposition of currency exchange controls; 
•  potential political and economic instability in some regions; 
•  legal and cultural differences in the conduct of business; 
•  less due process and sometimes arbitrary application of laws and sanctions, including criminal charges and arrests; 
•  difficulties in raising awareness of applicable United States laws to our agents and third party intermediaries; 
•  potentially adverse tax consequences; 
•  difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting receivables; 
•  difficulties and expense of maintaining international sales distribution channels; and 
•  difficulties in maintaining and protecting our intellectual property. 
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In certain jurisdictions, the commitment of local business people, government officials and agencies and the judicial system to abide by legal requirements and negotiated agreements 
may be unreliable. In particular, agreements may be susceptible to revision or cancellation and legal redress may be uncertain or time-consuming. Actions of governmental authorities 
or officers may adversely affect joint ventures, licenses, license applications or other legal arrangements, and such arrangements in these jurisdictions may not be effective or enforced.  
   
The authorities in the countries where we operate, or plan to operate, may introduce additional regulations for the oil industry with respect to, but not limited to, various laws governing 
prospecting, development, production, taxes, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, expropriation of property, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, environmental 
legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water use, labor standards, occupational health network access and other matters. New rules and regulations may be enacted or 
existing rules and regulations may be applied or interpreted in a manner which could limit our ability to provide our technology. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing 
operations and activities in the oil and gas industry could harm our operations and financial results.  
   
Compliance with and changes in tax laws or adverse positions taken by taxing authorities could be costly and could affect our operating results. Compliance related tax issues could 
also limit our ability to do business in certain countries. Changes in tax laws or tax rates, the resolution of tax assessments or audits by various taxing authorities, disagreements with 
taxing authorities over our tax positions and the ability to fully utilize our tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits could have a significant financial impact on our future operations and 
the way it conducts, or if it conducts, business in the affected countries.  
   
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.  
   
As of December 31, 2014, we had operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of approximately $51.9 million . In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its NOLs to offset future taxable income. We believe that our issuance of 
series B preferred stock on October 15, 2009 resulted in a Section 382 ownership change limitation. We estimate that approximately $5.4 million of our NOLs will expire early due to 
Section 382 ownership change limitations. In addition, if we undergo an additional ownership change, our ability to utilize NOLs could be further limited by Section 382 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations.  
   
Our loan agreements place financial restrictions and operating restrictions on our business, which may limit our flexibility to respond to opportunities and may harm our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our loan agreements restrict any future financing agreements and could restrict our ability to finance future operations or 
capital needs or to engage, expand or pursue our business activities. For example, these loan agreements restrict our ability to:  

   

 
Our compliance with these provisions may materially adversely affect our ability to react to changes in market conditions, take advantage of business opportunities we believe to be 
desirable, obtain future financing, fund needed capital expenditures, finance acquisitions or withstand a future downturn in our business. In addition, our note purchase agreement 
requires us to maintain specified financial ratios.  

   
Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in these loan agreements may be affected by events beyond our control. The recent decline in oil prices has 
increased the likelihood that we may violate covenants such as maximum leverage and collateral coverage ratios required by our loan agreements. If we violate any of the restrictions or 
covenants in our loan agreements, the indebtedness under the loan agreements may become immediately due and payable. We might not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to 
make these accelerated payments. Even if we could obtain alternative financing, that financing may not be on terms that are favorable or acceptable to us.  
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•  change the nature of our business; 
•  enter into a merger, consolidate or make an investment in other entities; 
•  incur additional indebtedness; 
•  incur liens on the property secured by the loan agreements and our intellectual property; 
•  pay cash dividends; and 
•  sell or dispose of our assets (including sale and leaseback arrangements), including our oil properties. 
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Our estimated proved reserves are based on many assumptions that may turn out to be inaccurate. The actual quantities and present value of our proved reserves may prove 
to be materially lower than it has estimated.  
   
The process of estimating oil reserves is complex. It requires interpretations of available technical data and many assumptions, including assumptions relating to current and future 
economic conditions and commodity prices. Any significant inaccuracies in these interpretations or assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of 
reserves shown in our financial statements provided as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
   
In order to prepare our estimates, we must project production rates and the timing of development expenditures. We must also analyze available geological, geophysical, production and 
engineering data. The extent, quality and reliability of this data can vary. The process also requires economic assumptions about matters such as oil prices, operating expenses, capital 
expenditures, taxes and availability of funds. Although the reserve information contained herein is reviewed by our independent reserve engineers, William M. Cobb & Associates, Inc. 
and Collarini Associates, estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are inherently imprecise. Furthermore, different reserve engineers may make different estimates of reserves and cash 
flows based on the same available data.  
   
Actual future production, oil prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil reserves will vary from our estimates. Any 
significant variance could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of reserves shown in our financial statements provided as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. In addition, we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history, prevailing oil prices and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.  
 
The decline in oil price may result in impairment charges.  
 
Declines, as well as anticipated declines, in oil and gas prices could result in impairment and decline in the value of our oil properties. The price of oil declined 36% during the fourth 
quarter of 2014 based on the Cushing, Oklahoma - West Texas Intermediate monthly average spot prices of $93.21 per barrel in September 2014 and $59.29 in December 2014. 
Subsequent to December 2014, the oil prices decreased further to $47.22 per barrel for January 2015. The 2014 decline resulted in an impairment charge of $13.2 million.  
   
Risks Related to our Intellectual Property  
   
We may not be able to protect our proprietary information or technology adequately.  
   
Our success depends on our proprietary information and technology. We have adopted an intellectual property strategy, relying on a combination of patents and trade secret laws, as 
well as on confidentiality and non-compete agreements, in order to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Our pending and future patent applications may not issue as patents or, if 
issued, may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection or any competitive advantage. Existing or future patents may be challenged, including with respect 
to the development and ownership thereof, or narrowed, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from developing and marketing similar 
technology or limit the length of terms of patent protection we may have for our technology. In addition, any such challenge could be costly and become a significant diversion of our 
management’s time and resources. Further, other companies may design around technology we have patented, licensed or developed and, therefore, diminish any competitive advantage 
we may have from our technology. Also, changes in patent laws or their interpretation in the United States and other countries could diminish the value of our intellectual property or 
narrow the scope of our patent protection.  
   
These concerns apply equally to patents we have licensed or may in the future license, which may likewise be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. In addition, we generally do not 
control the patent prosecution and maintenance of subject matter that we license from others. Generally, the licensors are primarily or wholly responsible for the patent prosecution and 
maintenance activities pertaining to the patent applications and patents we license, while we may only be afforded opportunities to comment on such activities. Accordingly, we are 
unable to exercise the same degree of control over licensed intellectual property as we exercise over our own intellectual property, and we face the risk that our licensors will not 
prosecute or maintain it as effectively as we would like.  
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Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our patents or other intellectual property rights, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. In order to protect 
or enforce our intellectual property rights, we may initiate litigation against third parties, such as infringement suits or interference proceedings. Such litigation may be costly and may 
not be successful. Litigation may be necessary to:  

   

 
The steps we have taken to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information and technology may be insufficient to protect us, and we may be unable to prevent infringement of our 
intellectual property rights or misappropriation of our proprietary information. Any infringement or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage we currently derive or may 
derive in the future from our proprietary rights. In addition, if we operate in foreign jurisdictions in the future, we may not be able to protect our intellectual property in the foreign 
jurisdictions in which we operate. The legal systems of certain countries do not favor the aggressive enforcement of intellectual property and the laws of certain foreign countries may 
not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Any actions taken in those countries may have results that are different than if such actions were taken under 
the laws of the United States. Patent litigation and other challenges to our patents are costly and unpredictable and represent a significant diversion of our management’s time and 
resources. Our intellectual property may also fall into the public domain. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights, we may be at a disadvantage to others who did not incur the 
substantial time and expense we have incurred to create our technology.  
   
Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosures of trade secrets and other proprietary information.  
   
We rely in part on trade secret protection to protect our confidential and proprietary information and processes. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We have taken measures 
to protect our trade secrets and proprietary information, but these measures may not be effective. We require new employees and consultants to execute confidentiality agreements upon 
the commencement of an employment or consulting arrangement with us. These agreements generally require that all confidential information developed by the individual or made 
known to the individual by us during the course of the individual’s relationship with us be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties. These agreements also generally provide 
that know-how and inventions conceived by the individual in the course of rendering services to us are our exclusive property. Nevertheless, these agreements may be breached or may 
not be enforceable, our proprietary information may be disclosed, and others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise 
gain access to our trade secrets, and we may not have adequate remedies for any resulting losses. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the 
scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position.  
   
Our technology may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others. Intellectual property inf ringement claims would be time consuming and expensive to defend and 
may result in limitations on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims.  
   
Claims asserting that we have violated or infringed upon third party intellectual property rights may be brought against us in the future. We may be unaware of intellectual property 
rights of others that may cover some of our technology or third parties may have or eventually be issued patents on which our current and future technology may infringe. The 
complexity of the technology involved and the uncertainty of intellectual property litigation increase these risks. Any claims and any resulting litigation could subject us to significant 
liability for damages, cause us to incur significant expenses and divert management time. A court could enter orders temporarily, preliminarily or permanently enjoining us from 
making, using, selling or importing any current and future technology or could enter an order mandating that we undertake certain remedial activities.  
 
An adverse determination in any litigation of this type could require us to design around a third party’s patent or license alternative technology from another third party, which may not 
be available on acceptable terms or at all. If we cannot do these things on a timely and cost-effective basis, our revenues may decrease substantially, and we could be exposed to 
significant liability. In addition, litigation is time-consuming and expensive to defend and could result in limitations on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these 
claims.  
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•  assert claims of infringement; 
•  enforce our patents; 
•  enforce our licenses; 
•  protect our trade secrets or know-how; or 
•  determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. 
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Environmental and Regulatory Risks  
   
We are subject to complex laws and regulations, including environmental regulations, which can adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of our business.  
   
Our operations are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations, including environmental and health and safety laws and regulations governing, among other things, the 
generation, storage, handling, emission, use, transportation and discharge of hazardous substances and other materials into the environment, the integrity of groundwater aquifers and 
the health and safety of our employees. These laws and regulations can adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of doing business.  
 
We incur, and expect to continue to incur, capital and operating costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations. Many laws and regulations require permits for the operation 
of various facilities, and these permits are subject to revocation, modification and renewal. Governmental authorities have the power to enforce compliance with their regulations, and 
violations could subject us to fines, injunctions or both.  
   
We could be held liable for contamination at or from our current or former properties and any sites we acquire in the future, as well as for contamination at or from third party sites 
where we have operated or have disposed of waste, regardless of fault. We could also be subject to claims from landowners alleging property damage as a result of our operations. 
Further, we could be held liable for any and all consequences arising out of human exposure to hazardous substances or other environmental damage. In addition, if we are named in an 
environmental lawsuit alleging contamination at any such site, even if we are not at fault, any such lawsuit could harm our reputation and be costly and become a significant diversion 
of our management’s time and resources.  
   
Environmental laws are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time. Changes in, or additions to, environmental and health and safety laws and 
regulations could lead to increased operating and compliance costs.  
Therefore, no assurance can be given that our cost of complying with current and future environmental and health and safety laws, and our liabilities arising from past or future releases 
of, or exposure to, hazardous substances or other materials will not materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
We rely on oil producers to obtain the appropriate permits to operate their wells and waterflood systems, and if they fail to obtain proper permits they could be subject to 
fines or penalties, and that could harm our business.  
   
In the typical application of the AERO System to a reservoir, the well operator (which may include us) will be responsible for having all applicable permits for operating its wells and 
waterflood systems. If the well operator fails to have such permits, it could be subject to fines or penalties, which could, in turn, harm our business. In addition, because our technology 
is new, regulatory agencies may not be sure how to apply existing rules to the AERO System or may have concerns that could delay or restrict use of the AERO System in some wells. 
Any such delays or restrictions could harm our business.  
 
Climate change legislation and regulatory initiatives could result in increased operating costs and decreased demand for our products and services.  
   
Changes in environmental requirements may negatively impact demand for our services. For example, oil exploration and production may decline as a result of environmental 
requirements (including land use policies responsive to environmental concerns). State, national, and international governments and agencies have been evaluating climate-related 
legislation and other regulatory initiatives that would restrict emissions of greenhouse gases in areas in which we conduct business. Because our business depends on the level of 
activity in the oil industry, existing or future laws, regulations, treaties or international agreements related to greenhouse gases and climate change, including incentives to conserve 
energy or use alternative energy sources, could have a negative impact on our business if such laws, regulations, treaties, or international agreements reduce the worldwide demand for 
oil or oil prices. Likewise, such restrictions may result in additional compliance obligations with respect to the release, capture and use of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide that 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
The adoption of any future federal or state laws or implementing regulations imposing restrictions on hydraulic fracturing, if extended to oil recovery operations, could 
materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
The Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, has recently focused on concerns about the risk of water contamination and public health problems from drilling and hydraulic 
fracturing activities. The EPA is conducting a comprehensive research study on the potential adverse effects that hydraulic fracturing may have on water quality and public health. 
While our technology is unrelated to hydraulic fracturing, it is possible that any federal, state and local laws and regulations that might be imposed on fracturing activities could also 
apply to oil recovery operations.  
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Although it is not possible to predict the outcome of EPA’s study or whether any new legislation or regulations would impact our business, such future laws and regulations could result 
in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions, which, in turn, could materially harm our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  

   
As a result of the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets, our producing properties are located primarily in the East Texas Basin, making us vulnerable to risks associated with 
operating in one major geographic area.  
   
With the closing of the Coke Field Acquisition, substantially all of our producing properties are geographically concentrated in the East Texas Basin. At December 31, 2014, 
substantially all of Glori’s total estimated proved reserves were attributable to properties located in this area.  
 
As a result of this concentration, we may be disproportionately exposed to the impact of regional supply and demand factors, delays or interruptions of production from wells in this 
area caused by governmental regulation, processing or transportation capacity constraints, market limitations, availability of equipment and personnel, water shortages or other drought 
related conditions or interruption of the processing or transportation of oil, natural gas or NGLs.  
    
We are susceptible to the potential difficulties associated with rapid growth and expansion and have a limited operating history.  
   
With the closing of the Coke Field Acquisition and the Merger, we have grown rapidly. Our management believes that our future success depends on our ability to manage the rapid 
growth that we have experienced and the demands from increased responsibility on management personnel. The following factors could present difficulties:  
   

 
Our operating results could be adversely affected if we do not successfully manage these potential difficulties. The historical financial information incorporated herein is not necessarily 
indicative of the results that may be realized in the future. In addition, our operating history is limited and the results from our current producing wells are not necessarily indicative of 
future operations.  
   
We may be subject to risks in connection with acquisitions of properties.  
   
The successful acquisition of producing properties requires an assessment of several factors, including:  

   

 
The accuracy of these assessments is inherently uncertain. In connection with these assessments, we perform a review of the subject properties that we believe to be generally consistent 
with industry practices. Our review will not reveal all existing or potential problems nor will it permit us to become sufficiently familiar with the properties to fully assess their 
deficiencies and capabilities. Inspections may not always be performed on every well, and environmental problems, such as groundwater contamination, are not necessarily observable 
even when an inspection is undertaken. Even when problems are identified, the seller may be unwilling or unable to provide effective contractual protection against all or part of the 
problems.  
   
We may incur losses as a result of title defects in the properties in which we invest.  
   
The existence of a material title deficiency can render a lease worthless and can adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. While we conduct customary due 
diligence prior to acquiring a property, the failure of title may not be discovered until after we acquire the property, in which case we may lose the lease and the right to produce all or a 
portion of the minerals under the property.  
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•  increased responsibilities for our executive level personnel; 
•  increased administrative burden; 
•  increased capital requirements; and 
•  increased organizational challenges common to large, expansive operations. 

•  recoverable reserves; 
•  future oil and natural gas prices and their applicable differentials; 
•  operating costs; and 
•  potential environmental and other liabilities. 
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments  
 
None.  
 
Item 2. Properties  
 
Information regarding the Company's properties called for by this item is included in Item 1, Business - Glori's Properties . We also have various operating leases for rental of office, 
laboratory, and warehouse space. The Company also has various other commitments such as technology hardware and support and software commitments. See Item 7,  Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations , and  NOTE 13 , Commitments and Contingencies , in the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 to 
Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the future minimum rental payments. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings  

Legal Proceedings  
 
From time to time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company is not a party to any material litigation or 
proceedings and is not aware of any material litigation or proceedings, pending or threatened against it. We are subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and governmental 
inspections, audits or investigations arising out of our business which cover matters such as general commercial, governmental regulations, environmental, employment and other 
actions. Although the outcomes of these routine claims cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a 
material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.  
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures  
 
Not applicable.  
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PART II  
 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.  
 
Market Information for Common Stock  

 

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ since April 14, 2014. Prior to that time, the trading prices are not available since there was no public market for our stock. The 

following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low intra-day sales prices per share for our common stock for 2014 since our initial trading date.  

 

 

Holders of Record  
 

As of December 31, 2014, there were approximately 700 stockholders of record of our common stock, and the closing price of our common stock was $4.18 per share as reported on 

the NASDAQ. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of 

stockholders represented by these record holders.  

 

Dividend Policy  
 
To date, we have not declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. Any future payments of cash dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of 
directors and dependent upon our revenues and earnings, financial strategy, capital requirements and overall financial condition and subject to our covenants in our loan agreement with 
Hercules which prevents us from paying dividends to our stockholders until the debt underlying those agreements is paid. For the foreseeable future we presently intend to retain any 
earnings for use in our business operations.  
 
Unregistered Sales of Securities  

 
We have not sold any of our equity securities during the period covered by this Report that were not registered under the Securities Act.   
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers    
 
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report, no purchases were made by or on behalf of the Company or any “affiliated purchaser,” as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)
(3) under the Exchange Act, of shares or other units of any class of the Company’s equity securities.  
 

27  

   High    Low  

Second Quarter (from April 14)  $ 12.44    $ 7.51  
Third Quarter  11.00    6.23  
Fourth Quarter  7.85    3.00  
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Share-Based Compensation  
 
The following table sets forth information about our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2014:  
 

 

 
Glori Oil Limited 2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan – The Company’s pre-Merger long term incentive plan the Glori Oil Limited 2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan allowed for the 
issuance of stock options. These options were typically issued at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date, as determined by the 
Board of Directors. Generally, the options vest 25 percent after 1 year, and thereafter ratably by month over the next 36 months, and may be exercised for a period of 10 years subject to 
vesting. As of April 14, 2014 the plan was amended such that no further options would be issued.  

Glori Energy Inc. 2014 Long Term Incentive Plan – The plan was adopted by the Company’s Board in December 2014 and is approved by the shareholders. Under the plan, the Board 
of Directors may grant options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights and performance based awards. Awards made under the plan are subject to such terms and conditions, 
without limitation as may be determined by the board.  

For a further detail of the options, exercise prices and number of securities to be issued upon option exercise see NOTE 14 included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
in Item 15 to Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Plan Category  

Number of securities to be  
issued upon exercise of  

outstanding options, warrants  
and rights     

Weighted-average exercise price  
of outstanding options     

Number of securities remaining  
available for future issuance  

under equity compensation plans  

Glori Oil Limited 2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan (1)  2,005,852     0.78     — 
Glori Energy Inc. 2014 Long Term Incentive Plan  —    —    2,000,000  

(1)  As a result of the Merger which was consummated on April 14, 2014, the issued and outstanding stock options were canceled and reissued as stock options in the newly merged 
entity at a conversion ratio of 2.9 pre-Merger stock options to 1 post-Merger stock option. The exercise price of the Glori stock options also increased by the same factor of 2.9. All 
option disclosures in the note above are shown as converted using these factors.  
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Stock Performance Graph  
 
The following graph shows a comparison from April 14, 2014, the date our common stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ through December 31, 2014 of the cumulative total 

return for our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the Russell 3000 Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested at the market close on April 14, 2014 in the common stock 

of the Company, the Russell 2000 Index and the Russell 3000 Index. The stock price performance of the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. 

 

  
 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data  
 
The following table ( in thousands, except per share data ) presents selected historical financial data for the periods indicated. The selected consolidated financial data are derived from 
our audited consolidated financial statements (taking into account the Merger). The following selected historical financial data should be read in connection with Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in Item 15 to Part IV of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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   As of and for the Years Ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Revenues:                 

Oil and gas revenues  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,724  
Service revenues  1,718     2,643     4,135  
Total revenues  2,181     3,219     15,859  
            

Net loss  (11,940 )     (10,609 )     (18,756 )  

            

Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (11.32 )     $ (9.61 )     $ (0.65 )  

            

Cash  $ 18,707     $ 20,867     $ 29,751  
Property, plant and equipment, net  5,040     2,810     28,813  
Total assets  24,477     24,619     67,435  
Long-term debt  7,879     5,270     19,225  
Total stockholders' equity  $ 24,477     $ 16,196     $ 41,215  
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  
   
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 15 to Part IV of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. Our discussion and analysis includes forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with  Risk Factors  under 
Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, along w ith  Forward-Looking Information  unde r Item 7A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information on the risks and 
uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different from our forward-looking statements.  
   
Management's Overview  
 
On January 8, 2014, we executed a merger and share exchange agreement with Infinity Corp. and certain of its affiliates. On April 14, 2014, the Merger was consummated. We 
obtained effective control of Infinity Corp. subsequent to the Merger and thus the Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition and recapitalization of the Company. Subsequent to 
the Merger, our shareholders retained a substantial majority of voting interest and positions on the Board of Directors. Additionally our management is retained and our operations 
comprise the ongoing operations post-Merger. In connection with the Merger, we received approximately $24.7 million, net of certain expenses and fees, and approximately $13.7 
million in cash from the private placement of common stock for total proceeds of $38.4 million.  
 
On March 14, 2014, we acquired the Coke Field Assets from Petro-Hunt for (i) $38.0 million in cash and a $2.0 million convertible note payable to Petro-Hunt, subject to certain 
purchase price adjustments primarily for net revenues in excess of direct operating expenses of the property from January 1, 2014 through the closing date, March 14, 2014, and (ii) the 
assumption of the asset retirement obligation related to plugging and abandoning the Coke Field Assets. Subsequent to the Merger the note payable to Petro-Hunt was converted into 
common stock.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
   
The discussion of Glori’s financial condition and results of operations is based upon its consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United States 
generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires Glori to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses. On an ongoing basis, Glori evaluates its estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenues, bad debts, long-lived assets, income 
taxes, asset retirement obligation, fair value of derivatives, asset impairment and stock-based compensation. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that Glori believes are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of Glori’s analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates, and the impact of such differences may be material to Glori’s consolidated 
financial statements.  
   
Critical accounting policies are those policies that, in management’s view, are most important in the portrayal of Glori’s financial condition and results of operations. The footnotes to 
Glori’ s consolidated financial statements also include disclosure of significant accounting policies. The methods, estimates and judgments that Glori uses in applying its accounting 
policies have a significant impact on the results that Glori reports in its financial statements. These critical accounting policies require Glori to make difficult and subjective judgments, 
often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. Those critical accounting policies and estimates that require the most significant judgment 
are discussed below.  
 
AERO Services Related Accounting Policies and Estimates  
 
Revenue Recognition . Service revenues are recognized when all services are concluded in accordance with the contract. The Company’s service contracts typically include a single 
contract for each phase of service. During the initial phase known as Reservoir Analysis and Treatment Design (the “Analysis Phase”), the Company samples the target field and 
evaluates project feasibility and nutrient formulation by assessing field characteristics such as geology, microbial environment and geochemistry of the oil and water. The completion of 
the Analysis Phase contract typically coincides with the delivery of a report of findings to the customer at which point the Analysis Phase revenues are recognized. Once the viability of 
the AERO System is demonstrated in the Analysis Phase, a new contract is executed for the Field Deployment Phase. During the Field Deployment Phase the AERO System is initiated 
in the oil field to stimulate the indigenous microbes in the oil bearing reservoir. The Field Deployment Phase revenues are recognized ratably over the Field Deployment Phase 
injection work timeline.  
 
Previous to 2014, the majority of the Company’s revenues for AERO services were executed under a single contract which covered both Analysis Phase and Field Deployment Phase 
work.  
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The single contract for both services resulted in lack of commercial evidence that the Analysis Phase services provided value on a stand-alone basis and thus both services were viewed 
as a single unit-of-accounting under ASC 605, Revenue Recognition: Multiple-Element Arrangements . In accordance with this guidance, the Company deferred revenue received in the 
Analysis Phase and recognize this revenue and the Field Deployment Phase revenue uniformly over the Field Deployment Phase injection timeline. Any termination of the project after 
the completion of the Analysis Phase would result in the immediate recognition of that portion of the revenues outlined in the contract.    

   
Oil and Gas Extraction Specific Policies and Estimates  
   
Successful Efforts Method . Glori uses the successful efforts method of accounting for oil producing activities. Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and gas properties, to drill and 
equip exploratory wells that find proved reserves, and to drill and equip development wells are capitalized.  
   
Revenue Recognition . Glori follows the sales method of accounting for crude oil revenues. Under this method, Glori recognizes revenues on production as it is taken and delivered to 
its purchasers, net of royalties. Revenues from natural gas production are recorded using the sales method. When sales volumes exceed the Company’s entitled share, production 
imbalance occurs. If production imbalance exceeds the Company’s share of the remaining estimated proved natural gas reserves for a given property, the Company records a liability.  
   
Depletion . The estimates of crude oil reserves utilized in the calculation of depletion are estimated in accordance with guidelines established by the Society of Petroleum Engineers, the 
SEC and the Financial Accounting Standards Board, which require that reserve estimates be prepared under existing economic and operating conditions with no provision for price and 
cost escalations except by contractual arrangements. Glori emphasizes that reserve estimates are inherently imprecise. Accordingly, the estimates are expected to change as more 
current information becomes available. Glori’s policy is to amortize capitalized costs on the unit of production method, based upon these reserve estimates.  
   
Glori assesses its proved properties for possible impairment on an annual basis at a minimum, or as circumstances warrant, based on geological trend analysis, changes in proved 
reserves or relinquishment of acreage. When impairment occurs, the adjustment is recorded to accumulated depletion.  
   
Asset Retirement Obligation . Glori accounts for its plugging and abandonment liability for permanently shutting in wells, or asset retirement obligation ("ARO") in accordance with 
ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations . The fair value of a liability for an ARO is required to be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable 
estimate of fair value can be made, and the associated retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. Glori determines its ARO by calculating the 
present value of the estimated cash flows related to the liability based upon estimates derived from management and external consultants familiar with the requirements of the 
retirement and Glori’s ARO is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as a noncurrent liability. Glori has not funded nor dedicated any assets to this retirement 
obligation. The liability is periodically adjusted to reflect (1) new liabilities incurred; (2) liabilities settled during the period; (3) accretion expense; and (4) revisions to estimated future 
plugging and abandonment costs.  
 
Impairment of Oil and Natural Gas Properties . Glori reviews its proved oil and natural gas properties for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate a potential decline in 
the recoverability of their carrying value. We compare expected undiscounted future net cash flows from each field to the unamortized capitalized cost of the asset. If the future 
undiscounted net cash flows, based on the our estimate of future oil and natural gas prices and operating costs and anticipated production from proved reserves, are lower than the 
unamortized capitalized cost, then the capitalized cost is reduced to fair value. The factors used to determine fair value include, but are not limited to, estimates of reserves, future 
commodity pricing, future production estimates, and anticipated capital expenditures. Unproved properties are reviewed quarterly to determine if there has been impairment of the 
carrying value, with any such impairment charged to expense in the period. Drilling activities in an area by other companies may also effectively condemn leasehold positions. Given 
the complexities associated with oil and natural gas estimates and the history of price volatility in the oil and natural gas markets, events may arise that will require the Company to 
record an impairment of its oil and natural gas properties and there can be no assurance that such impairments will not be required in the future nor that they will not be material.  
 
Derivative Instruments . At the end of each reporting period we record on our balance sheet the mark-to-market valuation of our commodity derivative instruments. The unrealized 
estimated change in fair value of the derivatives is reported in other (expense) income as gain (loss) on commodity derivative instruments.  
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Stock-Based Compensation . Prior to the adoption of Glori’s 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, it had one stock-based compensation plan, the Glori Oil Limited Amended and Restated 
2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan, or the 2006 Plan. All equity instruments granted under the 2006 Plan are settled in stock and no awards under the 2014 Plan had been made as of 
December 31, 2014. Since the adoption of its 2006 Plan, Glori has recorded all share based payment expenses in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation- Stock 
Compensation . The following table summarizes the stock options granted in 2012, 2013, and 2014 with their exercise prices and the fair value of the underlying common stock per 
share.  
 

 
In the absence of a public market for Glori common stock, prior to April 14, 2014, Glori engaged a third-party valuation advisor to provide a valuation of its stock. Glori’s board of 
directors considered the October 31, 2011 valuation in making its fair value determination as of October 31, 2011. This valuation resulted in a $1.15 fair value per common share. 
Glori’ s board of directors continued to utilize the October 31, 2011 common stock valuation to establish the exercise price for the stock options granted from December 26, 2011 
through December 31, 2012, as it was the most recent valuation of Glori common stock, and Glori’s board of directors determined that no material developments had occurred in its 
business to change that valuation materially.  
   
As of January 1, 2013, Glori’s board of directors determined that there have been material developments in its business and, accordingly, engaged the same third-party valuation 
advisor that provided the 2011 valuation to provide a valuation of Glori common stock as of January 1, 2013. The valuation resulted in a fair value per common share of $0.40. Based 
on the valuation, Glori’s board of directors set the exercise price of the options equal to the fair value of the common shares at $0.40. With the new lower exercise price fair value the 
compensation committee of the board of directors elected to reprice the previously issued 2012 options with an exercise price of $1.15. The reduction in exercise price affected 1.8 
million options, and the repricing adjustment resulted in expense of approximately $47,000 recognized in June 2013.  
 
As a result of the Merger, which consummated on April 14, 2014, the issued and outstanding stock options were canceled and reissued as stock options in the newly merged entity at a 
conversion ratio of 2.9 pre-Merger entity stock options to 1 post-Merger stock option. The exercise price of the Glori stock options shown above also increased by the same factor of 
2.9, from $0.40 to $1.16.  
   
Glori recognizes expense for stock-based compensation using the calculated fair value of options on the grant date of the awards. Glori does not issue fractional shares nor pay cash in 
lieu of fractional shares and currently does not have any awards accounted for as a liability.  
   
Glori’s policy is to recognize compensation expense for service-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Stock-based compensation 
expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest.   
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Date of Issuance     
Number of  

Options     

Exercise  
Price per  

Share     

Fair Value  
per  

Underlying  
Share  

January 3, 2012     101,478     1.16     1.16  
January 24, 2012     4,000     1.16     1.16  
February 10, 2012     307,500     1.16     1.16  
March 19, 2012     300,000     1.16     1.16  
September 26, 2012     160,000     1.16     1.16  
June 4, 2013     1,397,494     1.16     1.16  
June 10, 2013     20,000     1.16     1.16  
June 17, 2013     40,000     1.16     1.16  
June 19, 2013     192,500     1.16     1.16  
July 3, 2013     10,000     1.16     1.16  
July 29, 2013     10,000     1.16     1.16  
August 29, 2013     10,000     1.16     1.16  
November 1, 2013     3,000     1.16     1.16  
November 25, 2013     150,000     1.16     1.16  
December 2, 2013     50,000     1.16     1.16  
December 16, 2013     767,179     1.16     1.16  
January 1, 2014     7,103     1.16     1.16  
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The fair value of each option award was estimated on the grant date using a Black-Scholes option valuation model, which uses certain assumptions as of the date of grant:  
   
Risk-free interest rate — risk-free rate, for periods within the contractual terms of the options, is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant;  
   
Expected volatility — based on peer group price volatility for periods equivalent to the expected term of the options;  
   
Expected dividend yield — expected dividends based on Glori’s expected dividend rate at the date of grant;  
   
Expected life (in years) — expected life adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restriction and behavioral considerations; and  
   
Expected forfeiture rate — expected forfeiture rate based on historical and expected employee turnover.  
   
Glory Energy has computed the fair value of all options granted during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 using the following assumptions:  

 
Taxes . Glori accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method wherein deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and to net operating loss carry forwards, 
measured by enacted tax rates for years in which taxes are expected to be paid, recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets if, based on the 
weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of December 31, 2014, Glori has a total valuation 
allowance of $19.5 million.  

   
Glori follows ASC 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740), which creates a single model to address accounting for the uncertainty in income tax positions and prescribes a minimum recognition 
threshold a tax position must meet before recognition in the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had an uncertain tax position related to not 
filing Form 926 Return by a U.S. Transferor of Property to a Foreign Corporation in the amount of approximately $31,000 , for the tax year 2011. This form would have reported cash 
transfers to support the operations of its subsidiary Glori Oil S.R.L. The Company has amended this return and believes any liability will be abated and no longer has an uncertain tax 
position; accordingly, the Company has not recognized any liability in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company does not expect a material change to the 
consolidated financial statements related to uncertain tax positions in the next 12 months . The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits 
in income tax expense.  

   
Glori’ s ability to use its net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards, 
or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. Glori believes that its issuance of series B preferred stock on October 15, 2009 resulted in a Section 382 ownership change limitation. Glori 
estimates that approximately $5.4 million of Glori’s $51.9 million NOLs as of December 31, 2014 will expire unused due to Section 382 ownership change limitations. Future changes 
in Glori’s stock ownership, some of which are outside of its control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, Glori’s ability 
to utilize NOLs of companies that it may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations.  
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   2012     2013     2014  

Risk-free interest rate  0.87%     2.23%     2.44%  

Expected volatility  89%     55%     55%  

Expected dividend yield  —     —     —  

Expected life (in years)  4.47     7.09     7.00  

Expected forfeiture rate  —     —     —  
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  
    
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard 
that will supersede existing revenue recognition guidance under United States generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The issuance of this guidance completes the joint effort by the FASB and the IASB to improve financial reporting by creating common revenue recognition guidance for U.S. 
GAAP and IFRS.  
 
The core principle of the new guidance is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard creates a five-step model that requires companies to exercise judgment 
when considering the terms of a contract and all relevant facts and circumstances. The standard allows for several transition methods: (a) a full retrospective adoption in which the 
standard is applied to all of the periods presented, or (b) a modified retrospective adoption in which the standard is applied only to the most current period presented in the financial 
statements, including additional disclosures of the standard’s application impact to individual financial statement line items.This standard is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. We are currently evaluating this standard and the impact it will have on our future revenue 
recognition policies.  
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Historical Results of Operations for Glori  

   
The following table sets forth selected financial data for the periods indicated (in thousands) :  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Revenues:                 

Oil and gas revenues  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,724  
Service revenues  1,718     2,643     4,135  

Total revenues  2,181     3,219     15,859  
            

Operating expenses:                 

Oil and gas operations  1,768     2,211     10,777  
Service operations  2,115     2,281     3,528  
Science and technology  1,459     1,682     1,868  
Selling, general and administrative  3,411     4,279     5,920  
Write-off of deferred offering costs  1,492     126     — 
Impairment of oil and gas properties  —    2,190     13,160  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  578     622     4,624  

Total operating expenses  10,823     13,391     39,877  
            

Loss from operations  (8,642 )     (10,172 )     (24,018 )  

            

Other (expense) income:                 

Interest expense  (480 )     (959 )     (3,023 )  

(Loss) gain on change in fair value of warrants  (506 )     592     2,454  
Gain on commodity derivatives  —    —    6,023  

Loss on change in fair value of derivative liability  (2,317 )     —    — 
Other income (expense)  5     (70 )     17  

Total other (expense) income, net  (3,298 )     (437 )     5,471  
            

Net loss before taxes on income  (11,940 )     (10,609 )     (18,547 )  

            

Income tax expense  —    —    209  
            

Net loss  $ (11,940 )     $ (10,609 )     $ (18,756 )  
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The following table sets forth selected production data for the periods indicated:  

 
The following table details oil and gas operations expense for the periods indicated ( in thousands ):  

 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014  

   
Oil and gas revenues. Oil and gas revenues increased by $11.1 million from $576 thousand in 2013 to $11.7 million in 2014 . The increase was attributable to the purchase of the Coke 
Field Assets which closed on March 14, 2014 and resulted in the inclusion of an additional $11.1 million of oil and gas revenues.  
 
Service revenues. Service revenues increased by $1.5 million , or 56% , from $2.6 million in 2013 to $4.1 million in 2014 . The increase in revenues was attributable to increases of 
$823 thousand in Analysis Phase services and $660 thousand in Field Deployment Phase services. The increase in Analysis Phase revenues was due to revenues for eleven projects that 
were completed during 2014 compared to six projects in 2013 . The increase in Field Deployment Phase revenues was primarily due to a large Canadian project that progressed into the 
Field Deployment Phase in December 2013 and was ongoing throughout 2014 .  
      
Oil and gas operations. Oil and gas operating expense increased by $8.6 million from $2.2 million in 2013 to $10.8 million in 2014 . The increase was mainly attributable to the 
acquisition of the Coke Field Assets which was completed on March 14, 2014 and resulted in an additional $6.2 million in lease operating expenses, $396 thousand in ad valorem taxes 
and $521 thousand in severance taxes. There was an additional $358 thousand in transactional costs associated with the Coke Field acquisition, including third party due diligence 
costs. Oil and gas overhead charges increased $365 thousand in 2014 for employee compensation and recruiting expenses due to additional professional and technical personnel. 
Consulting fees increased $613 thousand in 2014, mainly due to payments to a third party consultant who located a new purchaser for Coke Field oil production, which resulted in a 
higher realized price per barrel than that received from the previous purchaser.  
 
Service operations. Service operations expense increased by $1.2 million , or 54.7% , from $2.3 million in 2013 to $3.5 million in 2014 . A majority of the increase, totaling $698 
thousand, is attributable to increased nutrient and trucking costs related to a project in Canada in 2014 .  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Revenues  (in thousands):                 

  Oil revenues  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,549  
  Natural gas revenues  —    —    175  
     Total revenues  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,724  
            

Volumes:                 

  Oil Volumes (MBbls)  5     6     133  
  Gas Volumes (MMcf)  —    —    72  
  Gas Volumes (MBoe)  —    —    12  
     Total Volumes (MBoe)  5     6     145  
            

Price:                 

  Average oil price per Bbl  $ 87     $ 92     $ 87  

  Average gas price per Mcf  —    —    $2.43 

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Lease operating expense  $ 513     $ 433     $ 6,631  
Ad valorem taxes  15     42     438  
Severance taxes  21     26     547  
Acquisition expenses  73     145     503  
Oil and gas overhead expense  1,146     1,565     2,658  

Oil and gas operations expense  $ 1,768     $ 2,211     $ 10,777  
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We also incurred additional costs of $273 thousand related to contract labor in preparation for a project in Brazil which commenced in the third quarter of 2014. The remainder of the 
increase is attributable to added personnel in 2014 and an increase in allocated rent expense.  
   
Science and technology. Science and technology expenses increased by $186 thousand from $1.7 million in 2013 to $1.9 million in 2014 mostly due to increases in expenses for 
employee compensation due to added personnel and an increase in lab supplies.  
   
Selling, general and administrative. SG&A expenses increased by $1.6 million , or 38.4% , from $4.3 million in 2013 to $5.9 million in 2014 . The majority of the increase of 
approximately $1.5 million, was due to the legal, accounting and other professional fees that were incurred in connection with the Merger, the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets, and 
the required nonrecurring regulatory filings associated with being a new public company, such as Forms S-4, S-8, S-3, and 20-F.  
 
Impairment of oil and gas properties.  During the fourth quarter of 2014, due to the significant decline in oil prices, we recognized an estimated $12.7 million impairment loss on our 
Coke Field Assets, acquired March 2014. As of year-end 2014, we had not yet implemented our AERO technology at the Coke Field. We also recognized a full impairment charge of 
approximately $450 thousand for our Etzold Field property, which was originally purchased in 2010 in exchange for nominal consideration and served as a field laboratory for our 
AERO technology. During 2013, Glori wrote off $2.2 million of the Etzold Field property due to a decline in proved reserves as of December 31, 2013, resulting from an internal 
decision to cease capital expenditures required to develop such reserves based on preliminary results.  
   
Depreciation, depletion and amortization. DD&A increased by $4.0 million from $622 thousand in 2013 to $4.6 million in 2014 . The increase was principally due to an increase in 
depletion expense of $3.8 million related to the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets in March 2014. Additionally as a result of the Coke Field acquisition, accretion of the asset 
retirement obligation increased $122 thousand and depreciation increased $97 thousand in the 2014 compared to 2013 .  

   
Total other (expense) income, net. Total other (expense) income, net increased by $5.9 million from expense of $437 thousand in 2013 to income of $5.5 million in 2014 . Our 
commodity swaps that were entered into in connection with the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets in 2014 resulted in income of $6.0 million , of which $5.8 million was an 
unrealized gain and $227 thousand a realized gain. We also incurred a gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $2.5 million in 2014, an increase of $1.9 million over 2013, 
due to a first quarter decrease in the fair valuation of the warrants. These increases in other income were partially offset by an increase in interest expense of $2.1 million due to the 
acquisition financing incurred in connection with the Coke Field Assets.  
 
Year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013  
   
Oil and gas revenues. Oil and gas revenues increased by $113 thousand from $463 thousand in 2012 to $576 thousand in 2013. The increase in oil sales was due to an increase in 
production and prices in 2013.  
 
Service revenues . Service revenues increased by $925 thousand, or 54%, from $1.7 million in 2012 to $2.6 million in 2013. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in 
Field Deployment Phase revenues of $1.5 million. The increase was partially offset by a decrease of $574 thousand in Analysis Phase revenues. The Field Deployment Phase increase 
was driven by two additional projects in Texas during 2013 and the commencement of a project in late 2012 whereby the majority of revenues were recognized in 2013, and three 
additional projects in Canada during 2013. The $574 thousand decrease in Analysis Phase revenues was primarily due to the completion of the Analysis Phase for three Canadian 
projects in 2013.  
   
Oil and gas operations.  Oil and gas operating expense increased by $443 thousand from $1.8 million in 2012 to $2.2 million in 2013. The overall increase was caused by an increase 
of $438 thousand due to additional corporate personnel required for upcoming oil production and acquisition activities.  
 
Service operations. Service operations expense increased $166 thousand from $2.1 million in 2012 to $2.3 million in 2013. The increase was driven by a $212 thousand increase in our 
Canadian field service expenses as a result of three additional projects in 2013 and a $218 thousand increase due to commencement of operations in Brazil, offset in part by a $211 
thousand decrease in California operations due to water treatment expenses on a single project in 2012 that were not incurred in 2013.  
   
Science and technology.  Science and technology expenses increased by $223 thousand, or 15%, from $1.5 million in 2012 to $1.7 million in 2013. The overall increase was 
attributable to an increase of $116 thousand in compensation expenses as a result of increased staffing requirements, an increase in intellectual property related legal expenses of $93 
thousand, and a $79 thousand increase in expenses for laboratory supplies as a result of increased project activity. The noted increases in expenses were offset by a decline in expenses 
of $59 thousand due to the conclusion of field trials for a particular customer.  
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Selling, general and administrative.  Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $868 thousand, or 25%, from $3.4 million in 2012 to $4.3 million in 2013. The increase 
was caused by a number of factors including an increase in compensation expense of $775 thousand, due primarily to increased stock based compensation expense and a full year’s 
compensation for an employee added in mid-2012, an increase of $47 thousand related to consulting services associated with developing AERO services projects in Russia, and an 
increase of $130 thousand in accounting and legal fees, partially offset by a $122 thousand decrease in promotional spending by the business development department during 2013.  
 
Write-off of deferred offering costs.  During 2012, Glori wrote off $1.5 million in deferred offering costs accumulated during the Company’s IPO efforts in 2011 and 2012. The IPO 
efforts were withdrawn due to unfavorable market conditions. During 2013, Glori wrote off $126 thousand in deferred offering costs related to an additional C-1 preferred stock 
offering that was withdrawn in the fourth quarter as Glori management focused efforts towards the proposed Merger with Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation.  
 
Impairment of oil and gas properties.  During 2013, Glori wrote off $2.2 million of the Company’s oil and gas property, the Etzold Field. The property was originally procured in 
exchange for nominal consideration and served as field laboratory for our AERO technology. The write-off was the result of a decline in proved reserves as of December 31, 2013. The 
revision in reserves was due to Glori’s decision not to spend the additional capital required to develop such reserves based on expected results.  
 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization.  Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased by $44 thousand or 8%, from $578 thousand in 2012 to $622 thousand in 2013. The 
increase was attributable to an increase in depletion expense of $74 thousand resulting from greater production on the Etzold property and from a reduction in the proved reserves 
estimates originated from Glori’s third party reserve report. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in depreciation of $30 thousand as many of the Glori’s initial asset 
investments became fully depreciated in 2012.  
   
Total other (expense) income, net.  Total other expense, net decreased $2.9 million from an expense of $3.3 million in 2012 to $437 thousand in 2013. The loss on change in fair value 
of the derivative liabilities decreased $2.3 million when compared to 2012 due to a 2012 increase in the fair value of the derivatives. In April 2013, Glori's Board of Directors removed 
the condition that created the embedded derivative and as a result there was no change in the fair value of derivative in 2013. The previously recorded fair value of the derivative was 
treated as a capital contribution and removed from the balance sheet during 2013. In 2013, there was a gain of $592 thousand recognized for the change in the fair value of the warrant 
liabilities due to a decrease in valuation, compared to a loss of $506 thousand in 2012. The $1.1 million decrease in expense when comparing 2013 to 2012 changes in fair value of the 
warrant liabilities was the result of a decrease in assumed proceeds of anticipated liquidity events for the ensuing 3 year period. Interest expense increased $479 thousand from $480 
thousand in 2012 to $959 thousand in 2013. The increase resulted primarily from the full commitment indebtedness to Hercules outstanding for the entirety of 2013 but only the second 
half of 2012.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  

   
Our primary sources of liquidity and capital since our formation have been proceeds from equity issuances and borrowings. To date, our primary use of capital has been to fund 
acquisitions, principally the purchase of the Coke Field Assets, fund our operations and repayment of debt. During 2014, we received approximately $38.4 million in proceeds related 
to the Merger and private placement of common stock. We also issued C-2 Preferred Stock and C-2 Preferred Warrants (which were subsequently exchanged for common stock in the 
newly merged entity) for an additional $5.0 million in net proceeds and we received $4.2 million from the exercise of warrants. During the period, we also borrowed $24.0 million 
which was used to partially finance the purchase of the Coke Field Assets, a producing oil field in Wood County, Texas from Petro-Hunt for $38.0 million and a $2.0 million 
convertible note payable.  
 
At December 31, 2014, we had working capital of $26.2 million, made up of current assets of $34.3 million and current liabilities of $8.0 million. The current asset balance is 
comprised of cash and cash equivalents of $29.8 million, accounts receivable of $1.4 million, prepaid expenses and other current assets of $244 thousand and commodity derivative 
contracts receivable of $2.9 million. Included in current liabilities is $2.3 million in accounts payable, $653 thousand in deferred revenues, $1.8 million in accrued expenses, $2.4 
million in current portion of long-term debt, and a deferred tax liability of $970 thousand.  

   
At December 31, 2013, we had working capital of $15.1 million, made up of current assets of $21.3 million and current liabilities of $6.2 million. The current asset balance includes 
cash and cash equivalents of $20.9 million, accounts receivable of $307 thousand, prepaid and other current assets of $71 thousand and inventory of $24 thousand.  
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Included in current liabilities is $534 thousand in accounts payable, $1.8 million in deferred revenues, $417 thousand in accrued expenses and $3.5 million in current portion of long-
term debt.  

   
During 2014, we received cash proceeds which significantly increased our cash balance and thus our working capital position. On April 14, 2014 we completed the Merger with 
Infinity Corp. and certain of its affiliates. The Merger resulted in net cash proceeds to us of approximately $24.7 million and approximately $13.7 million in additional cash from the 
private placement of 1,722,482 shares of common stock at $8.00 per share from Infinity Group, Hicks Equity Partners LLC and other investors. All of the previously outstanding 
common shares, preferred shares and warrants were exchanged for 23,584,557 common shares in the newly merged entity. Additionally, on April 14, 2014, the Petro-Hunt convertible 
note, also included in current liabilities for $2.0 million, was converted to 250,000 common shares.  

   
During the next twelve months, we expect our principal sources of liquidity to be from cash on hand, new credit facilities to be used for financing future potential oil property 
acquisitions and cash flows from operating activities. If we are successful in acquiring additional oil properties, the associated debt facilities will be based on the value of the oil and 
gas reserves acquired and secured by the respective assets. We expect these sources of liquidity will enable us to fund our capital expenditures and working capital needs for the next 
twelve months.  
 
We intend to pursue additional acquisitions of producing oil assets on which to deploy the AERO System. Planned capital expenditures for the next twelve months consist of 
approximately $3.0 million for further Coke Field development and implementation of our AERO System technology and approximately $300 thousand for field equipment for our 
AERO System service for customers and for our research and development laboratory in Houston, Texas. As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any commitments for the 
acquisition of oil properties or any other significant capital commitments.  
   
Revenues and cash flows from the Coke Field Assets will, in the near-term, represent the majority of our cash from operating activities until we complete other acquisitions of oil 
producing assets or experience significant growth in our services revenues. Operating cash flow from the Coke Field Assets, after direct operating expenses and related overhead costs, 
will principally be dedicated to servicing acquisition-related debt and capital expenditures. Such operating cash flow will be influenced by a number of factors such as oil production 
rates, oil prices and operating expenses. While we have entered into hedges for a portion of our oil production, variability in operating cash flow may require us to pursue additional 
resources to fund future capital expenditures and service associated debt.  
 
The price of oil declined 36% during the fourth quarter of 2014 based on the Cushing, Oklahoma - West Texas Intermediate monthly average spot prices of $93.21 per barrel in 
September 2014 and $59.29 in December 2014. Subsequent to December 2014, the oil prices decreased further to approximately $50 per barrel in February 2015. A sustained lower oil 
price through March 2015 will negatively impact first quarter oil revenues and profitability from the Coke Field Assets, which will be partially offset by other income realized from oil 
price swap settlements. Using an estimated average oil price of $50 per barrel and assuming fourth quarter volumes, oil and gas revenues would have decreased from $3.2 million as 
reported in the fourth quarter to $2.3 million, and the realized gain on monthly oil swap settlements would have increased from $630 thousand in the fourth quarter to $1.1 million.  

   
Future cash requirements and the requirement for new financing will be dependent primarily upon our success in generating additional acquisition opportunities and the related capital 
expenditures. Although we believe that we will have sufficient liquidity and capital resources to meet our operating requirements, we may pursue additional opportunities which could 
require additional debt or equity financing. If we are not successful in securing such additional financing on favorable terms, our ability to achieve our desired level of revenues growth 
could be materially adversely affected.   
   
The following table sets forth the major sources and uses of cash for the periods presented (in thousands) :   
   

 
   
 

39  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Net cash used in operating activities  $ (6,867 )     $ (6,553 )     $ (8,186 )  

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,332 )     (530 )     (42,362 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities  19,060     9,243     59,432  
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Operating Activities  

 
During 2014, our operating activities used $8.2 million in cash. Our net loss for 2014 was $18.8 million. Non-cash items totaled an expense of $10.4 million, consisting of $4.6 million 
of depreciation, depletion and amortization, $13.2 million impairment of our oil and gas properties, $296 thousand for stock based compensation expense, $439 thousand for 
amortization of deferred loan costs and other non-cash expenses totaling $163 thousand. These non-cash expenses were partially offset by a $2.5 million gain on the change in fair 
value of the warrant liabilities and a $5.8 million gain on the change in fair value of the commodity price swap. Changes in operating assets and liabilities increased net cash by $138 
thousand for the period. The cash increase from changes in operating assets and liabilities was caused by an increase in accounts payable of $1.3 million, an increase of accrued 
expenses of $1.1 million and a decrease in inventory of $22 thousand. These sources of cash were partially offset by uses of cash by an increase in accounts receivable of $1.1 million, 
an increase in prepaid expenses of $171 thousand, and a decrease in deferred revenues of $1.1 million. The increases in accounts receivable is primarily due to a $900 thousand 
receivable from December oil production on the Coke Field and a $293 thousand receivable for the December commodity swap settlement. Accounts payable and accrued payables also 
increased over the prior year as a result of increased operating expenses due to the addition of the Coke Field and accrued compensation at year end 2014. Deferred revenues decreased 
in 2014 as we commenced the Field Deployment Phase of our project in Brazil.  

   
During 2013, our operating activities used $6.6 million in cash. Our net loss for 2013 was $10.6 million. Non-cash items totaled an expense of $3.5 million, consisting of $622 
thousand of depreciation, depletion and amortization, $2.2 million impairment of our oil and gas property, $774 thousand for stock based compensation expense, $156 thousand of 
amortization of deferred loan costs and other and various other non-cash expenses totaling $394 thousand. These non-cash expenses were partially offset by a $592 thousand gain on 
the change in fair value of warrant liabilities. Changes in operating assets and liabilities increased net cash by $512 thousand for the period. The cash increase from changes in 
operating assets and liabilities was caused by a decrease in prepaid expenses of $51 thousand, a decrease in inventory of $21 thousand and an increase in deferred revenues of $758 
thousand. These sources of cash were partially offset by uses of cash through an increase in accounts receivable of $156 thousand, a decrease in accounts payable of $125 thousand and 
a decrease of accrued expenses of $37 thousand. The increase in deferred revenue resulted from the commencement of new projects for which revenue could not yet be recognized.  

    
During 2012, our operating activities used $6.9 million in cash. Our net loss for 2012 was $11.9 million. Non-cash items totaled an expense of $5.3 million, consisting of a loss on the 
change in fair value of the derivative liabilities of $2.3 million, a net write-off of deferred offering costs of $1.5 million, depreciation, depletion and amortization charges of $578 
thousand, a loss on the change in fair value of the warrant liability of $506 thousand, stock-based compensation expense of $291 thousand and $139 thousand for various other non-
cash expenses. Changes in operating assets and liabilities decreased net cash by $250 thousand for the period. The cash decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities was 
caused by an increase of prepaid expenses of $106 thousand, an increase of inventory of $7 thousand and a decrease in accounts payable of $761 thousand. These uses of cash were 
partially offset by sources of cash through a decrease in accounts receivable of $141 thousand, an increase in deferred revenues of $362 thousand and an increase in accrued expenses 
of $121 thousand. The increase in deferred revenues relates to additional contracts entered into by the Company which contain multiple deliverable elements and require deferred 
recognition accounting treatment. The decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses resulted from the payment of various costs related to legal and accounting fees which had 
accumulated as of December 31, 2011.  

   
Our future cash flow from operations will depend on many factors including our ability to acquire oil fields, successfully deploy our AERO System technology on such oil fields and 
oil prices. Other variables affecting our cash flow from operations are the adoption rate of our technology and the demand for our services, which is also impacted by the level of oil 
prices and the capital expenditure budgets of our customers and potential customers.  
   
Investing Activities  

   
Our capital expenditures were $42.4 million in 2014, compared to $530 thousand and $2.3 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Capital expenditures for 2014 consisted primarily of 
the purchase of the Coke Field Assets in March of 2014 for $40 million and $1.0 million of capital expenditures related to the construction of skid mounted injection equipment used in 
the AERO Field Deployment Phase process. Capital expenditures for 2013 consisted primarily of $445 thousand for the construction of skid mounted injection equipment used in the 
AERO System process. Capital expenditures for 2012 consisted primarily of expenditures in connection with redeveloping our Etzold Field property for $1.4 million and the 
construction of skid-mounted injection equipment used in the AERO process totaling $736 thousand.  

   
 

40  



Table of Contents  
 
Financing Activities  

 
During 2014, cash provided by financing activities was $59.4 million consisting primarily of gross cash proceeds received in the Merger and private placement of common stock of 
$38.4 million and new credit facilities totaling $24.0 million which were used to fund a portion of the Coke Field acquisition. The new borrowings mainly consisted of an $18.0 million 
senior secured term loan facility, a $4.0 million subordinated debt and a $2.0 million convertible note to the seller, Petro-Hunt L.L.C. ("Petro-Hunt"). Additionally $5.0 million was 
received from the first quarter issuance of C-2 preferred shares and warrants which were subsequently exchanged for common stock in the Merger during the second quarter of 2014 
and $4.2 million was received from the exercise of warrants and stock options during the period. Cash generated from financing activities during 2014 was partially offset by principal 
payments on long-term debt of $8.1 million, payments for deferred offering costs of $3.3 million and payments for deferred loan costs of $767 thousand. The deferred offering costs 
represent primarily legal expense payments related to the Merger and the deferred loan costs payments represent financing fees and legal expenses associated with the new $18.0 
million senior secured term loan facility and the $4.0 million subordinated debt facility.  
 
On January 8, 2014, we executed the merger and share exchange agreement with Infinity Corp. On April 14, 2014, the Merger was consummated. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger, 
in exchange for our outstanding shares and warrants, Infinity Corp. issued 23,584,557 shares of common stock on a pro rata basis to the stockholders and warrant holders of Glori 
Energy. We obtained effective control of Infinity Corp. subsequent to the Merger and thus the Merger was accounted as a reverse acquisition and recapitalization of the Company. Our 
shareholders retained a substantial majority of voting interest and positions on the Board of Directors, our management was retained and our operations continue to comprise the 
ongoing operations post-Merger. We received a total of $24.7 million in cash from the Merger and $13.7 million cash from the private placement in public equity, the "PIPE" 
investments for total proceeds of $38.4 million.  
 
The $18 million note issued on March 14, 2014 is a three year senior secured term loan facility, issued by Glori Energy Production, secured by the Coke Field Assets, and bears interest 
at 11.0% per annum. The credit agreement requires quarterly principal payments equal to 50% of the excess cash flow, as defined therein, from the Coke Field Assets during the first 
year and 75% of excess cash flow thereafter subject to a minimum quarterly principal payment of $112,500 plus interest. The credit agreement also requires Glori Energy Production 
Inc. to enter into price swaps covering approximately 75% of its oil production for projected proved developed production. In May and November of each year, in accordance with a 
procedure outlined in the credit agreement, the value of the collateral securing the note is redetermined based on engineering reserve reports submitted by Glori Energy Production. 
Dependent on the results of such redetermination, Glori Energy Production may be required to make additional principal payments on the loan. The $4 million note issued on March 
14, 2014 is a two year subordinated secured term note bearing interest at 12.0% per annum and is secured by the assets of GETI, but subordinated to existing GETI debt. As a condition 
of this financing, the lender of our term debt in the original amount of $8 million as described in NOTE 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, amended certain covenants which 
had restricted the incurrence of additional debt, liens and capital expenditures. The $4.0 million note principal and $400 thousand prepayment penalty plus accrued interest was paid in 
full on May 13, 2014.   
 
In addition to the debt, effective March 13, 2014, we issued to certain of our current investors 1,842,028 Series C-2 Preferred Stock and 1,640,924 Series C-2 preferred share warrants 
for gross proceeds of $5 million. The proceeds were allocated $2.8 million to the preferred shares and $2.3 million to the preferred warrants, based upon our most recent company 
valuation at the time of issuance. On April 14, 2014, these preferred shares and warrants were exchanged for 1,133,869 shares of common stock in the Merger. On April 14, 2014 
Petro-Hunt converted their $2 million convertible note from us to common shares at $8.00 per share or 250,000 shares of common stock, pursuant to certain rights arising in connection 
with the PIPE Investment.  
   
During 2013, cash provided by financing activities was $9.2 million, primarily due to the net proceeds of $12.1 million from a bundled sale transaction consisting of 4,462,968 shares 
of C-1 preferred stock, 6,337,494 shares of C preferred warrants and 3,975,718 shares of C-1 preferred warrants, which were subsequently exchanged for 2,956,812 shares in the 
Merger. Glori also received $18 thousand in proceeds from the issuance of common stock during the period. These financing activity inflows were partially offset by principal 
payments of $2.7 million primarily related to the monthly payments on Glori’s $8 million secured term promissory note which began in April 2013 and deferred offering cost payments 
made of $163 thousand primarily related to the C-1 financing transaction.  

   
During 2012, cash provided by financing activities was $19.1 million, primarily due to the issuance of series C preferred stock for $11.8 million in proceeds. Glori also received $7.6 
million in net proceeds from the issuance of the Hercules note, a secured promissory note, in mid-2012. In addition to the note proceeds, Glori received $195 thousand from Hercules in 
exchange for a warrant. These proceeds were partially offset by payments of $534 thousand made in 2012 for deferred offering costs.  
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

   
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, except for operating lease obligations presented in the table below.  
 
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments  
   
At December 31, 2014, we had contractual obligations and commercial commitments as follows (in thousands) :  
   

   

 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  
 
Commodities Risk  
 
Our major commodity price risk exposure is to the prices received for our oil production. Our results of operations and operating cash flows are affected by changes in market prices. 
Realized commodity prices received for our production are the spot prices applicable to oil in the region produced. Prices received for oil, condensate, and natural gas are volatile and 
unpredictable and are beyond our control. To mitigate a portion of the exposure to adverse market changes, we have entered into derivative instruments. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014, a 10% change in the prices received for oil, condensate, and natural gas production would have had an approximate $1.2 million impact on our revenues prior to 
commodity derivatives which mitigate our commodity pricing risk. See NOTE 8 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this report for additional 
information regarding our commodity derivative activities. Oil prices have decreased beyond 10% of our average 2014 price realization per barrel of oil equivalent as of December 31, 
2014; see Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion on commodity price 
volatility.  
 
Interest Rate Risk  
 
Our floating rate loan facilities expose us to interest rate risk. Our two major credit facilities outstanding are based on interest at a floating rates that are subject to increase based upon 
certain increases in the prime rate or LIBOR. Therefore upward fluctuations in interest rates expose us to additional interest payments. As of December 31, 2014, our total long-term 
debt was $19.2 million . An increase of 100 basis points in both the prime and LIBOR interest rate would have exposed us to an additional $172,000 of interest during 2014.  
 
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements provide our current expectations or forecasts of future events. Forward-looking 
statements include statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, intentions, assumptions and other statements that are not historical facts. Words or phrases such as 
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “will” or similar words or phrases, or the negatives of 
those words or phrases, may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Examples of 
forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our disclosure concerning Glori's proposed operations, cash flows, 
and financial position.  
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      Payments Due By Period  

            
Less  
Than                 

More  
Than  

Contractual Obligations     Total     1 Year     1-3 Years     3-5 Years     5 Years  

Operating lease obligations (1)     $ 703     $ 355     $ 348     $ —    $ — 
Asset retirement obligation (2)     1,329     —    287     655     387  
Long-term debt (3)     24,200     4,642     19,558     —    — 

Total     $ 26,232     $ 4,997     $ 20,193     $ 655     $ 387  

(1)  Our commitments for operating leases primarily relate to the leases of office and warehouse facilities in Houston, Texas and warehouse facilities in Gull Lake, Saskatchewan. 
(2)  Relates to our oil properties, net of accretion. 
(3)  Includes expected future interest payments. 
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MARKET, INDUSTRY AND OTHER DATA  
   
Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K concerning Glori’s industry and the markets in which Glori operates, including its general 
expectations and market position, market opportunity and market size, is based on information from various sources, on assumptions that it has made that are based on that information 
and other similar sources and on Glori’s knowledge of the markets for its services. That information involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to 
give undue weight to such estimates. While Glori believes that information from third-party sources used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is generally reliable, it has not 
independently verified the accuracy or completeness of this information. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of Glori’s future performance and the future performance 
of the industry in which Glori operates are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in “Risk Factors” and 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These and other factors could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties 
and by Glori.  
 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  
 
The financial statements and supplementary financial information required to be filed under this Item 8 are presented in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are 
incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  
 
None.  
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d- 15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective.  
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting. As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we 
completed the Merger on April 14, 2014. Prior to the Merger, GETI was a privately held company and therefore its controls were not required to be designed or maintained in 
accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. The design of public company internal controls over financial reporting for the Company following the Merger has required and will 
continue to require significant time and resources from our management and other personnel. As a result, management was unable, without incurring unreasonable effort or expense, to 
conduct an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. Therefore, we are excluding management’s report on internal control over financial 
reporting pursuant to Section 215.02 of the SEC’s Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations of Regulation S-K. In the future, management’s assessment of our internal control over 
financial reporting will include an evaluation of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies 
and our overall control environment.  
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an audit report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 by our registered 
public accounting firm as permitted due to our status as an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012.  
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2014, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Item 9B. Other Information  
 
None.  
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PART III  
 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers after the Business Combination  
   
The information concerning "Directors and Executive Officers after the Business Combination shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting 
of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation  
 
The information concerning "Executive Compensation" required by Item 11 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
and is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

   
The information concerning "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners" and "Management and Related Stockholder Matters" required by Item 12 shall be included in our 
Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  
 
The information concerning “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” required by Item 13 shall be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed 
relating to the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services  
 
The information concerning "Principal Accounting Firm Fees" required by Item 14 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2015 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.  
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PART IV  
 

SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly caused this report to be signed on our behalf by the undersigned, thereunto 
duly authorized.  
   

Date: March 12, 2015  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on our behalf on March 12, 2015 by the following Directors:  
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GLORI ENERGY INC.  

    
By:    /s/ Stuart Page  

     Stuart Page, President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director  

    
By:    /s/ Victor M. Perez  

     Victor M. Perez, Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial Officer  

    
By:    /s/ Harry Friske  

     Harry Friske, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer  

/s/ John U. Clarke           /s/ Mark Chess           /s/ Matthew Gibbs  

    John U. Clarke               Mark Chess               Matthew Gibbs  

          

/s/ Thomas O. Hicks           /s/ Ganesh Kishore           /s/ Mark B. Puckett  

    Thomas O. Hicks               Ganesh Kishore                Mark B. Puckett  

          

/s/ Damon L. Rawie           /s/ Jonathan Schulhof           /s/ Rocky Duckworth  

    Damon L. Rawie               Jonathan Schulhof               Rocky Duckworth  

                  

/s/ James C. Musselman                          

    James C. Musselman                          
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Glori Energy Inc.  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Glori Energy Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Glori Energy Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 
31, 2013 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  
   
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  
Houston, Texas  
 
March 12, 2015  
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GLORI ENERGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in thousands, except share and per share data)  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   As of December 31,  

   2013     2014  

            

ASSETS           
        

Current assets:           
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 20,867     $ 29,751  
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $80 and $0 as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, 
respectively  307     1,371  
Commodity derivatives  —    2,905  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  71     242  
Inventory  24     2  

Total current assets  21,269     34,271  
        

Property and equipment:           

 Proved oil and gas properties - successful efforts  3,141     45,694  
 Other property and equipment  4,892     5,941  

   8,033     51,635  
        

 Less: accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization  (5,223 )     (22,822 )  

Total property and equipment, net  2,810     28,813  
        

Commodity derivatives  —    2,891  
Deferred offering costs  378     — 
Deferred loan costs  162     490  
Deferred tax asset  —    970  

Total assets  $ 24,619     $ 67,435  

        

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY           
        

Current liabilities:           
Accounts payable  $ 534     $ 2,251  
Deferred revenues  1,753     653  
Accrued expenses  417     1,792  
Current portion of long-term debt  3,499     2,380  
Current deferred tax liability  —    970  

Total current liabilities  6,203     8,046  
        

Long-term liabilities:           
Long-term debt, less current portion  1,771     16,845  
Other long-term liabilities  449     1,329  

Total long-term liabilities  2,220     18,174  
Total liabilities  8,423     26,220  

        

Commitments and contingencies       
        

Stockholders' equity:           
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 22,450,688 and 31,499,303 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively  2     3  
Additional paid-in capital  61,609     105,383  
Accumulated deficit  (45,415 )     (64,171 )  

Total stockholders' equity  16,196     41,215  

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 24,619     $ 67,435  
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GLORI ENERGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(in thousands, except per share data)  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Revenues:                 

Oil and gas revenues  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,724  
Service revenues  1,718     2,643     4,135  

Total revenues  2,181     3,219     15,859  
            

Operating expenses:                 

Oil and gas operations  1,768     2,211     10,777  
Service operations  2,115     2,281     3,528  
Science and technology  1,459     1,682     1,868  
Selling, general and administrative  3,411     4,279     5,920  
Write-off of deferred offering costs  1,492     126     — 
Impairment of oil and gas properties  —    2,190     13,160  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  578     622     4,624  

Total operating expenses  10,823     13,391     39,877  
            

Loss from operations  (8,642 )     (10,172 )     (24,018 )  

            

Other (expense) income:                 

Interest expense  (480 )     (959 )     (3,023 )  

(Loss) gain on change in fair value of warrants  (506 )     592     2,454  
Gain on commodity derivatives  —    —    6,023  

Loss on change in fair value of derivative liability  (2,317 )     —    — 
Other income (expense)  5     (70 )     17  

Total other (expense) income, net  (3,298 )     (437 )     5,471  
            

Net loss before taxes on income  (11,940 )     (10,609 )     (18,547 )  

            

Income tax expense  —    —    209  
            

Net loss  $ (11,940 )     $ (10,609 )     $ (18,756 )  

            

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted  $ (11.32 )     $ (9.61 )     $ (0.65 )  

            

Weighted average common shares outstanding,  
basic and diluted  1,055     1,104     28,855  



Table of Contents  
 

GLORI ENERGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(in thousands, except share data)  
   

 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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      Stockholders' equity  

                      

                  Additional           Total  

      Common stock     paid-in     Accumulated     stockholders'  

      Shares     Par value     capital     deficit     equity  

                      

Balances as of January 1, 2012, as converted (See Note 3)     16,168,502     $ 2     $ 33,975     $ (22,866 )     $ 11,111  
Stock based compensation     —    —    291     —    291  
Change in fair value of warrant liability     —    —    701     —    701  
Common share issuance     19,680     —    227     —    227  
Share issuance, as converted (formerly C preferred shares, See Note 3)     3,226,691     —    11,786     —    11,786  
Net loss     —    —    —    (11,940 )     (11,940 )  

Balances as of December 31, 2012, as converted (see Note 3)     19,414,873     $ 2     $ 46,980     $ (34,806 )     $ 12,176  
Stock based compensation     —    —    774     —    774  
Change in fair value of warrant liability     —    —    1,347     —    1,347  
Termination of derivative liability     —    —    2,329     —    2,329  
Fair value of preferred shares in excess of proceeds     —    —    (1,938 )     —    (1,938 )  

Common share issuance, as converted     79,003     —    17     —    17  
Share issuance, as converted (formerly C-1 preferred shares and warrants, see Note 3)     2,956,812     —    12,100     —    12,100  
Net loss     —    —    —    (10,609 )     (10,609 )  

Balances as of December 31, 2013, as converted     22,450,688     $ 2     $ 61,609     $ (45,415 )     $ 16,196  
Stock based compensation     —    —    296     —    296  
Issuance, repurchase and cancellation of common shares     —    —    (30 )     —    (30 )  

Change in fair value of warrant liability     —    —    (2,454 )     —    (2,454 )  

Share issuance, as converted (formerly C-2 preferred shares and warrants, see Note 3)     1,133,869     —    5,049     —    5,049  
Recapitalization due to merger (see Note 3)     6,658,449     1     34,725     —    34,726  
Debt conversion to common stock     250,000     —    2,000     —    2,000  
Warrants exchanged for common shares     583,010     —    —    —    — 
Warrants exercised     423,287     —    4,188     —    4,188  
Net loss     —    —    —    (18,756 )     (18,756 )  

Balances as of December 31, 2014     31,499,303     $ 3     $ 105,383     $ (64,171 )     $ 41,215  
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GLORI ENERGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(in thousands)  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   Years ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

                

Net loss  (11,940 )     $ (10,609 )     $ (18,756 )  

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization of property and equipment  578     622     4,624  
Bad debt expense  —    80     — 
Stock-based compensation  291     774     296  
Amortization of deferred loan costs and other  57     156     439  
Accretion of end-of-term charge  48     96     96  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment  —    25     — 
Loss (gain) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities  506     (592 )     (2,454 )  

Accretion of discount on long-term debt  34     67     67  
Loss on change in fair value of derivative liabilities  2,317     —    — 
Unrealized gain on change in fair value of commodity derivatives  —    —    (5,796 )  

Write-off of deferred offering costs  1,492     126     — 
Impairment of oil and gas property  —    2,190     13,160  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 
Accounts receivable  141     (156 )     (1,087 )  

Prepaid expenses  (106 )     51     (171 )  

Inventory  (7 )     21     22  
Accounts payable  (761 )     (125 )     1,339  
Deferred revenues  362     758     (1,100 )  

Accrued expenses  121     (37 )     1,135  
Net cash used in operating activities  (6,867 )     (6,553 )     (8,186 )  

            

Cash flows from investing activities:                 
Purchase of proved oil and gas property  (1,370 )     (60 )     (41,353 )  

Purchase of other property and equipment  (962 )     (470 )     (1,009 )  

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,332 )     (530 )     (42,362 )  

            

Cash flows from financing activities:                 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, preferred stock and preferred warrants  12,038     12,118     5,019  
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  7,557     —    24,035  
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and stock options  —    —    4,188  
Proceeds from merger with Infinity Corp. including private placement of common stock  —    —    38,441  
Payments on long-term debt  (1 )     (2,676 )     (8,147 )  

Payments for deferred offering costs  (534 )     (163 )     (3,337 )  

Payments for deferred loan costs  —    (36 )     (767 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities  19,060     9,243     59,432  
            

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  9,861     2,160     8,884  
            

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  8,846     18,707     20,867  
            

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 18,707     $ 20,867     $ 29,751  

            

Non-cash financing and investing activities:                

Contribution of capital equal to fair value of derivative due to termination of derivative liability  $ —    $ 2,329     $ — 
Fair value of preferred stock and preferred warrants in excess of proceeds  —    (1,938 )     — 
Asset retirement obligation assumed      —    883  
Issuance of preferred stock in settlement of accrued expense  170     —    — 

                  
Supplemental cash flow information:                 

Interest paid  $ 271     $ 732     $ 2,990  
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GLORI ENERGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION, NATURE OF BUSINESS AND LIQUI DITY  

   
Glori Energy Technology Inc., a Delaware corporation (formerly Glori Energy Inc.) ("GETI"), was incorporated in November 2005 (as successor in interest to Glori Oil LLC) to 
increase production and recovery from mature oil wells using state of the art biotechnology solutions.  
 
In January 2014, GETI entered into a merger and share exchange agreement with Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation ("INXB") and certain of its affiliates, Glori Acquisition 
Corp., Glori Merger Subsidiary, Inc., and Infinity-C.S.V.C. Management Ltd., an INXB Representative. On April 14, 2014, the merger and share exchange agreement was closed and 
the merger was consummated. As a result of this transaction, Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation merged with and into Glori Acquisition Corp., with Glori Acquisition Corp. 
surviving the merger. Following that merger, Glori Merger Subsidiary, Inc. merged with and into GETI, with GETI surviving the merger. Following both of these mergers (collectively 
referred to herein as the "Merger"), GETI became the wholly-owned subsidiary of Glori Acquisition Corp., and Glori Acquisition Corp. adopted the name "Glori Energy Inc."  
   
In March 2014, GETI incorporated Glori Energy Production Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glori Holdings Inc., to purchase the Coke Field Assets (see NOTE 4 ) and incur the 
associated acquisition debt.  

   
Glori Energy Inc., GETI, Glori Oil (Argentina) Limited, Glori Oil S.R.L., Glori Canada Ltd., Glori Holdings Inc., Glori California Inc., OOO Glori Energy and Glori Energy 
Production Inc. are collectively referred to as the “Company” in the consolidated financial statements.  
   
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   

   
Principles of Consolidation  
   
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Glori Energy Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation.  
 
Use of Estimates  

   
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

   
Cash and Cash Equivalents  

   
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.  

   
Concentrations of Credit Risk  

   
The Company maintains its cash in bank deposits with financial institutions. These bank deposits, at times, exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits of $250,000 per 
depositor. The Company monitors the financial condition of the financial institutions and has not experienced any losses on such accounts. The Company is not party to any financial 
instruments which would have off-balance sheet credit or interest rate risk.  
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The Company derived service revenues from eight customers during 2012 , eleven customers during 2013 , and fifteen customers during 2014 . The following is a reconciliation of the 
customers that exceeded 10% of total service revenues in each of those periods:  
   

* Revenues were less than 10% for the period.  
   

Management does not believe that these customers constitute a significant credit risk.  
   
The Company had outstanding receivables related to service revenues from seven customers as of December 31, 2013 and four customers as of December 31, 2014 . The following is a 
reconciliation of the customers that exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable from service revenues as of each of these dates:  
 

* Receivables were less than 10% for the period.  
 
Oil and natural gas sales are made on a monthly basis or under short-term contracts at the current area market price. The Company would not expect that the loss of any purchaser 
would have a material adverse effect upon its operations. Additionally management does not believe any of our purchasers constitute a significant credit risk. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014 , there were two purchasers that accounted for 57% and 39% of total oil revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 , all of the Company’s oil 
production was bought by a single purchaser. The Company sells its natural gas to a different purchaser than that of its oil sales. Natural gas sales did not exceeded 10% of total oil and 
gas revenues for the year ended 2014 . Prior to 2014, the Company had no natural gas sales. At December 31, 2014 , the Company had a $ 900,000 receivable for December oil sales 
from a single oil purchaser.  
 
The Company also engages in NYMEX swaps with a third party company (See NOTE 8 ).  
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Percentage of service revenues  

Year ended December 31,  

Customer    2012    2013    2014  

A    12 %   14 %   *  
B    16 %   *    36 % 

C    15 %   —   — 
D    19 %   20 %   17 % 

E    12 %   *    — 
F    11 %   —   — 
G    *    20 %   — 
H    —   16 %   — 
I    *    —   10 % 

J    —   *    10 % 

      
Percentage of outstanding  

accounts receivable from service revenues December 31,  

Customer     2013     2014  

A     13%     —  

B     10%     —  

D     19%     —  

I     —     19%  

J     20%     —  

K     —     54%  

L     *     27%  

M     23%     —  
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Accounts Receivable  

   
Accounts receivable consists of amounts due in the ordinary course of business, from companies engaged in the exploration of oil and gas and from third party purchasers of the 
Company's oil and natural gas production. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and generally does not require collateral. Allowances are maintained for 
potential credit issues as they arise through management’s analysis of factors such as amount of time outstanding, customer payment history and customer financial condition. The 
Company has incurred inconsequential credit losses since inception.  

   
Inventory  

   
Inventory is stated at average cost and consists primarily of raw materials in the form of chemicals and finished goods that have been blended as part of the Company’s AERO nutrient 
system.  
 
Oil and Natural Gas Properties  
   
The Company follows the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby the cost to acquire mineral investments in oil and gas properties, to drill 
successful exploratory wells, to drill and equip development wells and to install production facilities are capitalized. Certain exploration costs, including unsuccessful exploratory wells 
and geological and geophysical costs, are charged to operations as incurred. The Company’s acquisition and development costs of proved oil and gas properties are amortized using the 
units-of-production method, at the field level, based on total proved reserves and proved developed reserves as estimated by independent petroleum engineers.  

   
Other Property and Equipment  

   
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the associated 
assets, and repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed, the cost and accumulated depreciation are 
removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations for the respective period.  
   
Depreciation and amortization for long-lived assets are recognized over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets by the straight-line method as follows:  
   

     
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
   
The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets, such as property, equipment and oil and gas properties, when events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate 
the carrying value of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The assessment of possible impairment is based on the Company’s ability to recover the carrying value of the 
asset or asset group from the expected future pre-tax cash flows (undiscounted) of the related operations. Individual assets are grouped for impairment purposes at the lowest level for 
which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets, generally on a field-by-field basis for oil and gas properties. If these cash 
flows are less than the carrying value of such asset, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between estimated fair value and carrying value.  
   
The Company deferred costs incurred for a planned initial public offering (“IPO”) of common stock prior to and during 2012 , including legal and other professional fees. The 
registration statement was withdrawn in 2012 due to market conditions, and as a result, the Company recorded a write-off of the deferred costs of $1,492,000 during 2012 .  
   
During 2013 , the Company had deferred offering costs for a C-1 preferred stock offering initially planned for the fourth quarter 2013 . These costs, in the amount of $126,000 , were 
written off as the Company abandoned the offering in pursuit of alternate financing through the Merger (see NOTE 3 ).  
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Laboratory and manufacturing facility     5 years or the remaining term of the lease, whichever is shorter  

         

Laboratory and field service equipment, office equipment and trucks     5 years  

         

Computer equipment     3 years  
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The Company impaired its proved-oil and gas properties for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 . The Company uses a discounted future cash flow approach based on 
the proved and probable reserves at estimated future prices based on the futures commodities prices less regional discounts to calculate the value of the reserves at fiscal year-end to 
perform the impairment analysis. The write off during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 was the result of a decline in proved reserves on the Company’s 2013 fiscal year end 
reserve report from the 2012 fiscal year end reserve report for the Etzold Field. The decline arose from the Company’s decision to abandon the development of proved undeveloped 
reserves in the field as results indicated these reserves would be uneconomic to produce. The impairment in 2014 was a result in a sharp decline in oil prices. The reduction in asset 
value of proved oil and gas properties of $ 2,190,000 and $ 13,160,000 represents the impairment amounts incurred in 2013 and 2014 , respectively, which are shown as impairment of 
oil and gas properties on the consolidated statement of operations.  
   
Derivatives  
 
The Company uses derivative instruments in the form of commodity price swaps to manage price risks resulting from fluctuations in commodity prices of oil associated with future 
production. These derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as assets or liabilities and the changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in 
current earnings. Fair value is assessed, measured and estimated by obtaining the NYMEX futures oil commodity pricing. Gains and losses on the valuation of derivatives and 
settlement of matured commodity derivatives contracts are included in gain (loss) on commodity derivatives in other income within the period in which they occur.  
   
Asset Retirement Obligation  
   
The Company recognizes the present value of the estimated future abandonment costs of its oil and gas properties in both assets and liabilities. If a reasonable estimate of the fair value 
can be made, the Company will record a liability for legal obligations associated with the future retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, 
development and/or normal operation of the assets. The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. The fair 
value is measured using expected future cash outflows (estimated using current prices that are escalated by an assumed inflation rate) discounted at the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-
free interest rate. The liability is then accreted each period until it is settled or the asset is sold, at which time the liability is reversed and any gain or loss resulting from the settlement 
of the obligation is recorded. The initial fair value of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized and subsequently depreciated or amortized as part of the carrying amount of the 
related asset. The Company has recorded asset retirement obligations related to its oil and gas properties. There are no assets legally restricted for the purpose of settling asset 
retirement obligations.  
   
Financial Instruments  
   
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payables, long-term debt, derivatives, and warrants. The carrying values of cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts receivable and payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. Derivatives are recorded at fair value (see NOTE 7 and NOTE 8 ).  
   
Net Loss Per Share  
   
Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. In periods that have income, basic net earnings per 
common share is computed under the two-class method per guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 260, Earnings per Share . The two-class method is an earnings 
allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating security according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation 
rights in undistributed earnings. Under the two-class method, basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings attributable to common shares after allocation of 
earnings to participating securities by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. However, in periods of net loss, participating securities other than 
common stock are not included in the calculation of basic loss per share because there is no contractual obligation for owners of these securities to share in the Company’s losses, and 
the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is computed using the two-class method or the if-converted method, whichever is more 
dilutive (see NOTE 10 ).  
   
Diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share for all periods presented because any potentially dilutive common shares were anti-dilutive. Such potentially dilutive 
shares are excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share when the effect would be to reduce net loss per share. Therefore, in periods when a loss is reported, the 
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share results in the same value.  
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Revenue Recognition  
   
Oil and natural gas revenues are recognized when production is sold to a purchaser at a fixed or determinable price, when delivery has occurred and title has transferred, and if 
collectibility of the revenue is probable. Revenues from natural gas production are recorded using the sales method. When sales volumes exceed the Company’s entitled share, 
production imbalance occurs. If production imbalance exceeds the Company’s share of the remaining estimated proved natural gas reserves for a given property, the Company records a 
liability. The Company has no significant gas imbalances as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 .  
   
Service revenues are recognized when all services are concluded in accordance with the contract. The Company’s service contracts typically include a single contract for each phase of 
service. During the initial phase known as Reservoir Analysis and Treatment Design (the “Analysis Phase”), the Company samples the target field and evaluates project feasibility and 
nutrient formulation by assessing field characteristics such as geology, microbial environment and geochemistry of the oil and water. The completion of the Analysis Phase contract 
typically coincides with the delivery of a report of findings to the customer at which point the Analysis Phase revenues are recognized. Once the viability of the AERO System is 
demonstrated in the Analysis Phase, a new contract is executed for the Field Deployment Phase. During the Field Deployment Phase the AERO System is initiated in the oil field to 
stimulate the indigenous microbes in the oil bearing reservoir. The Field Deployment Phase revenues are recognized ratably over the Field Deployment Phase injection work timeline.  
 
Previous to 2014, the majority of the Company’s revenues for AERO services were executed under a single contract which covered both Analysis Phase and Field Deployment Phase 
work. The single contract for both services resulted in lack of commercial evidence that the Analysis Phase services provided value on a stand-alone basis and thus both services were 
viewed as a single unit-of-accounting under ASC 605, Revenue Recognition: Multiple-Element Arrangements . In accordance with this guidance, the Company deferred revenue 
received in the Analysis Phase and recognize this revenue and the Field Deployment Phase revenue uniformly over the Field Deployment Phase injection timeline. Any termination of 
the project after the completion of the Analysis Phase would result in the immediate recognition of that portion of the revenues outlined in the contract.    

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014 , the Company had deferred revenues of approximately $1,753,000 and $653,000 respectively, pursuant to contracts requiring substantial future 
performance.  
 
Science and Technology  
   
The Company expenses all science and technology costs as incurred. The science and technology work performed predominantly relates to the Analysis Phase and the fees are 
primarily made up of employee compensation, lab supplies and materials, legal fees, and corporate overhead allocations.  
   
Income Taxes  
   
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method wherein deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and to net operating loss carry forwards, 
measured by enacted tax rates for years in which taxes are expected to be paid, recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets if, based on the 
weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  
   
The Company follows ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), which creates a single model to address accounting for the uncertainty in income tax positions and prescribes a minimum 
recognition threshold a tax position must meet before recognition in the consolidated financial statements.  
   
The Company’s tax years 2005 through 2014 remain open and subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and are open for examination until the expiration of 
statute of limitations under the IRS Code.  
   
Stock-Based Compensation  
   
Since the initiation of the 2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan, the Company has recorded all share-based payment expense associated with option awards in accordance with ASC 718, 
Compensation - Stock Compensation . Accordingly, the Company selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the most appropriate method to value option awards and 
recognizes compensation cost, as determined on the grant date, on a straight-line basis over the option awards’ vesting period.  
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   
FASB standards define fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for 
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The standard also establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to 
measure fair value:  
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
   
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable 
market data.  
   
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are financial instruments whose values are determined using pricing models, discounted cash 
flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation.  
   
If the inputs used to measure the financial assets and liabilities fall within more than one level described above, the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement of the instrument.  
   
Accounting for Sales Tax  
   
The Company uses the net method for accounting for sales taxes charged to customers and accordingly does not include sales or similar taxes as revenues; the Company does include 
sales and similar taxes paid as part of the cost of goods or services acquired.  
   
Deferred Offering Costs  
   
The Company has capitalized certain costs such as legal fees incurred related to the merger with Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Group (see NOTE 3 ).  
   
Reclassifications  
   
Certain 2012 and 2013 amounts related to oil and gas revenues, service revenues, oil and gas operations, service operations and depreciation, depletion and amortization have been 
reclassified for comparative purposes.  
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NOTE 3 - MERGER WITH INFINITY CROSS BORDER ACQUISIT ION CORPORATION  
 
On January 8, 2014, GETI executed the Merger with Infinity Cross Border Acquisition Corporation (“Infinity Corp.” - a special purpose acquisition company or blank check company 
publicly traded on NASDAQ) and certain of its affiliates. On April 14, 2014, the Merger was consummated. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger, in exchange for all of GETI's 
outstanding shares and warrants, Infinity Corp. issued 23,584,557 shares of common stock on a pro rata basis to the stockholders and warrant holders of GETI. GETI obtained effective 
control of Infinity Corp. subsequent to the Merger and thus the Merger was accounted as a reverse acquisition and recapitalization of GETI in accordance with ASC 805 - Business 
Combinations. Subsequent to the Merger, the GETI shareholders retained a substantial majority of voting interest and positions on the Board of Directors. Additionally GETI's 
management is retained and GETI's operations comprise the ongoing operations post-Merger.  
 
In the consolidated financial statements, the number of shares of common stock attributable to the Company is reflected retroactive to January 1, 2012 to facilitate comparability to 
prior periods. Accordingly, the number of shares of common stock presented as outstanding as of January 1, 2012 totals 16,168,502 which represents the number of common shares that 
were received for pre-Merger GETI preferred stock, common stock and warrants as of January 1, 2012 .  
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The following table ( in thousands, except share amounts ) presents the consolidated statements of temporary equity and stockholders' equity as if the Merger had occurred on 
January 1, 2012 . The beginning balances as of January 1, 2012 , shown in the table below, represent the Company's pre-Merger temporary equity and stockholders' equity previously 
stated as of January 1, 2012 . The balances as of January 1, 2012 , as converted, represent the post-Merger stockholders' equity received in exchange for the pre-Merger temporary 
equity and stockholders' equity at January 1, 2012 .  
 

    
Not shown in the above table is the pre-Merger issuance by GETI of common shares, preferred shares and warrants. On January 19, 2012, GETI issued 4,420,566 C preferred shares. 
These shares were exchanged for 3,226,691 shares of common stock in the Merger. During 2012, there were 57,071 common shares issued which were exchanged for 19,680 shares of 
common stock in the Merger. On April 30, 2013, GETI issued 4,462,968 C-1 preferred shares and 3,975,718 C-1 preferred warrants. These shares and warrants were exchanged for 
2,956,812 shares of common stock in the Merger. During 2013, there were 229,108 common shares issued which were exchanged for 79,003 shares of common stock in the Merger. 
On March 13, 2014, GETI issued 1,842,028 C-2 preferred shares and 1,640,924 C-2 preferred warrants. These shares and warrants were exchanged for 1,133,869 shares of common 
stock in the Merger.  
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   Temporary equity - convertible redeemable preferred stock     Stockholders' equity  

        

                                                        

                                                   Total                 Additional           Total  

   Series A Preferred     Series B Preferred     Series C Preferred     Series C-1 Preferred     temporary     Common stock     paid-in     Accumulated     stockholders'  

   Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     equity     Shares     Par value     capital     deficit     equity  

Balances as 
of January 
1, 2012  475,541     $ 12,709     2,901,052     $ 21,990     28,776,041     $ 7,888     —    $ —    $ 42,587     3,009,592     $ 1     $ —    $ (31,477 )     $ (31,476 )  

Reversal of 
pre-Merger 
temporary 
equity  (475,541 )     (12,709 )     (2,901,052 )     (21,990 )     (28,776,041 )     (7,888 )     —    —    (42,587 )     —    —    —    42,587     42,587  
Reversal of 
pre-Merger 
common 
shares  —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (3,009,592 )     (1 )     1     —    — 
Conversion 
of pre-
Merger 
shares to 
post Merger 
shares  —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    16,168,502     2     (2 )     —    — 
Segregate 
historical 
accumulated 
deficit from 
additional 
paid-in 
capital  —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    33,976     (33,976 )     — 
Balances as 
of January 
1, 2012, as 
converted  —    $ —    —    $ —    —    $ —    —    $ —    $ —    16,168,502     $ 2     $ 33,975     $ (22,866 )     $ 11,111  
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The following table shows the number of common stock of the Company issued and outstanding related to the consummation of the Merger:  
 

   
In connection with the Merger, the Company received approximately $24.7 million , net of certain expenses and fees, and approximately $13.7 million in cash from the private 
placement of 1,722,482 shares of common stock at $8.00 per share from Infinity Group, Hicks Equity Partners LLC and other investors. All of GETI’s previously outstanding common 
shares, preferred shares and warrants were exchanged for approximately 23,584,557 common shares in the newly merged entity, and accordingly, the Company no longer has liabilities 
for the fair value of such warrants and temporary equity previously reported in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Additionally on April 14, 2014 Petro-Hunt L.L.C. ("Petro-
Hunt") exercised its option to convert their $2.0 million receivable from the Company to common shares at $8.00 per share or 250,000 shares (see NOTE 9 ).  
 
In addition to the common stock issued in the Merger the Company has 5,321,700 warrants outstanding at December 31, 2014 to purchase common stock of the Company at a per share 
price of $10 which expire on July 19, 2017.  
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               Number of Shares  

            

            

Ordinary shares issued to Infinity Corp. founder shareholders  1,437,500  
Ordinary shares issued to Infinity Corp. shareholders  5,750,000  
Less: Ordinary shares redeemed  (2,351,533 ) 

Ordinary shares issued underwriter for UPO warrant conversion  100,000  
Ordinary shares issued for PIPE Investment (excluding Petro-Hunt portion of the PIPE Investment)  812,500  
Ordinary shares issued for PIPE Investment (Petro-Hunt portion of PIPE Investment)  250,000  
Ordinary shares issued for the optional PIPE Investment  909,982  
Ordinary shares issued to Glori Energy Inc. shareholders  23,584,557  

               30,493,006  
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NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
   
Property and equipment consists of the following ( in thousands ):  

(1) Includes impairment and excludes accretion of asset retirement obligation.  
 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization consists of the following ( in thousands ):  

 
On March 14, 2014, a subsidiary of the Company, Glori Energy Production Inc., acquired certain oil, gas and mineral leases in Wood County Texas (the “Coke Field Assets”) from 
Petro-Hunt L.L.C. (“Petro-Hunt”) for (i) $38.0 million in cash and a $2.0 million convertible note payable (see NOTE 9 ) to Petro-Hunt, subject to certain purchase price adjustments 
primarily for net revenues in excess of direct operating expenses of the property from January 1, 2014 through the closing date, March 14, 2014, and (ii) the assumption of the asset 
retirement obligation related to plugging and abandoning the Coke Field Assets.  
 
Of the total $39.2 million total purchase price of the Coke Field Assets, the Company recognized, at approximate fair market value, assets such as office equipment and trucks included 
in property and equipment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet of approximately $310,000 and items such as tubular stock of $327,000 classified in other property and 
equipment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The remaining purchase price balance was allocated to proved oil and gas properties in property and equipment on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. Also included in proved oil and gas properties, the Company recognized an asset associated with the asset retirement obligation (plugging and 
abandonment of wells) of $745,000 and an offsetting liability included in other long-term liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.  
 
In September 2014, the Company purchased additional oil, gas and mineral leases adjacent to the Coke Field Assets (the "Southwest Operating Assets"). The Company purchased the 
Southwest Operating Assets for $2,000,000 and assumed an asset retirement obligation of an estimated $138,000 .  
 
The Company has included revenues and expenses related to the Coke Field Assets for the period from March 14 through December 31, 2014 in the consolidated statement of 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 and for the acquisition of the Southwest Operating Assets September 1 through December 31, 2014. For this period, the revenues and 
net loss attributable to the Coke Field Assets and Southwest Operating Assets were $11,398,000 and $(7,061,000) , respectively. The net loss includes a $6,023,000 gain on commodity 
derivatives related to the Company's volume based production swaps (see NOTE 8 ) and loss on impairment of oil and gas properties of $12,707,000 .  
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   December 31,  

   2013     2014  

        

Proved oil and gas properties - successful efforts  $ 3,141     $ 45,694  
Construction in progress  902     589  
Laboratory and warehouse facility  591     640  
Laboratory and field service equipment  2,968     3,158  
Office equipment, computer equipment, vehicles and other  431     1,554  
   8,033     51,635  
        

Less:  accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (1)  (5,223 )     (22,822 )  

 Total property and equipment, net  $ 2,810     $ 28,813  

   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 457     $ 426     $ 523  
Depletion expense  103     177     3,960  
Accretion of asset retirement obligation  18     19     141  

Total depreciation, depletion, and amortization of property and equipment  $ 578     $ 622     $ 4,624  
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The following summary presents unaudited pro forma information for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 , as if the Coke Field acquisition had been 
consummated at January 1, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively ( in thousands, except per share amounts ):  
 

 
NOTE 5 – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  
   
The Company accounts for its asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) in accordance with ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations . The ARO liability reflects the 
estimated present value of the amount of dismantlement, removal, site  
reclamation, and similar activities associated with our oil and gas properties. The fair value of a liability for an ARO is required to be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a 
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made and the associated retirement costs can be capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. The Company determined its 
ARO by calculating the present value of the estimated cash flows related to the liability based upon estimates derived from management and external consultants familiar with the 
requirements of the retirement, and the ARO is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as an other long-term liability. The Company has not funded nor dedicated 
any assets to the retirement obligation.  
   
The liability is periodically adjusted to reflect (1) new liabilities incurred; (2) liabilities settled during the period; (3) accretion expense; and (4) revisions to estimated future plugging 
and abandonment costs.  
 
The following is a reconciliation of the liability as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 ( in thousands ):   
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Total revenues  $ 13,270     $ 14,308     $ 18,604  
Net loss  (10,528 )     (9,197 )     (19,111 )  

            

Net loss per common shares, basic and diluted  $ (9.98 )     $ (8.33 )     $ (0.66 )  

            

Weighted average shares outstanding:                 

Basic  1,055     1,104     28,855  
Diluted  1,055     1,104     28,855  

   December 31,  

   2013     2014  

Balance at the beginning of period  $ 228     $ 305  
Liabilities acquired during the period  —    883  
Accretion expense  19     141  
Revision in expected cash flows  58     — 

Balance at the end of the period  $ 305     $ 1,329  
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NOTE 6 – ACCRUED EXPENSES  

   
As of December 31, 2013 and 2014 , the significant components of accrued expenses reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows ( in thousands ):   

  

   
NOTE 7 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  
 
The following table summarizes the financial assets measured at fair value, on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 ( in thousands ):   

 
The Level 2 instruments presented in the table above consists of derivative instruments made up of commodity price swaps. The fair values of the Company's commodity derivative 
instruments are based upon the NYMEX futures value of oil less the contracted per barrel rate to be received. The Company records a liability associated with the futures contracts 
when the futures price of oil is greater than the contracted per barrel rate to be received and an asset when the futures price of oil is less than the contracted per barrel rate to be 
received.  
 
NOTE 8 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS  
 
The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage risks related to changes in oil prices. The Company is currently engaged in oil commodity price swaps where a fixed 
price is received for a portion of the Company's oil production. In return, the Company pays a floating price based upon NYMEX oil prices. Although these arrangements are designed 
to reduce the downside risk of a decline in oil prices on the covered production, they conversely limit potential income from increases in oil prices and expose the Company to the 
credit risk of counterparties. The Company manages the default risk of counterparties by engaging in these agreements with only high credit quality multinational energy companies 
and through the continuous monitoring of their performance.  
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   December 31,  

   2013     2014  

Accrued compensation and benefits  $ 158     $ 892  
Accrued end-of-term charge (See Note 9)  —    240  
Accrued interest  46     15  
Accrued taxes  46     223  
Accrued legal and professional fees  61     — 
Accrued royalties  —    164  
Accrued other  106     258  

   $ 417     $ 1,792  

   Fair value measurements using        

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

December 31, 2014                       

Short-term commodity derivatives, asset  $ —    $ 2,905     $ —    $ 2,905  
Long-term commodity derivatives, asset  —    2,891     —    2,891  

   $ —    $ 5,796     $ —    $ 5,796  
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As of December 31, 2014 the Company had the following open positions on its outstanding commodity derivative contracts:  
 

 
The derivative contracts are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet as assets or liabilities. The Company has not elected to designate any of these as derivative contracts 
for hedge accounting. Accordingly, for each reporting period the contracts are marked-to-market and the resulting unrealized changes in the fair value of the assets and liabilities are 
recognized on the consolidated statements of operations. The payables and receivables resulting from the closed derivative contracts result in realized gains and losses recorded on the 
Company's consolidated statements of operations. The unrealized and realized gains and losses on derivative instruments are recognized in the gain on commodity derivatives line item 
located in other (expense) income. As of December 31, 2014 the Company had a current asset for commodity derivatives of $2,905,000 and a long-term asset for commodity 
derivatives of $2,891,000 .  
 
The following tables summarize the unrealized and realized gain on commodity derivatives ( in thousands ):  
 

 
NOTE 9 - LONG TERM DEBT  
   
On June 11, 2012, the Company entered into a secured term promissory note in the amount of $8.0 million . The note contains a 10.0% annual interest rate subject to increase based 
upon an increase in the prime rate. The loan is secured by substantially all assets of the Company, with the exception of the Coke Field Assets. The lender also received a warrant to 
purchase shares of the Company’s stock, which was exchanged for 18,208 common shares upon consummation of the Merger. Equal monthly principal payments are due over 27 
months beginning in April 2013 through June 2015, plus an end of term charge of $280,000 . As of December 31, 2013 and 2014 , the ratable liability for the end of term charge was 
$144,000 and $240,000 , respectively, and it is included in other long-term liabilities and accrued expenses in current liabilities on the accompanying 2013 and 2014 consolidated 
balance sheets, respectively. The loan agreement contains covenants which place restrictions on the incurrence of debt, liens and capital expenditures. As of December 31, 2013 and 
December 31, 2014 the outstanding loan balance was $5,238,000 and $1,750,000 , respectively. The Company is in compliance with all the covenants as of December 31, 2014 . 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, all remaining principal and interest on the note was paid (See NOTE 16 ).  
   
On March 14, 2014 in connection with the closing of the acquisition of the Coke Field Assets, the Company entered into two financing agreements of $18.0 million and $4.0 million in 
order to fund a portion of the $38.0 million in cash required for the acquisition.  
   
The $18.0 million note is a senior secured term loan facility of Glori Energy Production Inc. and is secured by the Coke Field Assets and shares of common stock of Glori Energy 
Production Inc. The loan has a three year term bearing interest at 11.0% per annum, subject to increase upon a LIBOR rate increase above 1% . The credit agreement requires quarterly 
principal payments equal to 50% of the excess cash flows, as defined, from the Coke Field Assets during the first year and 75% thereafter subject to a minimum quarterly principal 
payment of $112,500 plus interest.  
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Period     Volume/Month (Bbls)     Price/Unit     Fair Value - Asset  

  

              

January 2015 - March 2015     8,400     $ 94.11     1,013,000  
April 2015 - March 2016     7,300     $ 86.50     2,447,000  
April 2016 - March 2017     6,550     $ 82.46     1,421,000  
April 2017 - March 2018     5,800     $ 80.53     915,000  

   Year ended December 31,  

   2014  

Unrealized gain on commodity derivatives  5,796  
Realized gain on commodity derivatives  227  

   6,023  
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The loan was funded net of closing costs of 2% , or $360,000 , which is included in deferred loan costs on the consolidated balance sheets and is being amortized over the loan term. 
The loan agreement contains covenants which place restrictions on Glori Energy Production’s ability to incur additional debt, incur other liens, make other investments, capital 
expenditures and the sale of assets.  
 
Commencing with the quarter ended June 30, 2014 , Glori Energy Production is also required to maintain certain financial ratios related to debt, working capital and proved reserves, 
all as defined in the loan agreement. In May and November of each year, in accordance with a procedure outlined in the loan agreement, the value of the collateral securing the note is 
redetermined based on engineering reserve reports submitted by Glori Energy Production. As of December 31, 2014 , the outstanding loan balance was $17,428,000 . Glori Energy 
Production Inc. is in compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2014 .  
   
The $4.0 million note has a two year term bearing interest at 12.0% per annum and is secured by the assets of the Company but is subordinated to existing Company debt. The loan was 
funded net of closing costs of 2% , or $80,000 , which were initially included in deferred loan costs on the consolidated balance sheet. The $4.0 million note principal and a $400,000 
prepayment penalty plus accrued interest was paid in full on May 13, 2014, and the related remaining deferred loan costs were expensed.  
   
On March 14, 2014, in connection with the purchase of the Coke Field Assets, a subsidiary of the Company, Glori Energy Production Inc., issued to Petro-Hunt an unsecured, 
subordinated convertible promissory note for $2.0 million bearing interest at 6.0% per annum. On April 14, 2014 the note was converted into 250,000 shares of post-Merger common 
stock.  
 
Maturities on long-term debt during the next three years are as follows ( in thousands ):  
   

   
NOTE 10 - LOSS PER SHARE  
   
The Company follows current guidance for share-based payments which are considered as participating securities. Share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to 
dividends, whether paid or unpaid, are designated as participating securities and are included in the computation of basic earnings per share. However, in periods of net loss, 
participating securities other than common stock are not included in the calculation of basic loss per share because there is not a contractual obligation for owners of these securities to 
share in the Company’s losses, and the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.  
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Year ended December 31,    Amount  

        

2015    $ 2,380  
2016    472  
2017    16,373  

     $ 19,225  
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share ( in thousands, except per share data ):  
  

 
The following weighted average securities outstanding during the periods below were not included in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding as they would have been anti-dilutive 
( in thousands ):  

 

 
   

NOTE 11 - INCOME TAXES  
   
At December 31, 2013 and 2014 , the Company had operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax reporting purposes of approximately $36.9 million and $51.9 million , 
respectively, which will begin to expire in the year 2025, net operating losses for state income tax reporting purposes of approximately $5.3 million and $5.7 million , respectively, 
which will begin to expire in 2021, and tax credits of approximately $450,000 which will begin to expire in 2027. The Net Operating Loss ("NOL") carry forward has been reduced by 
approximately $5.4 million because management estimates such amount of the loss carry forwards will expire due to limitations from changes in control.  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Numerator:                 

            

Net loss  $ (11,940 )     $ (10,609 )     $ (18,756 )  

            

Denominator:                 

            

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic  1,055     1,104     28,855  
Effect of dilutive securities  —    —    — 
Weighted-average common shares - diluted  1,055     1,104     28,855  
            

Net loss per common share - basic and diluted  $ (11.32 )     $ (9.61 )     $ (0.65 )  

   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Common stock warrants  —    —    4,895  
Common stock options  1,738     1,898     2,311  
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Income tax benefit for the periods presented differs from the U.S. Federal benefit calculated at the statutory income tax rate due to the following ( in thousands ):  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

      

Federal benefit at statutory income tax rate  $ (4,059 )     $ (3,607 )     $ (6,692 )  

R&D credits  —    (118 )     (83 )  

Non-deductible (taxable) expenses & other items  596     (17 )     (380 )  

State income taxes - net of federal benefit  (25 )     (19 )     (221 )  

Foreign income taxes  —    —    209  
Embedded derivative cancellation  —    797     — 
Change in valuation allowance  3,488     2,964     7,376  

Taxes on income  $ —    $ —    $ 209  



Table of Contents  
 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2013 and 2014 are as follows ( in thousands ):  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2013     2014  

            

Current deferred tax asset           
Deferred revenue and other  $ 410     $ 248  
Allowance for doubtful accounts  27     — 

   437     248  
Less Valuation allowance  (437 )     (225 )  

   —    23  
        

Current deferred tax liability           
Current portion of swap asset  —    993  

        

Current deferred tax liability, net  —    970  

        

Non-current deferred tax asset           
NOL carryforwards (long-term)  10,737     16,077  
R&D credits  367     450  
Other accrued expenses  22     — 
Stock compensation  129     154  
Depreciable property basis  556     740  
Oil and gas properties  104     4,040  

   11,915     21,461  
Less Valuation allowance  (11,915 )     (19,503 )  

   —    1,958  
        

Non-current deferred tax liability           
Non-current portion of swap asset  —    988  

Non-current deferred tax asset, net  —    970  

        

Total deferreds, net  $ —    $ — 
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations for the periods indicated are comprised of the following (in thousands): 

 
The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets increased by $7.4 million in 2014. In determining the carrying value of a deferred tax asset, accounting standards provide for the 
weighing of evidence in estimating whether and how much of a deferred tax asset may be recoverable. As we have incurred net operating losses in 2014 and prior years, relevant 
accounting guidance suggests that cumulative losses in recent years constitute significant negative evidence, and that future expectations about income are insufficient to overcome a 
history of such losses. Therefore, with the before-mentioned adjustment of $7.4 million , we have reduced the carrying value of our net deferred tax asset to zero . The valuation 
allowance has no impact on our net operating loss position for tax purposes, and if we generate taxable income in future periods, we will be able to use our NOLs to offset taxes due at 
that time. We will continue to assess the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets considering all available evidence obtained in future reporting periods.  
 
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places a limitation (the “Section 382 Limitation”) on the amount of taxable income that can be offset by an NOL after a change in control (typically, 
a greater than 50% change in ownership) of a loss corporation.    Generally, after a control change, loss corporations cannot deduct NOL carryforwards in excess of the Section 382 
Limitation.    
 
Management believes that the issuance of Series B Preferred Stock on October 15, 2009 has resulted in the Section 382 Limitation, and thereby the federal net operating loss carryovers 
have been reduced by the estimated effect.  
 
As of December 31, 2013 the Company had an uncertain tax position related to not filing Form 926 Return by a U.S. Transferor of Property to a Foreign Corporation in the amount of 
approximately $31,000 , for the tax years 2010 and 2011 and these forms would have reported cash transfers to support the operations of its subsidiary Glori Oil S.R.L. The Company 
has amended these returns and believes any liability will be abated and no longer has an uncertain tax position; accordingly, the Company has not recognized any liability in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company does not expect a material change to the consolidated financial statements related to uncertain tax positions in the next 
12 months . The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2013     2014  

      

Current tax provision (benefit):           

Federal  —    — 
Foreign  —    209  
State  —    — 

Total  $ —    $ 209  

        

Deferred tax provision (benefit):           

Federal  —    — 
Foreign  —    — 
State  —    — 

Total  $ —    $ — 

        

Total tax provision (benefit):           

Federal  —    — 
Foreign  —    209  
State  —    — 

Total  $ —    $ 209  
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NOTE 12 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN  
   
The Company sponsors an employee retirement saving plan (the “401(k) Plan”) that is intended to qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) Plan is 
designed to provide eligible employees with an opportunity to make regular voluntary contributions into a long-term investment and saving program. There is no minimum age or 
service requirement to participate, and the Company may make discretionary matching contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 , the Company made no 
discretionary matching contributions. For the year ended December 31, 2014 the Company made matching contributions of $67,000 .  
 
NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
   
Litigation  
   
From time to time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company is not a party to any material litigation or 
proceedings and is not aware of any material litigation or proceedings, pending or threatened against it.  
   
Commitments  
   
The Company leases two buildings in Houston, Texas and a warehouse facility in Gull Lake, Saskatchewan under operating leases. The Company has a two -year lease agreement for 
7,805 square feet of office space in Houston's Westchase District for $18,498 per month, with a one -year extension option at a 4% increase in rent and two one -year extension options 
at a to be mutually agreed upon market rate with the lessor. The Company's original Houston building lease, which contains office space, warehouse space and a laboratory, expires in 
May 2017 and is leased for $10,586 per month. The Saskatchewan warehouse is a month-to-month lease which rents for $1,000 per month CDN and is cancelable with 30 days ’ notice. 
   
Approximate minimum future rental payments under these noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2014 are as follows ( in thousands ):  

 
Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2013 , and 2014 , was $181,000 , $265,000 , and $291,000 , respectively.  
 
NOTE 14 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  
   
Stock Incentive Plan  
   
As a result of the Merger with Infinity Corp. which consummated on April 14, 2014 , the issued and outstanding stock options were canceled and reissued as stock options in the newly 
merged entity at a conversion ratio of 2.9 to 1.0 pre-Merger stock options to post-Merger stock options. The exercise price of the Glori stock options also increased by the same factor 
of 2.9 . All option disclosures in the note below are shown as converted using these factors. As of December 31, 2013 , the total common stock available for issuance pursuant to the 
Glori Oil Limited 2006 Stock Option and Grant Plan (the “Plan”) was 2,581,190 , as converted. As of April 14, 2014 , the plan was amended such that no further options would be 
issued.  
 
In December 2014 , the Company approved the adoption of the 2014 Long Term Incentive Plan ("the 2014 Plan") which authorized 2,000,000 shares to be available for issuance to 
officers, directors, employees, and affiliates of the Company. Options are issued at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date. 
Generally, the options vest 25 percent after one year , and thereafter ratably by month over the following 36 months , and may be exercised for a period of 10 years subject to vesting.   
 
Stock-based compensation expense is included primarily in selling, general and administrative expense and was $291,000 , $774,000 , and $296,000 for the years ended December 31, 
2012 , 2013 , and 2014 , respectively.  
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     Year ended December 31,  

        

2015    $ 356  
2016    295  
2017    53  

     $ 704  
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The Company has future unrecognized compensation expense for nonvested shares at December 31, 2014 of $246,000 which are maintaining weighted average vesting period of 1.6 
years .  
 
The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s plan related to stock options:  
 

 

 
The weighted-average grant date fair value for equity options granted during the year was $0.22 and $1.16 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 , respectively. The total fair 
value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2013 , and 2014 was $223,000 , $818,000 , and $303,000 , respectively.  
 
The Company has computed the fair value of all options granted during the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2013 and 2014 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the 
following assumptions:  
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Number  

of options     

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price per share     

Weighted  
average  

remaining  
contractual  
term (years)     Aggregate intrinsic value  

Outstanding - January 1, 2012, as converted  1,453,534     $ 1.02     8.4       

Awarded  301,026     3.34              

Forfeited or Expired (1)  (16,927 )     1.13              

Outstanding as of December 31, 2012  1,737,633     1.42     7.7    $ 3,339,000  
Awarded  913,853     1.16              

Exercised  (79,003 )     0.23           74,000  
Forfeited or Expired (1)  (250,303 )     1.86              

Outstanding as of December 31, 2013  2,322,180     0.81     7.7    782,000  
Awarded  7,103     1.16             

Exercised  (9,397 )     1.16          70,000  
Forfeited or Expired (1)  (19,836 )     1.16             

Outstanding as of December 31, 2014  2,300,050     $ 0.82     6.72    $ 7,725,000  

Exercisable as of December 31, 2014 (2)  2,099,345     $ 0.79     6.60    $ 7,119,000  

(1)  Management considers the circumstances generating these forfeitures to be unusual and nonrecurring in nature; accordingly, no allowance for forfeitures of options to purchase 
shares has been considered in determining future vesting or expense.  

(2)  The employee options shown as exercisable are subject to a one year lock up agreement pursuant to the terms of the Merger whereby these options, although fully vested, cannot 
be exercised until April 15, 2015, the day after the first anniversary of the Merger.  

   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Risk-free interest rate  0.87%     2.23%     2.44%  

Expected volatility  89%     55%     55%  

Expected dividend yield  —     —     —  

Expected life (in years)  4.47     7.09     7.00  

Expected forfeiture rate  —     —     —  
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NOTE 15 – SEGMENT INFORMATION  
   
The Company generates revenues through the production and sale of oil and natural gas (the “Oil and Gas Segment”) and through the Company’s services provided to third party oil 
companies (the “AERO Services Segment”). The Oil and Gas Segment produces and develops the Company’s acquired oil and natural gas interests and the revenues derived from this 
segment are from sales to the first purchaser.  
 
The Company currently uses three such arrangements, one for the Etzold Field located in Seward County, Kansas and one for natural gas and one for oil for the Coke and Quitman 
Fields located in Wood County, Texas.  
   
The AERO Services Segment derives revenues from external customers by providing the Company’s biotechnology solutions of enhanced oil recovery through a two -step process 
consisting of (1) the Analysis Phase and (2) the Field Deployment Phase.  
   
The Analysis Phase work is a reservoir screening process whereby the Company obtains field samples and evaluates the Company’s potential for AERO Services Segment success. 
This process is performed at the Company’s Houston laboratory facilities. The Science and Technology expenses shown on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations are 
the expenses that are directly attributable to the Analysis Phase and expenses associated with the Company’s on-going research and development of its technology.  
   
In the Field Deployment Phase, the Company deploys skid mounted injection equipment used to inject nutrient solution in the oil reservoir. The work in this phase is performed in oil 
fields of customers located in the United States and internationally and in the Company’s own oil fields. The service operations expense shown on the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations are the expenses that are directly attributable to the Field Deployment Phase.  
   
Earnings of industry segments exclude income taxes, interest income, interest expense and unallocated corporate expenses.  
   
Although the AERO Services Segment provides enhanced oil recovery services to the Oil and Gas Segment, the Company does not utilize intercompany charges. The direct costs of the 
services such as the injection solution, transportation of the solution and expenses associated with the injection are charged directly to the Oil and Gas Segment. All of the AERO 
Services Segment capital expenditures and depreciation associated with injection equipment is viewed as part of the AERO Services Segment.  
   
The following tables set forth summary financial data by operating segments ( in thousands ):  
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   Oil and Gas     AERO Services     Corporate     Total  

Year ended December 31, 2012                       

Revenues  $ 463     $ 1,718     $ —    $ 2,181  
                

Operating expenses  1,768     2,115     4,870     8,753  
Write-off of deferred offering costs  —    —    1,492     1,492  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  130     398     50     578  
Loss from operations  (1,435 )     (795 )     (6,412 )     (8,642 )  

                

Other expense  —    —    (3,298 )     (3,298 )  

Net loss  $ (1,435 )     $ (795 )     $ (9,710 )     $ (11,940 )  

                

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 2,957     $ 2,007     $ 76     $ 5,040  

Total assets  $ 2,957     $ 2,283     $ 19,237     $ 24,477  



Table of Contents  
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   Oil and Gas     AERO Services     Corporate     Total  

Year ended December 31, 2013                       

Revenues  $ 576     $ 2,643     $ —    $ 3,219  
                

Operating expenses  2,211     2,281     5,961     10,453  
Impairment of oil and gas properties  2,190     —    —    2,190  
Write-off of deferred offering costs  —    —    126     126  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  200     387     35     622  
Loss from operations  (4,025 )     (25 )     (6,122 )     (10,172 )  

                

Other expense  —    —    (437 )     (437 )  

Net loss  $ (4,025 )     $ (25 )     $ (6,559 )     $ (10,609 )  

                

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 658     $ 2,090     $ 62     $ 2,810  

Total assets  $ 658     $ 2,421     $ 21,540     $ 24,619  

   Oil and Gas (1)     AERO Services     Corporate     Total  

Year ended December 31, 2014                       

Revenues  $ 11,724     $ 4,135     $ —    $ 15,859  
                

Operating expenses  10,777     3,528     7,788     22,093  
Impairment of oil and gas property  13,160     —    —    13,160  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  4,188     404     32     4,624  
(Loss) income from operations  (16,401 )     203     (7,820 )     (24,018 )  

                

Other income (expense)  6,023     —    (552 )     5,471  
                

Taxes on income  —    —    209     209  

Net loss  $ (10,378 )     $ 203     $ (8,581 )     $ (18,756 )  

                

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 27,078     $ 1,636     $ 99     $ 28,813  

Total assets  $ 34,163     $ 1,789     $ 31,483     $ 67,435  

(1)  The Oil and Gas Segment for the year ended December 31, 2014 includes direct revenues and expenses not previously included in prior years related to the Coke Field Assets and 
the Southwest Operating Assets. Included in 2014 are revenues of $11,398,000 , operating expenses (including severance taxes) of $7,873,000 , depreciation, depletion and 
amortization of $3,902,000 and gain on commodity derivatives of $6,023,000 (included in other income (expense)) related to these acquisitions and impairment of oil and gas 
properties of $12,707,000 which are not included in the year ended December 31, 2013 or year ended December 31, 2012.  
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The following table shows the total revenue by geography ( in thousands ):  

 
NOTE 16 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
 
On March 2, 2015, the Company elected to prepay its entire remaining indebtedness to Hercules. The total payment was approximately $900,000 which included the end-of-term 
charge of $280,000 .  
 
NOTE 17 – SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION FOR OIL AND GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (Unaudited)  
   
Reserve Quantity Information  
   
For all years presented, the estimate of proved reserves and related valuations were based on reports prepared by the Company’s independent petroleum engineers.  
   
Proved reserve estimates included herein conform to the definitions prescribed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The estimates of proved reserves are inherently 
imprecise and are continually subject to revision based on production history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes and other factors.  
   
Proved reserves are estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable 
in future years from known reservoirs under economic and operating conditions existing as of the end of each respective year. Proved developed reserves are those that are expected to 
be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.  
 
The Company presents the volume disclosures below on an MBoe basis as the Company believes it's natural gas revenues and volumes are immaterial to it's overall oil and gas 
operations.  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Revenues                 

United States  $ 1,957     $ 2,201     $ 13,233  
Canada  224     952     2,220  
Other foreign countries  —    66     406  

Total revenues  $ 2,181     $ 3,219     $ 15,859  
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Presented below is a summary of the changes in estimated proved reserves of the Company, all of which are located in the United States, for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2014 :  

   
Quantities of Proved Reserves:  

   

 

   
Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves:  
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   Crude Oil  

   (MBoe)  

      

Proved Developed Reserves, December 31, 2012  160  
Production  (5 )  

Purchase of minerals in place (1)  75  
Revisions of previous estimates (2)  (127 )  

Proved Developed Reserves, December 31, 2012  103  
Production  (6 )  

Revisions of previous estimates (3)  (79 )  

Proved Developed Reserves, December 31, 2013  18  
Purchase of minerals in place (4)  1,792  
Production  (145 )  

Revisions of previous estimates (5)  (254 )  

Proved Developed Reserves, December 31, 2014  1,411  

(1)  In September 2012, the Company acquired a 100% working interest in a property adjacent to the Company’s previously leased property in Kansas, the Etzold Field. 
(2)  The Etzold field was developed in phases. During 2011 only the initial phase was operating and thus the reserves for the second phase were based on the results achieved in the 

initial phase. These reserve estimates declined as of December 31, 2012 since the second phase production results were not as economically favorable as the initial phase.  
(3)  Unfavorable production results on wells achieved in 2013 led to the Company's decision to abandon the proved developed behind pipe reserves as recent results indicated these 

reserves would be uneconomic to produce.  
(4)  Purchase of the Coke Field Assets on March 14, 2014 and the Southwest Operating Assets on September 1, 2014. 
(5)  The reserves revision is due to an increase in costs over our prior year reserve report. 

   Crude Oil  

   (MBoe)  

    

December 31, 2012     

Proved developed reserves  103  
Proved undeveloped reserves  — 

Total  103  

    

December 31, 2013     
Proved developed reserves  18  
Proved undeveloped reserves  — 

Total  18  

      
December 31, 2014     
Proved developed reserves  1,411  
Proved undeveloped reserves  — 

Total  1,411  
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Capitalized Costs Related to Oil and Gas Producing Activities  
 
 The following table presents the Company’s capitalized costs related to oil and gas producing activities at December 31, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands) :  

   

   

   
Costs Incurred in Oil and Gas Producing Activities  
   
The following table presents the net costs incurred in property acquisition, exploration and development activities for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands) :  
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   December 31,  

   2013     2014  

        

Unproved properties  $ —    $ 196  
Proved properties  3,141     45,694  
Total  3,141     45,890  
Less - accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (1)  (2,493 )     (19,612 )  

Net capitalized costs  $ 648     $ 26,278  

(1)  Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization includes the 2013 oil and gas property impairment of $2,190,000 and the 2014 impairment of $13,160,000 . 

   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Acquisition of properties  $ 139     $ —    $ 42,788  
            

Development  1,227     84     — 
            

Total costs incurred  $ 1,366     $ 84     $ 42,788  



Table of Contents  
 
Results of Operations from Oil and Gas Producing Activities  
   
The following table presents the Company’s results of operations from oil and gas producing activities for the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2013 and 2014 (in thousands) :  
 

    
Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows  
   
The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and gas reserves and the changes in standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows 
relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves were prepared in accordance with ASC 932, Extractive Activities – Oil and Gas . Future cash inflows as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 , 
were computed by applying average fiscal-year prices (calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within the 12-month periods 
ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 ) to estimated future production. Future production and development costs are computed by estimating the expenditures to be incurred in 
developing and producing the proved oil and natural gas reserves at year-end, based on year-end costs and assuming the continuation of existing economic conditions.  
   
Future income tax expense is calculated by applying appropriate year-end tax rates to future pretax net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves, less the tax basis of the 
properties involved. Future income tax expense gives effect to permanent differences, tax credits and loss carry forwards relating to the proved oil and natural gas reserves. Future net 
cash flows are discounted at a rate of 10% annually to derive the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows. This calculation does not necessarily result in an estimate of 
the fair value of the Company’s oil and gas properties.  
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   For the Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Revenues from oil and gas producing activities  $ 463     $ 576     $ 11,724  
            

Production costs  513     433     6,631  
Ad valorem taxes  15     42     438  
State severance taxes  21     26     547  
Impairment of oil and gas property  —    2,190     13,160  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  111     177     3,960  
Total expenses  660     2,868     24,736  

            

Pre-tax loss from producing activities  (197 )     (2,292 )     (13,012 )  

            

Income tax expense  —    —    — 
            

Results of oil and gas producing activities  $ (197 )     $ (2,292 )     $ (13,012 )  
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Presented below is the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows (in thousands) :  

   
 

   
The following reconciles the changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows (in thousands) :  
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

Future cash inflows  $ 9,087     $ 1,603     $ 133,235  
Future production and development costs                 
Production  (5,203 )     (896 )     (86,032 )  

Development  (721 )     —    — 
Future cash flows before income taxes  3,163     707     47,203  
Future income taxes  (225 )     —    — 
Future net cash flows after income taxes  2,938     707     47,203  
10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows  (1,150 )     (146 )     (17,111 )  

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows  $ 1,788     $ 561     $ 30,092  

   Year ended December 31,  

   2012     2013     2014  

            

Balance, beginning of year  $ 1,020     $ 1,788     $ 561  
Changes from:                 

Sales, net of production costs  65     (101 )     (4,108 )  

Net changes in prices and production costs  (1,233 )     (15 )     2,445  
Changes in estimated future development costs  (596 )     (655 )     — 
Development costs incurred during the year, previously estimated  1,031     —    — 
Revisions to quantity estimates  (770 )     (638 )     (8,044 )  

Accretion of discount  245     56     56  
Purchases of reserves in place  1,351     —    38,211  
Net changes in income taxes  (164 )     (65 )     — 
Changes in timing of cash flows and other  839     191     971  

Balance, end of year  $ 1,788     $ 561     $ 30,092  
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NOTE 18 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS (Una udited)  
 
Unaudited quarterly operating results were as follows ( in thousands; except per share data ):  

 
1) Quarterly loss per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the quarter. Because of changes in the number of shares outstanding during the 
quarters, due to the exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock, the sum of quarterly losses per share may not equal loss per share for the year.  
 
2) As a result of the Merger with Infinity Corp., which consummated on April 14, 2014, the issued and outstanding common stock was canceled and reissued as common stock in the 
newly merged entity at a conversion ratio of 2.9 pre-Merger common stock to 1 post-Merger common stock. For the periods prior to the Merger, the above table reflects the common 
stock as converted to post-Merger common stock using this ratio.  
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   2013 (Quarter ended)  

   March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31  

   (Unaudited)  

  Net revenues  $ 724     $ 935     $ 775     $ 785  
  Loss from operations  (2,028 )     (1,821 )     (1,766 )     (4,557 )  

  Net loss applicable to stockholders  (2,308 )     (2,074 )     (825 )     (5,402 )  

  Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (1)  $ (2.17 )     $ (1.92 )     $ (0.73 )     $ (4.76 )  

  Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted (2)  1,064     1,078     1,136     1,136  
                

   2014 (Quarter ended)  

   March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31  

   (Unaudited)  

  Net revenues  $ 1,002     $ 5,556     $ 5,458     $ 3,843  
  Loss from operations  (2,796 )     (1,880 )     (1,633 )     (17,709 )  

  Net loss applicable to stockholders  (684 )     (6,060 )     (356 )     (11,656 )  

  Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (1)  $ (0.60 )     $ (0.20 )     $ (0.01 )     $ (0.37 )  

  Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted (2)  1,137     29,642     31,475     31,499  
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Code of Ethics and Business Conduct  

The good name and reputation of Glori Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries (individually and collectively, the " Company ") are a result of the hard work and dedication of all of us. 
Together, we are responsible for preserving and enhancing this reputation.  

Set forth in the following pages are the Company's Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the " Code "), which has been approved by our Board of Directors. The purpose of 
the Code is to provide guidance and set common ethical standards that you must adhere to on a consistent basis. All employees, officers and directors are expected to comply 
with the policies set forth in this Code. Read the Code carefully and make sure that you understand it and the consequences of non-compliance. The Code should also be 
provided to and followed by (to the extent applicable) the Company's agents and representatives, including consultants. However, this Code is not a contract of employment, 
express or implied, between any individual and the Company. Any employee remains "at will," which means that either the employee or the Company may end the employment 
relationship at any time without cause.  

Because the principles described in this Code are general in nature, you should also review all applicable Company policies and procedures for more specific instruction and 
contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer if you have any questions.  

The Code will not provide an answer to all questions or situations that may arise. If you have a question that the Code does not address directly, you should use your own 
common sense of what is right, based on the standards set forth in the Code, and seek appropriate guidance from others or any other resources identified in the Code. In all 
cases, if you are unsure about the appropriateness of an event or action, please seek assistance in interpreting the requirements of these practices by contacting the Chief 
Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

The Company's success is due in large part to the integrity of our employees, officers and directors. As such, our goal is not just to simply comply with the laws and regulations 
that apply to our business; we also strive to abide by the highest standards of business conduct. We all have a duty to honor the policies and principles contained in this Code 
and stay true to our values. We look forward to your cooperation in this important matter.  

Sincerely,  

Stuart M. Page  
Chief Executive Officer  

PUTTING THE CODE OF ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT TO WORK  

About the Code  

This Code covers a wide range of business practices and procedures. Although the Code does not cover every issue that may arise, it does set forth basic principles to guide 
all employees, officers and directors of the Company. All employees, officers and directors must conduct themselves accordingly and seek to avoid even the appearance of 
improper behavior.  

Your rights as an employee and the Company's rights as an employer are governed by the laws of the country of employment, the work rules of your employing unit and your 
individual written employment contract, if any. Nothing in this Code or in any company policies and procedures, or in other related communications (verbal or written), creates 
or implies an employment contract or an assurance of continued employment. Employees are "at will," which means that either the employee or the Company may end the 
employment relationship at any time without cause.  

We are committed to continuously reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. Therefore, this Code is subject to modification. The Company has the sole discretion to 
change, modify, suspend, interpret, or cancel in whole or in part, any statement or provision in this Code, without advance notice. This Code supersedes all other such codes, 
policies, procedures, instructions, practices, rules or written or verbal representations to the extent they are inconsistent.  

Please sign the acknowledgment form at the end of this Code indicating that you have received, read, understand and agree to comply with the Code. A copy of the signed 
acknowledgment form will also be filed in your personnel file.  

Meeting Our Shared Obligations  

Each of us is responsible for knowing and understanding the policies and guidelines contained in the following pages. If you have questions, ask them; if you have ethical 
concerns, raise them. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are available to answer your questions and provide guidance and are the officers to whom 
you should report suspected misconduct. Our conduct should reflect the Company's values, demonstrate ethical leadership, and promote a work environment that upholds the 
Company's reputation for integrity, ethical conduct and trust.  
   

RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR ORGANIZATION  

Compliance with Laws and Regulations  

Obeying the law, both in letter and in spirit, is the foundation on which the Company's ethical standards are built. All employees, officers and directors must respect and obey all 
applicable laws and regulations in every jurisdiction where the  
Company conducts business. Although not all employees, officers and directors are expected to know the details of these laws and regulations, it is important to know enough 
to determine when to seek advice from supervisors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. If there is a conflict between applicable laws or between local law 
and a policy set forth in this Code, you should consult with the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer before taking any action.  

Conflicts of Interest  

Employees, officers and directors of the Company are expected to dedicate their best efforts to advancing the Company's interests and to make decisions that affect the 
Company based on the Company's best interests, independent of outside influences. Employees, officers, and directors have the obligation to avoid actual or perceived ethical, 
legal, financial, or other conflicts of interest and to ensure that their activities and interests do not conflict with their obligations to the Company or its welfare.  



A conflict of interest occurs when your private interests interfere, or even appear to interfere, with the interests of the  
Company. A conflict situation can arise when you take actions or have interests that make it difficult for you to perform your Company work objectively and effectively. Your 
obligation to conduct the Company's business in an honest and ethical manner includes the ethical handling of actual, apparent and potential conflicts of interest between 
personal and business relationships. This includes full disclosure of any actual, apparent or potential conflicts of interest as set forth below.  

Special rules apply to executive officers and directors who engage in conduct that creates an actual, apparent or potential conflict of interest. Before engaging in any such 
conduct, executive officers and directors must make full disclosure of all facts and circumstances to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer, who shall inform 
and seek the prior approval of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. In addition, directors should follow any procedures relating to conflicts of interest set forth in the 
Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines.  

Although we cannot list every conceivable conflict, what follows are some common examples of actual, apparent and potential conflicts of interest. If you are involved in a 
conflict situation that is not described below, you should discuss your particular situation with your supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Improper Personal Benefits from the Company  

Conflicts of interest arise when an employee, officer or director, or a member of his or her family, receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position in the 
Company, including the rules set forth in the Company's Policy Governing Related Person Transactions. You may not accept any benefits from the Company that have not 
been duly authorized and approved pursuant to Company policy and procedure, including any Company loans or guarantees of your personal obligations. The Company will 
not make any personal loans to nor guarantee the personal obligations of directors and executive officers.  

Financial Interests in Other Businesses  

You may not own an interest in any company that competes with the Company. You may not own an interest in a company that does business with the Company (such as a 
Company customer or supplier) without the prior written approval of the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board 
member, the Chairman of the Audit Committee). However, it is not typically considered a conflict of interest (and therefore, prior approval is not required) to have an interest 
with a total value of no more than five percent (5%) of your annual compensation in competitors, customers or suppliers that are listed on a national or international securities 
exchange.  

Business Arrangements with the Company  

Without prior written approval from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board member, by the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee), you may not participate in a joint venture, partnership or other business arrangement with the Company.  

Outside Employment or Activities with a Competitor  

Simultaneous employment with or serving as a director of a competitor of the Company is strictly prohibited, as is any activity that is intended to or that you should reasonably 
expect to advance a competitor's interests. You may not market products or services in competition with the Company's current or potential business activities. It is your 
responsibility to consult with the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board member, with the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee) to determine whether a planned activity will compete with any of the Company's business activities before you pursue the activity in question.  

Outside Employment with a Customer or Supplier  

Without prior written approval from the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board member, from the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee), you may not be a customer or be employed by, serve as a director of or represent a customer of the Company. Similarly, without such prior written approval, you 
may not be a supplier or be employed by, serve as a director of or represent a supplier to the Company. You may not accept money or benefits of any kind as compensation or 
payment for any advice or services that you may provide to a client, supplier or anyone else in connection with its business with the Company.  

Charitable, Government and Other Outside Activities  

The Company encourages all employees to participate in projects and causes that further the welfare of our local communities. However, you must obtain the prior written 
approval of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board member, by the Chairman of the Audit Committee) before serving 
as a director or trustee of any charitable, not-for-profit, for-profit, or other entity or before running for election or seeking appointment to any government-related position.  

Family Members Working in the Industry  

You may find yourself in a situation where your spouse or significant other, your children, parents, in-laws, or someone else with whom you have a close familial relationship, is 
a competitor, supplier or customer of the Company or is employed by one. Such situations are not prohibited, but they call for extra sensitivity to security, confidentiality and 
conflicts of interest.  

There are several factors to consider in assessing such a situation. Among them: the relationship between the Company and the other company; the nature of your 
responsibilities as a Company employee and those of the other person; and the access each of you has to your respective employer's confidential information. Such a situation, 
however harmless it may appear to you, could arouse suspicions among your associates that might affect your working relationships. The very appearance of a conflict of 
interest can create problems, regardless of the propriety of your behavior.  

To remove any such doubts or suspicions, you must disclose your specific situation to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or 
board member, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee) to assess the nature and extent of any concern and how it can be resolved. In some instances, any risk to the 
Company's interests is sufficiently remote that you may only be reminded to guard against inadvertently disclosing Company confidential information and not to be involved in 
decisions on behalf of the Company that involve the other company.  

Corporate Opportunities  

Employees and directors have a duty to the Company to advance its legitimate interests when the opportunity to do so arises. If you learn of a business or investment 
opportunity through the use of corporate property or information or your position at the Company, such as from a competitor or actual or potential customer, supplier or 
business associate of the Company, you may not participate in the opportunity or make the investment without the prior written approval of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief 
Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer, the Chairman of the Audit Committee). Such an opportunity should be considered an investment opportunity for the 
Company in the first instance. You may not use corporate property or information or your position at the Company for improper personal gain, and you may not compete with 
the Company.  

Entertainment, Gifts and Gratuities  

Receipt of Gifts and Entertainment  

When you are involved in making business decisions on behalf of the Company, your decisions must be based on uncompromised, objective judgment. Employees interacting 
with any person who has business dealings with the Company (including suppliers, customers, competitors, contractors and consultants) must conduct such activities in the 



best interest of the Company, using consistent and unbiased standards. We must never accept gifts or other benefits if our business judgment or decisions could be affected.  

You must never ask for gifts, entertainment or any other business courtesies from people doing business with the Company. Unsolicited gifts and business courtesies, such as 
meals and entertainment, are permissible if they are customary and commonly accepted business courtesies, not excessive in value and given and accepted without an 
express or implied understanding that you or the Company are in any way obligated by your acceptance of the gift. Gifts that are extravagant in value or unusual in nature 
should not be accepted without the prior written approval of your supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board 
member, by the Chairman of the Audit Committee).  

Gifts of cash or cash equivalents or other financial assets or services (including gift certificates, securities, below-market loans, etc.) in any amount are prohibited and must be 
returned promptly to the donor or declined.  

Offering Gifts and Entertainment  

When you are providing a gift, entertainment or other accommodation in connection with Company business, you must do so in a manner that is in good taste and without 
excessive expense. You may not furnish or offer to furnish any gift that is of more than token value or that goes beyond the common courtesies associated with accepted 
business practices. You should follow the above guidelines for receiving gifts in determining when it is appropriate to give gifts and when prior written approval is required.  

Our suppliers and customers likely have gift and entertainment policies of their own. You must be careful never to provide a gift or entertainment that violates the other 
company's gift and entertainment policy.  

What is acceptable in the commercial business environment may be entirely unacceptable in dealings with the government. There are strict laws that govern providing gifts, 
including meals, entertainment, transportation and lodging, to government officials and employees. You are prohibited from providing gifts or anything of value to government 
officials or employees or members of their families in connection with Company business without prior written approval from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial 
Officer (or if you are an executive officer or board member, from the Chairman of the Audit Committee). For more information, see the section of this Code regarding Interacting 
with Government.  

Giving or receiving any payment or gift in the nature of a bribe or kickback is absolutely prohibited.  

Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets  

We each have a duty to protect the Company's assets and ensure their efficient use. Theft, carelessness and waste have a direct impact on the Company's profitability. We 
should take measures to prevent damage to and theft or misuse of Company property. Upon termination of employment with the Company under any circumstances, voluntary 
or involuntary, all employees shall immediately return and deliver to the Company all Company property, including but not limited to equipment, correspondence, manuals, 
letters, notes, notebooks, lists, printouts, contracts, writings of any kind, computer programs, software, and any other document concerning the Company's and its clients' 
customers, candidates, prospects, businesses, or business affairs, and promptly deliver to the Company any and all other documents or materials containing or constituting the 
Company's confidential information. Except as specifically authorized, Company assets, including Company time, equipment, materials, resources and proprietary information, 
must be used for legitimate business purposes only.  

Company Books and Records  

It is Company policy to make full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations in all reports and documents that 
the Company files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission and in all other public communications made by the Company.  

The integrity of the Company's accounting books and records is essential. You must complete all Company documents accurately, truthfully, and in a timely manner, including 
all travel and expense reports. When applicable, documents must be properly authorized. You must record the Company's financial activities in compliance with all applicable 
laws and accounting practices and with the Company's system of internal controls over financial reporting. The making of false or misleading entries, records or documentation 
is strictly prohibited. You must never create a false or misleading report or make a payment or establish an account on behalf of the Company with the understanding that any 
part of the payment or account is to be used for a purpose other than as described by the supporting documents. In addition, accurate documentation in reasonable detail must 
support all transactions. This applies to all transactions, large or small. Thus, the preparation of travel and expense reports and time sheets, the posting of sales data and the 
recording of significant capital improvements or investments all require the same degree of accuracy and transparency. In addition, no employee shall unduly or fraudulently 
influence, coerce, manipulate or mislead any authorized audit or interfere with any auditor engaged in the performance of an internal or independent audit of the Company's 
financial statements or accounting books and records for the purpose of rendering the Company's financial statements misleading.  

Record Retention  

In the course of its business, the Company produces and receives large numbers of records. Numerous laws require the retention of certain Company records for various 
periods of time. The Company is committed to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations relating to the preservation of records. The Company's policy is to identify, 
maintain, safeguard and destroy or retain all records in the Company's possession on a systematic and regular basis. Under no circumstances are Company records to be 
destroyed selectively or to be maintained outside Company premises or designated storage facilities, except in those instances where Company records may be temporarily 
brought home by employees working from home in accordance with approvals from their supervisors or applicable policies about working from home or other remote locations.  

If you learn of a subpoena or a pending or contemplated litigation or government investigation, you should immediately contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief 
Financial Officer. You must retain and preserve ALL records that may be responsive to the subpoena or relevant to the litigation or that may pertain to the investigation until you 
are advised by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer as to how to proceed. You must also affirmatively preserve from destruction all relevant records that 
without intervention would automatically be destroyed or erased (such as e-mails and voicemail messages). Destruction of such records, even if inadvertent, could seriously 
prejudice the Company. If you have any questions regarding whether a particular record pertains to a pending or contemplated investigation or litigation or may be responsive 
to a subpoena or regarding how to preserve particular types of records, you should ask the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer for advice.  

Confidential Information  

All employees may learn, to a greater or lesser degree, facts about the Company's business, plans, operations or "secrets of success" that are not known to the general public 
or to competitors. Such sensitive, confidential information includes all ideas, materials, information, data, methods, or plans developed or used by or in the possession of the 
Company, whether pertaining to or belonging to the Company or its clients or vendors, which is not generally known to or by other businesses in the relevant industry or trade, 
or that might be of use to competitors or harmful to the Company or its customers if disclosed. Examples of confidential information or trade secrets include all information 
regarding the Company's and its clients' or vendors' financial affairs, marketing, business strategies, pricing, products, computer programs, software, specifications, properties, 
manufacturing processes, services, customers and employees' addresses, histories, contacts, terms, compensation, placements, or any other customer and employee 
information contained in the Company's or its customer's files.  

You must maintain the confidentiality of information entrusted to you by the Company or its customers, except when disclosure is authorized or legally mandated. Employees 
who possess or have access to confidential information or trade secrets must:  



Non-Disclosure Agreements are commonly used when the Company needs to disclose confidential information to suppliers, consultants, joint venture participants, or others. A 
Non-Disclosure Agreement puts the person receiving confidential information on notice that he or she must maintain the secrecy of such information. If, in doing business with 
persons not employed by the Company, you foresee that you may need to disclose confidential information, you should contact the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial 
Officer and discuss the utility of entering into a Non-Disclosure Agreement.  

Your obligation to treat information as confidential does not end when you leave the Company. Upon the termination of your employment, you must return everything that 
belongs to the Company, including all documents and other materials containing Company and customer confidential information. You must not disclose confidential 
information to a new employer or to others after ceasing to be a Company employee.  

You may not disclose your previous employer's confidential information to the Company. Of course, you may use general skills and knowledge acquired during your previous 
employment.  

Insider Trading  

As described in more detail in the Company's Insider Trading Compliance Policy, you are prohibited by Company policy and the law from buying or selling securities of the 
Company at a time when in possession of material nonpublic information. (There is, however, an exception for trades made pursuant to certain pre-existing, pre-approved 
trading plans, discussed in the Insider Trading Compliance Policy.) This conduct is known as "insider trading." Passing such information on to someone who may buy or sell 
securities – known as "tipping" – is also illegal. The prohibition applies to Company securities and to securities of other companies if you learn material nonpublic information 
about other companies, such as the Company's customers, in the course of your duties for the Company.  

Do not disclose material nonpublic information to anyone, including co-workers, unless the person receiving the information has a legitimate need to know the information for 
purposes of carrying out the Company's business. If you leave the Company, you must maintain the confidentiality of such information until it has been adequately disclosed to 
the public by the Company. If there is any question as to whether information regarding the Company or another company with which we have dealings is material or has been 
adequately disclosed to the public, contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Please read the Company's Insider Trading Compliance Policy and seek guidance from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer if you have any questions.  

Trademarks, Copyrights and Other Intellectual Prope rty  

Trademarks  

Our logos and the name Glori Energy are examples of Company trademarks. You must always properly use our trademarks and advise your supervisor, the Chief Executive 
Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of infringements by others. Similarly, the trademarks of third parties must be used properly. Any questions concerning trademark laws 
should be directed to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Copyright Compliance  

Works of authorship such as books, articles, drawings, computer software and other such materials may be covered by copyright laws. It is a violation of those laws and of the 
Company's policies to make unauthorized copies of or derivative works based upon copyrighted materials. The absence of a copyright notice does not necessarily mean that 
the materials are not copyrighted.  

The Company licenses the use of much of its computer software from outside companies. In most instances, this computer software is protected by copyright. You may not 
make, acquire or use unauthorized copies of computer software. Any questions concerning copyright laws should be directed to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief 
Financial Officer.  

Intellectual Property Rights of Others  

It is Company policy not to infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others. When using the name, trademarks, logos or printed materials of another company, including 
any such uses on the Company's websites, you must do so properly and in accordance with applicable law.  

Computer and Communication Resources  

The Company's computer and communication resources, including computers, voicemail and e-mail, provide substantial benefits but they also present significant security and 
liability risks to you and the Company. It is extremely important that you take all necessary measures to secure your computer and any computer or voicemail passwords. If you 
have any reason to believe that your password or the security of a Company computer or communication resource has in any manner been compromised, you must change 
your password immediately and report the incident to your supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

When you are using Company resources to send e-mail, voicemail or to access Internet services, you are acting as a representative of the Company. Any improper use of 
these resources may reflect poorly on the Company, damage its reputation, and expose you and the Company to legal liability.  

All of the computing resources used to provide computing and network connections throughout the organization are the property of the Company and are intended for use by 
Company employees to conduct the Company's business. All e-mail, voicemail and personal files stored on Company computers are Company property. You should therefore 
have no expectation of personal privacy in connection with these resources. The Company reserves all rights, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to review any messages 
and information sent or received using Company resources for compliance with Company policy. Incidental and occasional personal use of electronic mail and telephones is 
permitted but such use should be minimized as these messages cost the Company in both productive time and money.  

You should not use Company resources in a way that may be disruptive or offensive to others or unlawful. At all times when sending e-mail or transmitting any other message 
or file, you should not transmit comments, language, images or other files that you would be embarrassed to have read by any person. Remember that your "private" e-mail 
messages are easily forwarded to a wide audience. In addition, do not use these resources in a wasteful manner. Unnecessarily transmitting messages and other files wastes 
not only computer resources, but also the time and effort of each employee having to sort and read through his or her own e-mail.  

Use of computer and communication resources must be consistent with all other Company policies, including those relating to harassment, privacy, copyright, trademark, trade 
secret and other intellectual property rights.  

Responding to Inquiries from the Press and Others  

•  Not use the information for their own benefit or the benefit of persons inside or outside of the Company. 

•  Carefully guard against disclosure of that information to people outside the Company. For example, you should not discuss such matters with family members or 
business or social acquaintances or in places where the information may be overheard, such as taxis, public transportation, elevators or restaurants.  

•  Not disclose confidential information to another Company employee unless the employee needs the information to carry out business responsibilities. 



Company employees who are not official Glori Energy spokespersons may not speak with the press, members of the financial community, stockholders or groups or 
organizations as a Company representative or about Company business unless specifically authorized to do so by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. 
Only the following Glori Energy employees are authorized to communicate with members of the media, the press, the financial community, stockholders or the public in 
response to requests for financial or other information about the Company: the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or any other 
person(s) designated by the Chief Executive Officer. Requests for information from regulators or any government agency should be referred to the Chief Executive Officer or 
the Chief Financial Officer.  

FAIR DEALING  

The Company depends on its reputation for quality, service and integrity. The way we deal with our customers, competitors and suppliers molds our reputation, builds long-term 
trust and ultimately determines our success. You should endeavor to deal fairly with the Company's customers, suppliers, competitors and employees. We must not take unfair 
advantage of others through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, intentional misrepresentation of material facts or any other unfair dealing or practice.  

Antitrust and Competition Laws  

While the Company competes vigorously in all of its business activities, its efforts in the marketplace must be conducted in accordance with all applicable antitrust and 
competition laws. Each of the countries in which the Company does business has antitrust or competition laws that must be observed. While it is impossible to describe 
antitrust and competition laws fully in any code of business conduct, this Code will give you an overview of the types of conduct that are particularly likely to raise concerns. If 
you are or become engaged in activities similar to those identified in the Code, you should consult the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer for further guidance. 

Conspiracies and Collaborations among Competitors  

One of the primary goals of the antitrust laws is to promote and preserve each competitor's independence when making decisions on price, output and other competitively 
sensitive factors. Some of the most serious antitrust offenses are agreements between competitors that limit independent judgment and restrain trade, such as agreements to 
fix prices, restrict output or divide a market for customers, territories, products or purchases. You should not agree with any competitor on any of these topics, as these 
agreements are virtually always unlawful. (In other words, in most situations, no excuse will absolve you or the Company of liability.)  

Unlawful agreements need not take the form of a written contract or even express commitments or mutual assurances. Courts can -- and sometimes do -- infer agreements 
based on "loose talk," informal discussions, or the mere exchange between competitors of information from which agreements on pricing or other collusion could result. Any 
communication with a competitor's representative, no matter how innocuous it may seem at the time, may later be subject to legal scrutiny and form the basis for accusations of 
improper or illegal conduct. You should take care to avoid involving yourself in situations from which an unlawful agreement could be inferred.  

By bringing competitors together, trade associations and standard-setting organizations can raise antitrust concerns, even though such groups serve many legitimate goals. 
The exchange of sensitive information with competitors regarding topics such as prices, profit margins, output levels, or billing or advertising practices can potentially violate 
antitrust and competition laws, as can creating a standard with the purpose and effect of harming competition. You must notify the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial 
Officer before joining any trade associations or standard-setting organizations. Further, if you are attending a meeting at which potentially competitively sensitive topics are 
discussed without oversight by an antitrust lawyer, you should object, leave the meeting, and notify the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer immediately.  

Joint ventures with competitors are not necessarily illegal under applicable antitrust and competition laws. However, like trade associations, joint ventures present potential 
antitrust concerns. The Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer should therefore be consulted before negotiating or entering into such a venture.  

Distribution Issues  

Relationships with customers and suppliers can also be subject to a number of antitrust prohibitions if these relationships harm competition. For example, it can be illegal for a 
company to affect competition by agreeing with a supplier to limit that supplier's sales to any of the company's competitors. Collective refusals to deal with a competitor, 
supplier or customer may be unlawful as well. While a company generally is allowed to decide independently that it does not wish to buy from or sell to a particular person, 
when such a decision is reached jointly with others, it may be unlawful, regardless of whether it seems commercially reasonable. Finally, it can be unlawful to restrict a 
customer's reselling activity by imposing a cap or floor on the price the customer charges for resale (for example, by prohibiting discounts), if those restrictions harm 
competition.  

Other activities that can raise antitrust concerns are:  
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Because these activities are prohibited under many circumstances, you should consult the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer before implementing any of 
them.  

Penalties  

Failure to comply with the antitrust laws could result in jail terms for individuals and large criminal fines and other monetary penalties for both the Company and individuals. In 
addition, private parties may bring civil suits.  

Antitrust and competition laws are extremely complex. Because such lawsuits can be very costly, even when a company has not violated the law and is cleared in the end, it is 
important to consult with the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer before engaging in any conduct that even appears to create the basis for an allegation of 
wrongdoing. It is far easier to structure your conduct to avoid erroneous impressions than to have to explain your conduct in the future when an antitrust investigation or action 
is in progress. For that reason, when in doubt, consult the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer with your concerns.  

Gathering Information about the Company's Competito rs  

•  discriminating in terms and services offered to customers where a company treats one customer or group of customers differently than another; 

•  exclusive dealing agreements where a company requires a customer to buy from or a supplier to sell to only that company; 

•  tying arrangements where a customer or supplier is required, as a condition of purchasing one product, also to purchase a second, distinct product; 

•  "bundled discounts," in which discount or rebate programs link the level of discounts available on one product to purchases of separate but related products (for 
example, pencils linked to other office supplies); and  

•  "predatory pricing," where a company offers a discount that results in the sales price of a product being below the product's cost (the definition of cost varies depending 
on the court), with the intention of sustaining that price long enough to drive competitors out of the market and at least a reasonable prospect of being able to recoup 
the lost profit after the competitors are driven from the market.  



It is entirely proper for us to gather information about our marketplace, including information about our competitors and their products and services. However, there are limits to 
the ways that information should be acquired and used, especially information about competitors. In gathering competitive information, you should abide by the following 
guidelines:  
   

The improper gathering or use of competitive information could subject you and the Company to criminal and civil liability. When in doubt as to whether a source of information 
is proper, you should contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR PEOPLE  

Respecting One Another  

The way we treat each other and our work environment affects the way we do our jobs. All employees want and deserve a work place where they are respected and 
appreciated. Everyone who works for the Company must contribute to the creation and maintenance of such an environment, and supervisors and managers have a special 
responsibility to foster a workplace that supports honesty, integrity, respect and trust.  

Employee Privacy  

We respect the privacy and dignity of all individuals. The Company collects and maintains personal information that relates to your employment, including medical and benefit 
information. Special care is taken to limit access to personal information by Company personnel with a need to know such information for a legitimate purpose in compliance 
with all applicable laws. Employees who are responsible for maintaining personal information and those who are provided access to such information must not disclose private 
information in violation of applicable law or in violation of the Company's policies.  

No employee has an expectation of privacy on Company premises regarding his or her personal effects brought onto Company premises. The Company reserves the right, at 
all times, to conduct searches at random, based on reasonable suspicion, or at the Company's discretion without prior announcement. However, you as an employee should 
not search for or retrieve items from another employee's workspace without prior approval of that employee or management. Similarly, you should not use communication or 
information systems to obtain access to information directed to or created by others without the prior approval of management, unless such access is part of your job function 
and responsibilities at the Company.  

Personal items, messages or information that you consider to be private should not be placed or kept in telephone systems, computer or electronic mail systems, office 
systems, offices, work spaces, desks, credenzas, or file cabinets. The Company reserves all rights, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to inspect such systems and areas 
and to retrieve information or property from them when deemed appropriate in the judgment of management.  

Equal Employment Opportunity and Nondiscrimination  

The Company is committed to the principle of equal opportunity in employment. The Company does not permit discrimination or retaliation on the basis of race, color, religion, 
sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions), national origin, military or veteran status, disability, age, sexual orientation, genetic information, marital 
status or filing a charge of discrimination, participating in an investigation, or opposing discriminatory practices, or any other category protected by federal, state or local law, in 
any aspect of employment, including: hiring and firing; compensation, assignment, or classification of employees; transfer, promotion, layoff, or recall; job advertisements; or 
recruitment; testing; use of company facilities; training and apprenticeship programs; fringe benefits; pay, retirement plans, and disability leave; or any other terms and 
conditions of employment. Any employee who violates this policy will be subject to disciplinary or corrective action up to and including termination.  

You must treat all Company people, customers, suppliers and others with respect and dignity  

Sexual and Other Forms of Harassment  

The Company is committed to providing a workplace that is free from conduct of a harassing nature. Any such harassment is against Company policy, could be a form of illegal 
discrimination, and will not be tolerated. Any employee who violates this policy will be subject to disciplinary or corrective action up to and including termination.  

Harassment includes conduct, whether verbal or physical, that degrades or shows hatred or hostility toward an individual because of his/her actual or perceived sex (including 
pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions), sexual orientation, marital status, military status, race, color, religion, national origin, age, disability, or filing a charge of 
discrimination, participating in an investigation, or opposing discriminatory practices, or any other reason prohibited by federal, state or local law, which:  

 

 

Sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:  
 

 

 

•  We may gather information about our competitors from sources such as published articles, advertisements, brochures, other non-proprietary materials, surveys by 
consultants and conversations with our customers, as long as those conversations are not likely to suggest that we are attempting to (a) conspire with our competitors, 
using the customer as a messenger, or (b) gather information in breach of a client's nondisclosure agreement with a competitor or through other wrongful means. You 
should be able to identify the source of any information about competitors.  

•  We must never attempt to acquire a competitor's trade secrets or other proprietary information through unlawful means, such as theft, spying, bribery or breach of a 
competitor's nondisclosure agreement.  

•  If there is any indication that information that you obtain was not lawfully received by the party in possession, you should refuse to accept it. If you receive any 
competitive information anonymously or that is marked confidential, you should not review it and should contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer 
immediately.  

•  If a third party consultant offers to provide information about our competitors' practices (or about industry practices arising out of a survey of our competitors), in 
exchange for our participating in a survey about industry practices, you should contact the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer before agreeing to 
participate. In certain situations, it is permissible to provide historical information to a third party who compiles the information for use by market participants, but in other 
situations, courts have found that the exchange of information was in effect an implicit agreement among competitors that was forbidden by the antitrust laws.  

•  has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment; 

•  has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance; or 

•  otherwise adversely affects an individual's employment opportunities. 

•  submission to such conduct is made a term or condition of employment; 

•  submission to or rejection of such conduct is used as a basis for employment decisions; or 



 
Discrimination and Harassment: Reporting Responsibi lities and Procedures  

If you believe that you have been subjected to discrimination, harassment, or retaliation of any kind, you should promptly report the incident to your supervisor, the Chief 
Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. Likewise, any employee witnessing discrimination, harassment, or retaliation directed at other employees must immediately 
report such incidents to his or her supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Complaints of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation will be investigated promptly and will be kept confidential to the extent reasonably possible. The Company will not in 
any way retaliate against any employee for making a good faith complaint or report of harassment or cooperating in the investigation of such a complaint or report.  

The Company encourages the prompt reporting of all incidents of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, regardless of who the offender may be, or the offender's 
relationship to the Company. This procedure should also be followed if you believe that a non-employee with whom you are required or expected to work has engaged in 
prohibited conduct. Supervisors must promptly report all complaints of harassment to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Remember that, regardless of legal definitions, the Company expects employees to interact with each other in a professional and respectful manner.  

Safety in the Workplace  

It is the Company's policy to comply with all safety laws, rules, and regulations in an effort to provide employees with a safe and healthy work environment. Employees of the 
Company have a responsibility to comply with all applicable laws and regulations regarding safe design, construction, maintenance, and operation of Company facilities and 
equipment. It is the responsibility of every employee to perform his or her work and to conduct the Company's operations in a safe manner.  

Weapons and Workplace Violence  

Employees are prohibited from possessing weapons of any kind on Company premises, including in Company owned or leased vehicles. The term "weapon" includes firearms, 
whether carried with license or not, concealed or not, as well as any potentially dangerous object not customarily used in the performance of job duties. This prohibition extends 
to any time an employee is working, regardless of work location. However, if an employee holds a concealed handgun license or otherwise lawfully possess a firearm, that 
employee may transport or store such firearm in a locked, privately owned vehicle in the parking area in accordance with the Texas Labor Code. Violation of this rule will 
subject an employee to immediate termination. No exceptions to this policy prohibiting weapons shall be made unless in writing signed by the Chief Executive Officer or the 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company.  

Threats, threatening behavior, acts of violence against Company employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals or willful damage to property within the Company premises 
will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy may lead to disciplinary or corrective action up to and including termination. In addition, the Company reserves the right to report 
any such behavior to the appropriate law enforcement officials and pursue the prosecution of the offenses.  

Drugs and Alcohol  

It is the policy of the Company that employees shall not be involved in the use, consumption, possession, sale, distribution or transfer of any drugs, narcotics, or alcoholic 
beverages while on Company property. An employee shall not report to work under the influence of drugs or alcohol, which may impair, in any manner, his or her ability to 
safely and efficiently perform assigned job duties; and which may adversely affect the Company's business or reputation. Any amount of drugs or alcohol is prohibited under 
the Company's zero tolerance policy. Violation of this policy will subject the employee to instant termination.  

INTERACTING WITH GOVERNMENT  

Prohibition on Gifts to Government Officials and Em ployees  

Different governments have different laws restricting gifts, including meals, entertainment, transportation and lodging, that may be provided to government officials and 
government employees. You are prohibited from providing gifts, meals or anything of value to government officials or employees or members of their families in connection with 
Company business without prior written approval from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Political Contributions and Activities  

Laws of certain jurisdictions prohibit the use of Company funds, assets, services, or facilities on behalf of a political party or candidate. Payments of corporate funds to any 
political party, candidate or campaign may be made only if permitted under applicable law and approved in writing and in advance by the the Chief Executive Officer or the 
Chief Financial Officer.  

Your work time may be considered the equivalent of a contribution by the Company. Therefore, unless required by applicable  
law, you will not be paid by the Company for any time spent running for public office, serving as an elected official, or campaigning for a political candidate. Nor will the 
Company compensate or reimburse you, in any form, for a political contribution that you intend to make or have made.  

Bribery of Government Officials  

Company policy, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA"), and the laws of many other countries prohibit the Company and its officers, employees and agents from 
giving or offering to give money or anything of value to a foreign official, a foreign political party, a party official or a candidate for political office in order to influence official acts 
or decisions of that person or entity, to obtain or retain business, or to secure any improper advantage. A foreign official is an officer or employee of a government or any 
department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, or of certain international agencies, such as the World Bank or the United Nations, or any person acting in an official capacity on 
behalf of one of those entities. Officials of government-owned corporations are considered to be foreign officials.  

Payments need not be in cash to be illegal. The FCPA prohibits giving or offering to give "anything of value." Over the years, many non-cash items have been the basis of 
bribery prosecutions, including travel expenses, golf outings, automobiles, and loans with favorable interest rates or repayment terms. Indirect payments made through agents, 
contractors, or other third parties are also prohibited. Employees may not avoid liability by "turning a blind eye" when circumstances indicate a potential violation of the FCPA.  

The FCPA does allow for certain permissible payments to foreign officials. Specifically, the law permits "facilitating" payments, which are payments of small value to effect 
routine government actions such as obtaining permits, licenses, visas, mail, utilities hook-ups and the like. However, determining what is a permissible "facilitating" payment 
involves difficult legal judgments. Therefore, employees must obtain permission from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer before making any payment or 
gift thought to be exempt from the FCPA.  

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS  

The Board of Directors has implemented a process by which stockholders may send written communications to the attention of the Board of Directors, any committee of the 
Board of Directors or any individual Board member, care of the Chief Financial Officer at 4315 South Drive, Houston, Texas 77053. This centralized process will assist the 

•  such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, offensive or hostile work 
environment.  



Board of Directors in reviewing and responding to stockholder communications in an appropriate manner. The name of any specific intended Board of Directors recipient should 
be noted in the communication. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer will be primarily responsible for collecting, organizing and monitoring 
communications from stockholders and, where appropriate depending on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communication, providing copies of such communications 
to the intended recipients. Communications will be forwarded to directors if they relate to appropriate and important substantive corporate or Board matters. Communications 
that are of a commercial or frivolous nature or otherwise inappropriate for the Board of Directors' consideration will not be forwarded to the Board of Directors. Any 
communications not forwarded to the Board of Directors will be retained for a period of 12 months, and made available to any of the Company's directors upon their request to 
view such communications. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer will provide all nonforwarded communications to the Chairman of the 
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee at least once in each year.  
 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CODE  

Responsibilities  

While each of us is individually responsible for putting the Code to work, we need not go it alone. The Company has a number of resources, people and processes in place to 
answer our questions and guide us through difficult decisions.  

Copies of this Code are available from the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

Seeking Guidance  

This Code cannot provide definitive answers to all questions. If you have questions regarding any of the policies discussed in this Code or if you are in doubt about the best 
course of action in a particular situation, you should seek guidance from your supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or the other resources identified 
in this Code.  

Reporting Violations  

If you know of or suspect a violation of applicable laws or regulations, the Code, or the Company's related policies, you must immediately report that information to your 
supervisor, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  

If you are uncomfortable with the options described above, you may confidentially report violations by using one of the processes described in the Company's Whistleblower 
Policy. If desired, you do not need to disclose your identity. All inquiries will be forwarded to an appropriate party for investigation so that the Company may review each inquiry. 

No one will be subject to retaliation because of a good faith report of suspected misconduct.  

Investigations of Suspected Violations  

All reported violations will be promptly investigated and treated confidentially to the extent reasonably possible. It is imperative that reporting persons not conduct their own 
preliminary investigations. Investigations of alleged violations may involve complex legal issues, and acting on your own may compromise the integrity of an investigation and 
adversely affect both you and the Company.  

Discipline for Violations  

The Company intends to use every reasonable effort to prevent the occurrence of conduct not in compliance with its Code and to halt any such conduct that may occur as soon 
as reasonably possible after its discovery. Subject to applicable law and agreements, Company personnel who violate this Code and other Company policies and procedures 
may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. If the violator is an executive officer or director of the Company, the matter will be presented to the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors which will determine and recommend to the Board of Directors the appropriate disciplinary measures to be taken. The disciplinary 
measures, which may be invoked at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or Board of Directors, include, but are not limited to, counseling, oral 
or written reprimands, warnings, probation or suspension without pay, demotions, reductions in salary, termination of employment and restitution.  
 
Persons subject to disciplinary measures shall include, in addition to the violator, others involved in the wrongdoing such as (i) persons who fail to use reasonable care to 
detect a violation, (ii) persons who refuse to divulge information which may be material to the investigation of a violation and (iii) supervisors who approve or condone the 
violations or attempt to retaliate against employees or agents for reporting violations or violators.  

Waivers of the Code  

The Company will waive application of the policies set forth in this Code only where circumstances warrant granting a waiver.  
Waivers of the Code for directors and executive officers may be made only by the Board of Directors as a whole or the Audit Committee of the Board and will be promptly 
disclosed to stockholders as required by law or the regulations of any exchange upon which the Company's securities are listed.  

No Rights Created  

This Code is a statement of the fundamental principles and key policies and procedures that govern the conduct of the Company's business. It is not intended to and does not 
create any obligations to or rights in any employee, director, client, supplier, competitor, stockholder or any other person or entity.  

Remember  

Ultimate responsibility to ensure that we as a Company comply with the many laws, regulations and ethical standards affecting our business rests with each of us. You must 
become familiar with and conduct yourself strictly in compliance with those laws, regulations and standards and the Company's policies and guidelines pertaining to them.  

Annual Review and Acknowledgement  

From time to time, you may be asked to review the Code and acknowledge your personal commitment to compliance with the Code and other legal requirements for business 
conduct by completing the attached acknowledgment. In addition, new employees will be required to complete the acknowledgment upon hiring.  

ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM  

I have received the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the "Code"). I have also received training on the Code, and I understand its contents. I agree to comply fully with the 
standards, policies and procedures contained in the Code and the Company's related policies and procedures. I understand that I have an obligation to report any suspected 
violations of the Code of which I am aware. I acknowledge that the Code is a statement of policies for business conduct and does not, in any way, constitute an employment 
contract or an assurance of continued employment.  

________________________ Printed Name  



________________________ Signature  

________________________ Date  

 



 
Exhibit 23.1 

   
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

   
We have issued our report dated March 12, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of Glori Energy Inc. on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2014. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of the aforementioned report in the Registration Statements of Glori Energy Inc. on Forms S-8 (File 
No. 333-201282 and File No. 333-198288) and Form S-3 (File No. 333-196381).  

   
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  

   
Houston, Texas  
March 12, 2015  
 
 
 
 



 

  
Collarini Associates  
3100 Wilcrest Drive, Suite 140  
Houston, Texas 77042  
Tel. (832) 251-0160  
www.collarini.com  

Fax (504) 887-7162909 Poydras St., Suite 1450  
New Orleans, Louisiana 70112  
Office: 504-522-9077  
Fax: 504-522-9097  

www.collarini.com  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
March 12, 2015  
 
 
Glori Energy Inc.  
10350 Richmond, Suite 850  
Houston, Texas 77042  
 
 
We hereby consent to the references to our firm in the form and context in which they appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Glori Energy Inc. We 
hereby further consent to the use in such Annual Report of information contained in our report, dated January 1, 2015, relating to certain leasehold and royalty 
interests of Glori Energy Inc. in and related to Shuck Field, Etzold Unit, located in Seward County, Kansas. We hereby further consent to the inclusion of the 
aforementioned report as an exhibit to such Annual Report.  
 
 
Very truly yours,  
COLLARINI ASSOCIATES  

  
Mitch Reece, P.E.  
President  
 
 
MCR/ldp  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Collarini Engineering Inc.  
Texas Board of Professional Engineers Registration F-5660  
 



 

  
 



 
 

Exhibit 31.1 
GLORI ENERGY INC.  

Certification Required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

 

I, Stuart Page, Chief Executive Officer of Glori Energy Inc., certify that:  
 

 

 

 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information 
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 12, 2015  

  

/s/ Stuart Page  

Stuart Page  

Chief Executive Officer  



 
 

Exhibit 31.2 
GLORI ENERGY INC.  

Certification Required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

 

I, Victor M. Perez, Chief Financial Officer of Glori Energy Inc., certify that:  
 

 

 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information 
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrants other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 12, 2015  

  

/s/ Victor M. Perez  

Victor M. Perez  

Chief Financial Officer  



 
Exhibit 32.1 

GLORI ENERGY INC.  

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 

In connection with the Annual Report of Glori Energy Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 

the date hereof, I, Stuart Page, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my 

knowledge, that:  

 

 
Dated: March 12, 2015  

 

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Stuart Page  

Stuart Page  

Chief Executive Officer  



 
Exhibit 32.2 

GLORI ENERGY INC.  

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 

In connection with the Annual Report of Glori Energy Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 

the date hereof, I, Victor Perez, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge, 

that:  

 

 
Dated: March 12, 2015  

 

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Victor Perez  

Victor Perez  

Chief Financial Officer  



 
 

 
 

    

  

  

      

Forecast of Production  
and Reserves  

  

in and related to  
  

Shuck Field, Etzold Unit  
  

located in  
Seward County, Kansas  

  

for  
  

Glori Holdings Inc.  
  

January 1, 2015  
    

   Collarini Associates 
  



 
 

  
Collarini Associates  
3100 Wilcrest Drive, Suite 140  
Houston, Texas 77042  
Tel. (832) 251-0160  
www.collarini.com  

 
 

 
February 9, 2015  
 
Mr. Victor Perez  
Glori Holdings Inc.  
4315 South Drive  
Houston, Texas 77053  

 
Dear Mr. Perez:  

 
In accordance with your request, Collarini Associates (Collarini) has estimated the proved reserves and future revenue, as of January 1, 2015, to the 
interest of Glori Holdings Inc. (Glori) in and related to the Shuck Field, Etzold Unit, located in Seward County, Kansas. This report is based on SEC 
guideline pricing and unescalated costs as set forth herein. The estimate of proved reserves and the future revenue therefrom conform to all standards 
and definitions promulgated in Section 210.4-10 of Regulation S - X issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission in November 1988 and 
amended in December 2008. Estimates of probable and possible reserves and the future revenue therefrom are optional by Regulation S - X, and are 
not included herein at your request. It is estimated these volumes represent 100% of Glori’s total proved reserves.  

 
As presented in the accompanying detailed projections by reservoir and by reserve category, we estimate the net reserves and future net income to 
Glori's interest, as of January 1, 2015, to be:  

 

 
Oil volumes are generally expressed in thousands of stock tank barrels (MBO), where one barrel is equivalent to 42 United States gallons.  

 
The reserves and future income shown in this report are related to reservoirs which were identified by Glori Holdings Inc. The estimates do not include 
any value which might be attributable to additional reservoirs or untested acreage in which Glori Holdings Inc. may also hold an interest.  

 
Net sales, as defined in this report, are before deducting production taxes. Net income is after deducting these taxes, and after deducting future capital 
costs and operating expenses, but before consideration of federal income taxes. The future net income has also been shown discounted at ten  

 
 

   Net Remaining Reserves     Future Net Income (M$)  

Reserve  
Category  

Oil  
(MBO)     

Gas  
(MMCF)     Undiscounted     

Present  
Worth at 10%  

                

Proved                       

Producing  15     0     401     337  

Total Proved  15     0     401     337  
                



 

 
Glori Holdings Inc.  
February 9, 2015  
Page Two  

 

 
percent to determine its present worth. This present worth is included to indicate a time value of money. This should not be construed as representing the 
market value of the property. Our estimates of future cash flows do not include abandonment costs, but do include estimates of all costs required to recover 
reserves including drilling and recompletions.  

 
Reserves in this report were estimated using all applicable engineering and geological data available such as, but not limited to, historic production volumes, 
initial flow test information, flowing tubing pressures, shut-in tubing pressures, bottom hole pressures, repeat formation test data, pressure- volume-
temperature fluid analysis, geological well logs, sidewall core analysis, and whole core analysis at the time the report was conducted.  

 
The reserve volumes and their respective classifications and categorizations were estimated by performance methods, volumetric methods, analogy, or 
combination of methods. Performance methods generally included decline curve analysis and material balance analysis where representative data was 
available. Volumetric estimated generally included a combination of geological and engineering interpretations, while analogy methods included reserve 
estimates from historical performance of similar wells and reservoirs in the field or nearby fields.  

 
Proved reserve classifications were determined based on the “reasonable certainty” of recovering the estimated volumes or more. The proved reserve 
categorizations were based on the stage of maturity and development of the respective proved reserves.  

 
Based on gross oil equivalent barrels, approximately 100 percent of Glori’s proved reserves are located in the Shuck Field, Seward County, Kansas, USA. 
Glori’s reserves are 100 percent developed.  

 
Glori’s proved reserves are 100% proved producing. All of the proved producing reserves were estimated by performance methods. These estimates are 
based on gross oil equivalent barrels that Glori holds an interest in.  

 
For the proved producing reserves, each well’s current production was compared to historical production and a decline curve was established.  

 
Hydrocarbon prices used in this report are based on SEC price parameters using the average prices received on the first of each month during the 12-month 
period prior to the ending date of the period covered in this report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for 
each month within such period. The product prices used to determine future gross revenue for each field were determined by applying benchmark pricing as 
described above then adjusted by “differentials” only to the extent provided by SEC guidelines. These “differentials” generally adjust the benchmark prices on 
a field by field basis to account for product quality, transportation, and marketing. The “differentials” were calculated by Glori. Collarini accepted the 
“differentials” as factual data and did not confirm the accuracy of these adjustments.  

 
Pricing used in this report represent an SEC guideline price of $94.99 for WTI at Cushing, Oklahoma. These prices were then adjusted for oil gravity and 
transportation differentials of minus $6.22.  
 

 



 

 
Glori Holdings Inc.  
February 9, 2015  
Page Three  

 
Operating costs were provided by Glori Holdings Inc. Collarini could not audit or confirm the accuracy of these expenses. These current expenses are held 
constant through the life of the property. These costs include processing fees where applicable.  

 
Collarini Associates utilized all data, appropriate methods and procedures deemed necessary to conduct and finalize this report to conform to all standards 
and definitions promulgated in Section 210.4-  
10 of Regulation S – X issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission in November 1988 and amended in December 2008.  

 
The reserves presented in this report are estimates only and should not be construed as being exact quantities. They may or may not be recovered, and if 
recovered, the revenues, costs, and expenses therefrom may be more or less than the estimated amounts. Because of governmental policies, uncertainties of 
supply and demand, and international politics, the actual sales rates and the prices actually received for the reserves, as well as the costs of recovery, may 
vary from those assumptions included in this report. Also, estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of future operational decisions, 
mechanical problems, and the price of oil and gas.  

 
All reserve estimates have been performed in accordance with sound engineering principles and generally accepted industry practice. As in all aspects of oil 
and gas evaluation, there are uncertainties inherent in the interpretation of engineering data, and all conclusions represent only informed professional 
judgments.  

 
A visual inspection of the properties themselves was not considered necessary for the purpose of this report. No assessment of compliance with 
environmental regulations or future liability for site remediation was made. We are independent consultants; we do not own any interest in this property and 
are not employed contingent upon the value of this property. All engineering calculations and basic data used in the analysis are maintained on file in our 
office and are available for review.  

 
Mr. Mitchell C. Reece was the technical person primarily responsible for overseeing the reserves audit. Mr. Reece attended Texas A&M University, and 
graduated in 1979 with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering. He is a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of Texas, United 
States of America, and has in excess of 30 years' experience in petroleum engineering studies and evaluations.  

 
Very truly yours,  
COLLARINI ASSOCIATES  

  
Mitch Reece, P.E. President  

 

 
MCR/tlp  

 
Collarini Engineering Inc.  
Texas Board of Professional Engineers Registration F-5660  

 



 

 
RESERVE DEFINITIONS  
SEC PARAMETERS 1    

 
 
RESERVES  

 
Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and gas and related substances anticipated to be economically producible, as of a given date, by 
application of development projects to known accumulations. In addition, there must exist, or there must be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the 
legal right to produce or a revenue interest in the production, installed means of delivering oil and gas or related substances to market, and all permits and 
financing required to implement the project.  

 
Note to paragraph above: Reserves should not be assigned to adjacent reservoirs isolated by major, potentially sealing, faults until those reservoirs are penetrated and 

evaluated as economically producible. Reserves should not be assigned to areas that are clearly separated from a known accumulation by a non-productive reservoir (i.e., absence of 
reservoir, structurally low reservoir, or negative test results). Such areas may contain prospective resources (i.e., potentially recoverable resources from undiscovered accumulations).  

 
DEVELOPED OIL AND GAS RESERVES are reserves of any category that can be expected to be recovered:  

(i) Through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared 
to the cost of a new well; and  
(ii) Through installed extraction equipment and infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate if the extraction is by means not involving 
a well.  

 
UNDEVELOPED OIL AND GAS RESERVES are reserves of any category that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from 
existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.  

(i) Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are reasonably certain of production 
when drilled, unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances.  
(ii) Undrilled locations can be classified as having undeveloped reserves only if a development plan has been adopted indicating that they are 
scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the specific circumstances, justify a longer time.  
(iii) Under no circumstances shall estimates for undeveloped reserves be attributable to any acreage for which an application of fluid injection or other 
improved recovery technique is contemplated, unless such techniques have been proved effective by actual projects in the same reservoir or an 
analogous reservoir, as defined in Analogus Reservoirs below, or by other evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
_________________________  
1 As per Section 210.4-10 of SEC Regulation S-X dated November 1988 and as amended December 29, 2008.  

 
 



 

 
RESERVE DEFINITIONS  

SEC PARAMETERS (Cont.) 1    
 
 
PROVED OIL AND GAS RESERVES  

 
Proved Reserves are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be 
economically producible—from a given date forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government 
regulations—prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless 
of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator 
must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable time.  

(i) The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes:  
(a) The area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts, if any, and  
(b) Adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty, be judged to be continuous with it and to contain 
economically producible oil or gas on the basis of available geoscience and engineering data.  

(ii) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved quantities in a reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons (LKH) as seen in a well 
penetration unless geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower contact with reasonable certainty.  
(iii) Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined a highest-known oil (HKO) elevation and the potential exists for an associated gas 
cap, proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if geoscience, engineering, or performance data and 
reliable technology establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty.  
(iv) Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques (including, but not limited to, fluid injection) 
are included in the proved classification when:  

(a) Successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as a whole, the 
operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or other evidence using reliable technology establishes the 
reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based; and  
(b) The project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities, including governmental entities.  

(v) Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is to be determined. The price shall be the 
average price during the 12- month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic 
average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period, unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding 
escalations based upon future conditions.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_________________________  
1 As per Section 210.4-10 of SEC Regulation S-X dated November 1988 and as amended December 29, 2008.  

 
 



 

 
RESERVE DEFINITIONS  

SEC PARAMETERS (Cont.) 1    

 
Reasonable certaint y If deterministic methods are used, reasonable certainty means a high degree of confidence that the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods 
are used, there should be at least a 90% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. A high degree of confidence exists if the quantity is 
much more likely to be achieved than not, and, as changes due to increased availability of geoscience (geological, geophysical, and geochemical), engineering, and economic 
data are made to estimated ultimate recovery (EUR) with time, reasonably certain EUR is much more likely to increase or remain constant than to decrease.  

 
Reliable technology Reliable technology is a grouping of one or more technologies (including computational methods) that have been field tested and have been demonstrated 
to provide reasonably certain results with consistency and repeatability in the formation being evaluated or in an analogous formation.  

 
Deterministic estimate The method of estimating reserves or resources is called deterministic when a single value for each parameter (from the geoscience, engineering, or 
economic data) in the reserves calculation is used in the reserves estimation procedure.  

 
Probabilistic estimate The method of estimation of reserves or resources is called probabilistic when the full range of values that could reasonably occur for each unknown 
parameter (from the geoscience and engineering data) is used to generate a full range of possible outcomes and their associated probabilities of occurrence.  

 
Analogous Reservoir Analogous reservoirs, as used in resources assessments, have similar rock and fluid properties, reservoir conditions (depth, temperature, and pressure) 
and drive mechanisms, but are typically at a more advanced stage of development than the reservoir of interest and thus may provide concepts to assist in the interpretation of 
more limited data and estimation of recovery. When used to support proved reserves, an “analogous reservoir” refers to a reservoir that shares the following characteristics 
with the reservoir of interest:  

(i) Same geological formation (but not necessarily in pressure communication with the reservoir of interest);  
(ii) Same environment of deposition;  
(iii) Similar geological structure; and  
(iv) Same drive mechanism.  

 
Instruction to Analogous reservoir: Reservoir properties must, in the aggregate, be no more favorable in the analog than in the reservoir of interest.  

 
Proved Producing Reserves are those reserves which are expected to be recovered from existing completion intervals open at the time of the 
estimate and producing in existing wells.  

 
Proved Nonproducing Shut-In Reserves are those reserves which are expected to be recovered from existing completion intervals open at the time of 
the estimate, but which had not started producing, or were shut in for market conditions or minor pipeline connection.  

 
Proved Nonproducing Behind Pipe Reserves are those reserves which are expected to be recovered from zones behind casing in existing wells, 
which will require additional completion work or a future recompletion prior to the start of production.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
________________________  
1 As per Section 210.4-10 of SEC Regulation S-X dated November 1988 and as amended December 29, 2008.  

 
 



 

 

SHUCK FIELD, ETZOLD UNIT  

Seward County, Kansas  
 

 
BACKGROUND  

 
The Shuck Field, Etzold Unit, is located in the southwest portion of Kansas in Seward County. Anadarko originally developed the field and initiated a waterflood 
from 1989 to 2002. Merit was assigned the field in 2005. Merit then offered Glori Holdings Inc. the opportunity to acquire Merit's interest in the northern portion 
of the field in return for assuming field liability and a 7.5% royalty interest. Surface equipment has been replaced due to deterioration or prior removal. There 
are currently two wells producing and six active injection wells. In December, oil production was 420 BOPM and 13,975 BWPM. Glori Holdings Inc. has a 100% 
gross working interest and 80.0%  
net revenue interest in the unit, including the royalty reduction. The reservoir has recovered over  
2 MMBO under primary and secondary recovery. In 2012, Glori Holdings Inc. purchased the south portion of the Etzold Unit and is evaluating future plans.  
 

 
GEOSCIENCE  

 
The Shuck Field, Etzold Unit, consists of the Lower Chester Sand and several stray sands. The Lower Chester Sand is of Mississippian Age and equivalent to 
the Morrow formation. The field is located on a north-south channel axis. Several large fields are also along this axis. Permeability varies vertically, indicating 
that there could be significant by-passed reserves.  
 

 
ENGINEERING  

 
Gross proved reserves of 19 MBO are estimated to remain as of January 1, 2015. All are in the producing category. These reserves were determined by 
performance. The wells are being carefully monitored due to unknown water levels and the dispersion of the water across the reservoir.  
 
Operating expenses are $11,970 per well per month. These expenses were provided by Glori Holdings Inc. These operating expenses include the operating 
costs of the facilities and injection wells. The oil price differential was based on 2013 and 2014 actuals and was decreased by $6.22 per barrel. Transportation 
costs are also included in this differential. Abandonment costs were assumed to be equal to salvage value.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective January 1, 2014  
 
 



 

 
GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

SHUCK FIELD  
Total Reserves  

Ranked by 1/1/15 Reserve Category and NPW at 10 %  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Well  

 
Reservoir  

 
Res. 
Cat.  

Production  
Net  

Sales  
M$  

Prod.  
Tax  
M$  

Oper.  
Exp.  
M$  

Exp & 
Cap  

Invest  
M$  

Net  
Income  

M$  

NPW  
at 10%  
(M$)  

Cum  
NPW  
(M$)  

8/8ths  
(Mbbl)  

8/8ths  
(MMcf)  

Net  
(Mbbl)  

Net  
(MMcf)  

                              

                              
1 Etzold Unit North Well #2-1  Lower Chester Sand  PDP  19 0 15 0 1,338 107 831 0 401 337 337 

2 Etzold Unit North Well #3-5  Lower Chester Sand  PDP  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 337 

   Total Proved Producing        19 0 15 0 1,338 107 831 0 401 337    

                              

                              
1 Etzold Unit North Well #1-1  Lower Chester Sand  PDSI  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 337 

   Total Proved Shut-In        0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0    

   Total Proved        19 0 15 0 1,338 107 831 0 401 337    

Coll_Eco1Line2_100208.rpt  Collarini Associates  2/9/2015 



 

 

  
 
 

Etzold Unit Production Plots 1-1-15.xlsx  Collarini Associates  2/9/2015 



 

 

 

GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  
SHUCK FIELD, ETZOLD UNIT  

Reserve Summary  

Reservoir  Well #  Reserve  
Category  

Gross Reserves  
Remaining 1/1/15  

Net Reserves  
Remaining 1/1/15  *  Comments  

MBO  MMCF  MBO  MMCF  

                  

Lower Chester Sand  Etzold Unit North Well #2-1  PDP  19  0  15  0  P  Decline-curve  

Lower Chester Sand  Etzold Unit North Well #3-5  PDP  0  0  0  0  P  Noncommercial  

Total Proved Producing     19  0  15  0        

                  

Lower Chester Sand  Etzold Unit North Well #1-1  PDSI  0  0  0  0  P  Noncommercial  

Total Proved Shut-In     0  0  0  0        

                  

                  

TOTAL PROVED RESERVES     19  0  15  0        

                  

                  

* Reserves Methodology:                       

V = Volumetrics  P = Performance                 

Etzold Unit ResSum 1-1-15.xlsx  Collarini Associates  Page 1 of 1 2/9/2015 



 

 

 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                          

                    

                     Present Worth Profile     

SHUCK FIELD                 ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

Total                    8.00 % 348.4 25.00 % 268.7 

                     10.00 % 337.1 30.00 % 251.0 

Proved                    12.00 % 326.4 35.00 % 235.3 

                     15.00 % 311.3 40.00 % 221.2 

                     20.00 % 288.7 50.00 % 197.3 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  

($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal) OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  2  4.3 0.0 0.0 3.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2016  1  3.8 0.0 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2017  1  3.3 0.0 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2018  1  2.9 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2019  1  2.6 0.0 0.0 2.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2020  1  1.8 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     18.8 0.0 0.00 15.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     868.4 62.9 0.0                   

Ultimate     887.3 62.9 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     306.9     0.0     24.5     143.6     0.0     138.7     138.7     132.2  
2016     270.8     0.0     21.7     143.6     0.0     105.5     244.1     223.3  
2017     237.6     0.0     19.0     143.6     0.0     74.9     319.1     281.9  
2018     209.1     0.0     16.7     143.6     0.0     48.7     367.8     316.4  
2019     184.0     0.0     14.7     143.6     0.0     25.7     393.5     332.9  
2020     129.9     0.0     10.4     112.4     0.0     7.1     400.6     337.1  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     1,338.3     0.0     107.1     830.6     0.0     400.6     400.6     337.1  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

 

 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                          

                    

                     Present Worth Profile     

SHUCK FIELD                 ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

Total                    8.00 % 348.4 25.00 % 268.7 

Proved Producing                 10.00 % 337.1 30.00 % 251.0 

                     12.00 % 326.4 35.00 % 235.3 

                     15.00 % 311.3 40.00 % 221.2 

                     20.00 % 288.7 50.00 % 197.3 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  
($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal) OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  1  4.3 0.0 0.0 3.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2016  1  3.8 0.0 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2017  1  3.3 0.0 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2018  1  2.9 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2019  1  2.6 0.0 0.0 2.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2020  1  1.8 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     18.8 0.0 0.00 15.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     408.7 48.2 0.0                   

Ultimate     427.5 48.2 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     306.9     0.0     24.5     143.6     0.0     138.7     138.7     132.2  
2016     270.8     0.0     21.7     143.6     0.0     105.5     244.1     223.3  
2017     237.6     0.0     19.0     143.6     0.0     74.9     319.1     281.9  
2018     209.1     0.0     16.7     143.6     0.0     48.7     367.8     316.4  
2019     184.0     0.0     14.7     143.6     0.0     25.7     393.5     332.9  
2020     129.9     0.0     10.4     112.4     0.0     7.1     400.6     337.1  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     1,338.3     0.0     107.1     830.6     0.0     400.6     400.6     337.1  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

 

  
 
 



 

 

 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
SHUCK FIELD GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

Etzold Unit North Well #2-1                       

Proved Producing                          

Lower Chester Sand                 Present Worth Profile     

                  ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                 8.00 % 348.4 25.00 % 268.7 

      Initial  Final        10.00 % 337.1 30.00 % 251.0 

Gross Working Interest  1.000000  1.000000        12.00 % 326.4 35.00 % 235.3 

Net Revenue Interest     0.800000  0.800000        15.00 % 311.3 40.00 % 221.2 

                     20.00 % 288.7 50.00 % 197.3 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  
($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf)  NGL, (Mgal)  OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  1  4.3 0.0 0.00 3.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2016  1  3.8 0.0 0.00 3.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2017  1  3.3 0.0 0.00 2.7 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2018  1  2.9 0.0 0.00 2.4 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2019  1  2.6 0.0 0.00 2.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

2020  1  1.8 0.0 0.00 1.5 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     18.8 0.0 0.00 15.1 0.0 0.00 88.77  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     215.6 33.4 0.0                   

Ultimate     234.4 33.4 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     306.9     0.0     24.5     143.6     0.0     138.7     138.7     132.2  
2016     270.8     0.0     21.7     143.6     0.0     105.5     244.1     223.3  
2017     237.6     0.0     19.0     143.6     0.0     74.9     319.1     281.9  
2018     209.1     0.0     16.7     143.6     0.0     48.7     367.8     316.4  
2019     184.0     0.0     14.7     143.6     0.0     25.7     393.5     332.9  
2020     129.9     0.0     10.4     112.4     0.0     7.1     400.6     337.1  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     1,338.3     0.0     107.1     830.6     0.0     400.6     400.6     337.1  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

 

  
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
SHUCK FIELD GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

Etzold Unit North Well #3-5                       

Proved Producing                          

Lower Chester Sand                 Present Worth Profile     

                  ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                 8.00 % 0.0 25.00 % 0.0 

      Initial  Final        10.00 % 0.0 30.00 % 0.0 

Gross Working Interest  1.000000  0.000000        12.00 % 0.0 35.00 % 0.0 

Net Revenue Interest     0.800000  0.000000        15.00 % 0.0 40.00 % 0.0 

                     20.00 % 0.0 50.00 % 0.0 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  
($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf)  NGL, (Mgal)  OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  0  0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     193.1 14.8 0.0                   

Ultimate     193.1 14.8 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

 

 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                       

                  

SHUCK FIELD                 Present Worth Profile     

Total                 ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

Proved Shut-In                 8.00 % 0.0 25.00 % 0.0 

                  10.00 % 0.0 30.00 % 0.0 

               12.00 % 0.0 35.00 % 0.0 

                  15.00 % 0.0 40.00 % 0.0 

                     20.00 % 0.0 50.00 % 0.0 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  
($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal) OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  1  0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     459.8 14.8 0.0                   

Ultimate     459.8 14.8 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

 

 
 
 

PROJECTION OF ESTIMATED PRODUCTION AND REVENUE  
SHUCK FIELD GLORI HOLDINGS INC.  

AS OF JANUARY 01, 2015  

Etzold Unit North Well #1-1                       

Proved Shut-In                          

Lower Chester Sand                 Present Worth Profile     

                  ––Mid-Year Discounting––     

SEC Pricing 12-31-14                 8.00 % 0.0 25.00 % 0.0 

      Initial  Final        10.00 % 0.0 30.00 % 0.0 

Gross Working Interest  1.000000  1.000000        12.00 % 0.0 35.00 % 0.0 

Net Revenue Interest     0.800000  0.800000        15.00 % 0.0 40.00 % 0.0 

                     20.00 % 0.0 50.00 % 0.0 

                      

Year  
Ending  
12-31  

Gross  
Wells  

GROSS PRODUCTION  NET PRODUCTION  
Oil  

Price  
($/bbl)  

Gas  
Price  

($/Mcf)  

NGL  
Price  
($/gal)  

      
Oil, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf)  NGL, (Mgal)  OIl, (Mbbl) Gas, (MMcf) NGL, (Mgal)  

                      
2015  1  0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

After     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Remaining     0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Cumulative     459.8 14.8 0.0                   

Ultimate     459.8 14.8 0.0                   

Year  
Ending  
12-31     

Net  
Sales     

Other  
Revenue     

Production  
Taxes     

Operating  
Expense     

Exp/Cap  
Invest     

Net  
Income     

Cumulative  
Net Income     

Pres. Worth  
@ 10.00%  

      --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--     --(M$)--  

2015     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

After     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
Total     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0     0.0  
2/9/15  This forecast accompanies the COLLARINI ASSOCIATES report and is subject to its specific conditions.  



 

WILLIAM M. COBB & ASSOCIATES, INC.  
Worldwide Petroleum Consultants  

 
 

February 9, 2015  
 
 
 
 
Mr. Tor Meling  
Glori Energy, Inc.  
4315 South Drive  
Houston, TX 77053  
 
Dear Mr. Meling:  
 
As requested, William M. Cobb & Associates, Inc. (Cobb & Associates) has estimated the proved developed producing (PDP) reserves and future net 
income as of January 1, 2015, attributable to certain oil and gas properties owned by Glori Energy, Inc. (Glori). The properties are located in the Coke 
and Quitman fields in Wood County, Texas. This report was completed on February 9, 2015.  
 
Table 1 summarizes our estimate of the PDP oil and gas reserves and their pre-federal income tax value undiscounted and discounted at ten percent. 
These estimates were prepared in accordance with the definitions and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and, with the 
exception of the exclusion of future income taxes, conform to the FASB Accounting Standards Certification Topic 932, Extraction Activities – Oil and 
Gas.  
 
The values shown were determined utilizing constant oil and gas prices and operating expenses.  

 
Oil volumes, which include condensate, are expressed in thousands of stock tank barrels (MBBL). A stock tank barrel is equivalent to 42 United States 
gallons. Gas volumes are expressed in millions of standard cubic feet (MMCF) as determined at 60 degrees Fahrenheit and the legal pressure base for the 
specific location of the gas reserves.  
 

12770 Coit Road, Suite 907  
Dallas, Texas  

(972) 385-0354 
Fax: (972) 788-5165 

E-Mail: office@wmcobb.com 

      Table 1        

      Glori Energy, Inc. - Net Reserves and Value        

      In Certain Properties in Coke and Quitman Fields as of        

      January 1, 2015        

      Net Reserves     Future Net Pre-Tax Income  

Reserve  
Category     

Oil  
(MBBL)     

Gas  
(MMCF)     

Undiscounted  
(M$)     

Discounted at 10%  
(M$)  

                  

PDP     1,386.6     53.5     46,803     29,755  
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All the proved reserves in this report are attributable to producing wells; therefore, they are classified as PDP. As requested, probable and possible 
reserves that may exist for these properties have not been included. This report does not include any value that could be attributable to interests in 
undeveloped acreage.  
 
The future income values shown in Table 1, or in other portions of this report, are not intended to represent an estimate of fair market value. The 
estimates of reserves and future revenue have not been adjusted for risk.  
 
Glori indicated their estimate of total proved reserves for properties not included in this report was  
15 MBO. Therefore, the PDP oil reserves in this report (1,387 MBO) comprise over 98.9 percent of  
Glori’s total proved oil reserves.  
 
Cash Flow Projections  
 
A summary projection of total PDP net reserves and future net cash flow is attached to this report. Cash flow projections for each individual PDP 
property included in this report follow this summary. Also included is a table listing all properties which provides information for individual wells 
regarding field, reservoir, gross and net remaining reserves, net revenue, operating expense including tax, investment, undiscounted net income, and net 
income discounted at 10.0 percent.  
 
Prices used in this report are based on the 12-month unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of- the-month price for each month in the period 
January through December 2014. The average West Texas Intermediate spot price was $94.99 per barrel. The average Henry Hub spot price was  
$4.30 per MMBTU. All prices were held constant for the life of the property. Product prices were adjusted for quality, energy content, transportation 
fees, and regional price differentials.  
 
Based on the revenue statements provided by Glori, the 2014 realized gas price for the Coke field was  
85 percent of Henry Hub. Quitman has no gas sales. The oil differential for both the Coke and Quitman field is zero. Effective August, 2014, Glori 
signed a contract with Lion Oil Trading and Transportation to sell all oil produced from these properties at the “CMA (calculated monthly average) 
NYMEX plus $0.00”. The contract will “continue month to month unless terminated by either party”. After applying appropriate product differentials, 
the average realized oil and gas price for 2015, for all properties, was $94.99 per barrel and $3.65 per MCF.  
 
Operating expenses for each of the properties were calculated using monthly information Glori provided from April thru November, 2014. Operating 
statements, prior to Glori acquiring the properties from Petro Hunt, were not available. The operating costs included district overhead and recurring 
workover expense. The operating costs, which were applied as a fixed $/well/month, were held constant for the life of each property.  
 
Cash flow is defined as revenue after deduction of state severance tax, ad valorem tax, operating cost, and capital cost. The environmental consequences, 
if any, caused by Glori or any other operator have not been considered, nor has the cost to restore the property to acceptable conditions, as may be  
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required by regulation, been taken into account. All economic projections are before federal income taxes and do not include any debt service incurred by 
Glori.  
 
None of the values are intended to represent an estimate of fair market value. None of the values have been adjusted for risk.  
 
The working and revenue interests evaluated in this report were provided by Glori. These projections are based on Glori receiving the net revenue 
interest share of estimated future gross production. The estimates of reserves and future revenues do not include adjustments for the settlement of any 
historical production imbalances.  
 
Reserve Methodology  
 
The reserves in this report have been estimated using deterministic methods, and have been prepared in accordance with the Standards Pertaining to the 
Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE Standards). We have used all 
assumptions, data, methods and procedures considered necessary and appropriate to prepare this report.  
 
Estimates of remaining reserves for all the properties in this report were prepared using performance trend analysis of production data. PDP reserves are 
attributable to mature producing properties with identifiable decline trends; therefore, the deliverability forecasts are based on these historical 
performance trends. Future production volumes were forecasted after evaluating graphs of rate vs time, rate vs cumulative production, and percent water 
production.  
 
Property Discussion  
 
All the properties in this report are located in the Coke and Quitman fields in Wood County, Texas. The Coke Field properties produce from the Paluxy, 
Sub-Clarksville, and Hill reservoirs. The Quitman Field properties produce from the Paluxy reservoir.  
 
Coke Field - Over 90 percent of the total PDP value presented in this report is attributable to 12 leases (21 wells) producing from the Paluxy reservoir at 
a depth of 6,300 feet. The top value lease contributes 25 percent of the value. The top four leases comprise 72 percent of the company’s total PDP value.  
 
Current production for all 12 Paluxy leases averages about 435 BOPD, 57,900 BWPD, and 25 MCFD. The Paluxy reservoir has produced with a natural 
water drive since discovery in 1942; therefore, present water-cut for most of the producing wells is greater than 99 percent. Most of the wells are on 
electric submersible pumps (ESP) to handle the high produced water volumes. Glori operates most of the active leases in the Paluxy and has a working 
interest of 100 percent in all the wells they operate. Net revenue interest for the majority of these leases exceeds 87.5 percent.  
 
Production from the other three leases (four wells) in the Coke field is from the Sub-Clarksville and  
Hill reservoirs. These wells are marginal producers and have insignificant value.  
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Quitman Field - About 10 percent of the total PDP value presented in this report is attributable to  
three leases (five wells) producing from the Paluxy reservoir in Quitman Field. The top value lease in this field contributes 9.5 percent of the company's 
value.  
 
Glori operates all five wells which are producing a total of 98 BOPD and more than 1,300 BWPD. No  
gas sales were reported.  
 
Professional Guidelines  
 
Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids, which geological and engineering data 
demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years, from known reservoirs under expected economic and operating conditions. 
Reserves are considered proved if economic productivity is supported by either actual production or conclusive formation tests.  
 
The reserves included in this report are estimates only and should not be construed as being exact quantities. Governmental policies, uncertainties of 
supply and demand, the prices actually received for the reserves, and the costs incurred in recovering such reserves, may vary from the price and cost 
assumptions in this report. Estimated reserves using price escalations may vary from values obtained using constant price scenarios. Our estimates are 
based upon the assumption that the properties will be operated in a prudent manner and that no government regulations and controls will be instituted that 
would impact the ability to recover the reserves. In any case, estimates of reserves and revenues may increase or decrease as a result of future operations.  
 
Cobb & Associates has not examined titles to the appraised properties nor has the actual degree of interest owned been independently confirmed. The 
data used in our evaluation were obtained from Glori Energy, public record sources, and the non-confidential files of Cobb & Associates and were 
considered accurate. Supporting work data are on file in our office.  
 
We have not made a field examination of the properties; therefore, operating ability and condition of the production equipment have not been considered. 
No consideration was given in this report to potential environmental liabilities which may exist, nor were any costs included for potential liability to 
restore and clean up damages, if any, caused by past operating practices.  
 
In evaluating available information concerning this appraisal, we have excluded from our consideration all matters as to which legal or accounting 
interpretation, rather than engineering, may be controlling. As in all aspects of oil and gas evaluation, there are uncertainties inherent in the interpretation 
of engineering data and conclusions necessarily represent only informed professional judgments.  
 
Cobb & Associates is an independent consulting firm. None of our employees own an interest in these properties. Our compensation is not contingent on 
the results obtained or reported. The technical persons responsible for preparing the estimates presented in this report meet the requirements regarding 
qualifications, independence, objectivity, and confidentiality set forth in the SPE Standards.  
 
 



Mr. Tor Meling  
Glori Energy, Inc.  
February 9, 2015  
Page 5  
 
This report was prepared by an officer of the firm who is a licensed professional engineer with more than 30 years of experience in the estimation, 
assessment, and evaluation of oil and gas reserves.  
 
This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of Glori and may not be used by others without prior written consent. We appreciate the opportunity 
to be of service to you. If you have questions  
regarding this report, please contact us.  
 

 

 
 

Sincerely,     

    

WILLIAM M. COBB & ASSOCIATES, INC.  
Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-84  

  

  

Fred Duewall, P.E.  
Senior Vice President  
 



 
 

 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM              

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION     

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Proved Producing Rsv Class % Category  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00        

Case Type:  TOTAL CASE  All Cases     

            

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu     

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  46,799.52              

Cum Gas (MMcf):  13,509.29              

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  174.95    9.45    152.44    5.03    94.99    3.65    14,479.69    18.34    0.00 

2016  156.95    8.95    136.79    4.75    94.99    3.65    12,993.39    17.33    0.00 

2017  139.88    8.44    121.95    4.47    94.99    3.65    11,583.12    16.32    0.00 

2018  127.69    7.99    111.66    4.23    94.99    3.65    10,606.25    15.43    0.00 

2019  117.19    7.58    102.84    4.00    94.99    3.65    9,768.57    14.61    0.00 

2020  109.84    7.21    96.42    3.81    94.99    3.65    9,158.59    13.89    0.00 

2021  102.03    6.83    89.59    3.60    94.99    3.65    8,509.61    13.15    0.00 

2022  89.79    5.81    78.50    2.98    94.99    3.65    7,456.27    10.89    0.00 

2023  72.64    4.57    63.45    2.24    94.99    3.65    6,027.12    8.19    0.00 

2024  60.59    3.95    53.10    2.14    94.99    3.65    5,043.34    7.82    0.00 

2025  51.16    3.36    44.84    2.04    94.99    3.65    4,259.13    7.43    0.00 

2026  48.78    3.20    42.76    1.94    94.99    3.65    4,061.09    7.08    0.00 

2027  46.52    3.05    40.77    1.85    94.99    3.65    3,872.50    6.74    0.00 

2028  44.48    2.91    38.98    1.76    94.99    3.65    3,702.79    6.44    0.00 

2029  42.30    2.77    37.07    1.68    94.99    3.65    3,521.42    6.12    0.00 

                                    

Rem  193.75    10.84    175.42    6.98    94.99    3.65    16,661.88    25.48    0.00 

Total  1,578.55    96.93    1,386.58    53.51    94.99    3.65    131,704.76    195.25    0.00 

Ult  48,378.07    13,606.22                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  22.00    668.68     469.01     0.00     0.00     5,982.08     0.00     0.00     7,378.26     7,048.40  
2016  22.00    600.11     420.90     0.00     0.00     5,957.75     0.00     0.00     6,031.96     12,285.53  
2017  19.00    535.04     375.24     0.00     0.00     5,690.09     0.00     0.00     4,999.07     16,229.98  
2018  19.00    489.95     343.61     0.00     0.00     5,569.22     0.00     0.00     4,218.89     19,256.13  
2019  18.00    451.29     316.49     0.00     0.00     5,430.76     0.00     0.00     3,584.65     21,593.57  
2020  18.00    423.12     296.73     0.00     0.00     5,386.05     0.00     0.00     3,066.57     23,411.55  
2021  17.00    393.16     275.71     0.00     0.00     5,257.15     0.00     0.00     2,596.73     24,810.56  
2022  17.00    344.45     241.56     0.00     0.00     4,663.80     0.00     0.00     2,217.36     25,896.80  
2023  12.00    278.38     195.24     0.00     0.00     3,660.85     0.00     0.00     1,900.84     26,743.21  
2024  11.00    233.01     163.41     0.00     0.00     2,986.69     0.00     0.00     1,668.06     27,418.53  
2025  8.00    196.84     138.02     0.00     0.00     2,477.57     0.00     0.00     1,454.12     27,953.52  
2026  8.00    187.69     131.61     0.00     0.00     2,477.57     0.00     0.00     1,271.30     28,378.78  
2027  8.00    178.97     125.49     0.00     0.00     2,477.57     0.00     0.00     1,097.21     28,712.47  
2028  8.00    171.13     119.99     0.00     0.00     2,477.57     0.00     0.00     940.54     28,972.58  
2029  8.00    162.75     114.12     0.00     0.00     2,477.57     0.00     0.00     773.10     29,166.90  
                                        

Rem.        769.79     539.84     0.00     0.00     11,773.25     0.00     0.00     3,604.49     588.45  
Total        6,084.37     4,266.97     0.00     0.00     74,745.53     0.00     0.00     46,803.15     29,755.35  

      Present Worth Profile (M$)  

      PW  5.00%:  36,233.44 

Disc. Initial Invest. (M$) :  0.00  PW  8.00%:  32,015.53 

ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00 / 0.00  PW  10.00%:  29,755.35 

Years to Payout :  0.00  PW  12.00%:  27,826.15 

Internal ROR (%) :  0.00  PW  15.00%:  25,411.29 

      PW  20.00%:  22,302.83 
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GLORI ENERGY, INC.  
Oneline Report  

As of 1/1/2015  

 

                        Gross Reserves     Net Reserves     Net Revenue     Expense  
& Tax  
(M$)  

         Cash Flow     %  
Disc. Net  
Income  Case Name     Field     Reservoir     

Rsv  
Cat     

Oil  
(Mbbl)     

GAS  
(Mbbl)     

Oil  
(Mbbl)     

GAS  
(MMcf)     

Oil  
(M$)     

Gas  
(M$)        

Invest  
(M$)     

Non-Disc  
(M$)     

Disc 10%  
(M$)     

BLALOCK JJ 1R     QUITMAN     PALUXY     1PDP     54.7    0.0    47.9    0.0    4,547.8    0.0    1,353.6    0.0    3,194.1    2,817.3    9.5 % 

BLALOCK VC 7 (Paluxy)     QUITMAN     PALUXY     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

CLARK JM 1R, 2, 4     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     163.7    9.8    143.3    0.0    13,606.7    0.0    11,068.6    0.0    2,538.1    1,937.3    6.5 % 

COKE SUB CLARKSVILLE 
UNIT     COKE     SUB-CLARKSVILLE     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

COKE UNIT -A- 2     COKE     HILL     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

COKE UNIT -A- 6 (Rodessa)     COKE     HILL     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

CONNER B 1R, 3D-SWD     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

DARBY LC -A- 1R, 2     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     314.0    20.4    304.1    14.2    28,888.9    51.9    16,229.8    0.0    12,711.1    7,526.6    25.3 % 

DARBY LC -B- 1, 6 ,7     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     96.3    9.6    90.4    6.1    8,582.5    22.4    7,189.9    0.0    1,415.0    1,139.2    3.8 % 

FAULK EL 1R     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

FOSTER UNIT 1, 2     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     253.5    17.7    221.8    9.5    21,066.6    34.6    13,508.1    0.0    7,593.1    4,814.6    16.2 % 

KENNEMER CB 1R, 4R, 6     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     298.5    22.4    239.0    12.9    22,703.8    47.1    15,427.4    0.0    7,323.5    4,905.1    16.5 % 

KENNEMER JD 1-R     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     240.7    10.6    210.9    6.9    20,032.5    25.1    11,058.9    0.0    8,998.7    4,173.4    14.0 % 

MCCREIGHT GA 1     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 % 

RADNEY 1, 2, 3     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     17.7    0.0    12.7    0.0    1,206.7    0.0    1,011.1    0.0    195.6    175.6    0.6 % 

ROBERTSON JM 3, 4     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     74.6    6.3    65.3    3.9    6,203.4    14.2    4,892.8    0.0    1,324.8    1,065.4    3.6 % 

SKEEN-CL 1     COKE     PALUXY     1PDP     57.1    0.0    44.5    0.0    4,228.2    0.0    2,747.1    0.0    1,481.2    1,174.5    3.9 % 

WHITE SJ ETAL 
1,11,15,2,3,4,5     QUITMAN     PALUXY     1PDP     7.7    0.0    6.7    0.0    637.7    0.0    609.7    0.0    28.0    26.3    0.1 % 

            TOTAL 1PDP     1,578.6     96.9     1,386.6     53.5     131,704.8     195.3     85,096.9     0.0     46,803.1     29,755.4        



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: BLALOCK JJ 1R - 1R  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: QUITMAN  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  65.24                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  6.86                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  22.32    0.00    19.53    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,855.08    0.00    0.00 

2016  13.26    0.00    11.61    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,102.43    0.00    0.00 

2017  8.24    0.00    7.21    0.00    94.99    0.00    684.76    0.00    0.00 

2018  5.35    0.00    4.68    0.00    94.99    0.00    444.68    0.00    0.00 

2019  3.60    0.00    3.15    0.00    94.99    0.00    298.90    0.00    0.00 

2020  1.95    0.00    1.70    0.00    94.99    0.00    161.91    0.00    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  54.72    0.00    47.88    0.00    94.99    0.00    4,547.76    0.00    0.00 

Ult  119.96    6.86                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  1.00    85.49     60.01     0.00     0.00     173.60     0.00     0.00     1,535.97     1,471.97  
2016  1.00    50.81     35.66     0.00     0.00     173.60     0.00     0.00     842.36     2,205.72  
2017  1.00    31.56     22.15     0.00     0.00     173.60     0.00     0.00     457.45     2,567.99  
2018  1.00    20.49     14.39     0.00     0.00     173.60     0.00     0.00     236.20     2,738.16  
2019  1.00    13.77     9.67     0.00     0.00     173.60     0.00     0.00     101.85     2,805.02  
2020  1.00    7.46     5.24     0.00     0.00     128.90     0.00     0.00     20.31     2,817.34  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        209.59     147.12     0.00     0.00     996.92     0.00     0.00     3,194.14     2,817.34  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  9/30/2020           

Perfs:  6188-6322     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  2,430.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  2,990.98 

Abandonment:  188.92 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  2,883.66 

Initial Decline:  44.00  % year b = 0.200  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  2,817.34 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  2,754.79 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  2,667.37 

               PW  20.00%:  2,536.63 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: BLALOCK JJ VC 7 (Paluxy)  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: QUITMAN  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  2.61                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  —                

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  2.61    0.00                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  0-0     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  105.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.84765620  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  105.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  10.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: CLARK JM 1R, 2, 4-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  3,949.58                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  116.73                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  20.80    1.25    18.20    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,728.99    0.00       

2016  19.92    1.20    17.43    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,655.66    0.00    0.00 

2017  18.97    1.14    16.60    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,576.78    0.00    0.00 

2018  18.12    1.09    15.85    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,505.87    0.00    0.00 

2019  17.30    1.04    15.14    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,438.15    0.00    0.00 

2020  16.57    0.99    14.50    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,377.16    0.00    0.00 

2021  15.78    0.95    13.81    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,311.55    0.00    0.00 

2022  15.07    0.90    13.19    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,252.57    0.00    0.00 

2023  14.39    0.86    12.59    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,196.24    0.00    0.00 

2024  6.78    0.41    5.93    0.00    94.99    0.00    563.71    0.00    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  163.72    9.82    143.25    0.00    94.99    0.00    13,606.68    0.00    0.00 

Ult  4,113.30    126.56                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  3.00    79.68     55.93     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     538.68     514.12  
2016  3.00    76.30     53.56     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     471.10     922.96  
2017  3.00    72.67     51.01     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     398.41     1,237.20  
2018  3.00    69.40     48.72     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     333.07     1,476.06  
2019  3.00    66.28     46.52     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     270.66     1,652.55  
2020  3.00    63.47     44.55     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     214.45     1,779.75  
2021  3.00    60.44     42.43     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     153.99     1,862.76  
2022  3.00    57.73     40.52     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     99.63     1,911.62  
2023  3.00    55.13     38.70     0.00     0.00     1,054.69     0.00     0.00     47.72     1,932.93  
2024  3.00    25.98     18.24     0.00     0.00     509.12     0.00     0.00     10.37     1,937.25  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        627.07     440.18     0.00     0.00     10,001.35     0.00     0.00     2,538.09     1,937.25  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  6/26/2024           

Perfs:  4572-6368     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  1,775.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  2,198.88 

Abandonment:  1146.83 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  2,034.21 

Initial Decline:  4.50  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  1,937.25 

Beg ratio:  0.060    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  1,849.10 

End Ratio:  0.060    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  1,731.10 

               PW  20.00%:  1,565.54 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     4 



 
 

 
 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: COKE SUB CLASKSVILLE UNIT-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: SUB-CLARKSVILLE  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  2,549.27                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  20.62                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  2,549.27    20.62                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  4022-6345     Working Int:  0.87819150  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  650.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.76731104  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  650.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  2.85  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.110    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.110    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     5 



 
 

 
 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: COKE UNIT-A-2-2  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: HILL  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  157.54                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  7,312.90                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  157.54    7,312.90                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Gas     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  7979-8016     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  8,000.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.84912960  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  8000.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  8.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.007    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.007    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     6 



 
 

 
 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: COKE UNIT-A-6 (Rodessa)-2R  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: HILL (Rodessa)  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  13.67                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  830.80                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  13.67    830.80                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Gas     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  8071-8096     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  0.00 bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87611610  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  0.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  0.00 % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: CONNER B 1R, 3D-SWD-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  2,757.90                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  289.31                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  2,757.90    289.31                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  3508-6285     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  435.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  435.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  4.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.090    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.090    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     8 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: DARBY LC-A-1R, 2-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  2,901.44                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  386.61                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  24.30    1.58    23.54    1.10    94.99    3.65    2,236.40    4.02    0.00 

2016  22.74    1.48    22.02    1.03    94.99    3.65    2,092.03    3.76    0.00 

2017  21.21    1.38    20.55    0.96    94.99    3.65    1,951.99    3.51    0.00 

2018  19.90    1.29    19.28    0.90    94.99    3.65    1,831.41    3.29    0.00 

2019  18.72    1.22    18.13    0.85    94.99    3.65    1,722.53    3.10    0.00 

2020  17.69    1.15    17.14    0.80    94.99    3.65    1,628.16    2.93    0.00 

2021  16.67    1.08    16.15    0.76    94.99    3.65    1,533.82    2.76    0.00 

2022  15.78    1.03    15.29    0.72    94.99    3.65    1,451.90    2.61    0.00 

2023  14.96    0.97    14.50    0.68    94.99    3.65    1,376.88    2.48    0.00 

2024  14.25    0.93    13.80    0.65    94.99    3.65    1,311.16    2.36    0.00 

2025  13.50    0.88    13.08    0.61    94.99    3.65    1,242.16    2.23    0.00 

2026  12.82    0.83    12.42    0.58    94.99    3.65    1,180.09    2.12    0.00 

2027  12.18    0.79    11.80    0.55    94.99    3.65    1,121.13    2.02    0.00 

2028  11.61    0.75    11.24    0.53    94.99    3.65    1,067.95    1.92    0.00 

2029  11.00    0.71    10.65    0.50    94.99    3.65    1,011.75    1.82    0.00 

Rem  66.61    4.33    64.53    3.02    94.99    3.65    6,129.57    11.02    0.00 

Total  313.95    20.41    304.14    14.23    94.99    3.65    28,888.92    51.94    0.00 

Ult  3,215.39    407.02                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  2.00    103.37     72.48     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     1,443.50     1,377.75  
2016  2.00    96.69     67.80     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     1,310.22     2,514.57  
2017  2.00    90.22     63.26     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     1,180.95     3,445.95  
2018  2.00    84.65     59.35     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     1,069.63     4,212.88  
2019  2.00    79.62     55.82     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     969.11     4,844.61  
2020  2.00    75.25     52.77     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     881.99     5,367.28  
2021  2.00    70.89     49.71     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     794.91     5,795.45  
2022  2.00    67.11     47.05     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     719.27     6,147.68  
2023  2.00    63.64     44.62     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     650.02     6,437.08  
2024  2.00    60.60     42.49     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     589.35     6,675.63  
2025  2.00    57.41     40.26     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     525.65     6,869.02  
2026  2.00    54.54     38.24     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     468.35     7,025.68  
2027  2.00    51.82     36.33     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     413.92     7,151.56  
2028  2.00    49.36     34.61     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     364.83     7,252.43  
2029  2.00    46.76     32.79     0.00     0.00     621.07     0.00     0.00     312.94     7,331.08  
Rem.        283.31     198.65     0.00     0.00     4,642.21     0.00     0.00     1,016.42     195.57  
Total        1,335.27     936.24     0.00     0.00     13,958.29     0.00     0.00     12,711.07     7,526.65  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  6/24/2037           

Perfs:  6278-6328     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  2,100.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.96875000  PW  5.00%:  9,493.30 

Abandonment:  608.86 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  8,209.25 

Initial Decline:  7.00  % year b = 0.633  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  7,526.65 

Beg ratio:  0.065    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  6,949.05 

End Ratio:  0.065    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  6,234.99 

               PW  20.00%:  5,335.28 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     9 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: DARBY LC-B-1, 6, 7-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  4,172.77                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  582.00                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  15.20    1.52    14.25    0.97    94.99    3.65    1,353.98    3.54    0.00 

2016  14.48    1.45    13.58    0.92    94.99    3.65    1,289.76    3.37    0.00 

2017  13.71    1.37    12.86    0.87    94.99    3.65    1,221.88    3.19    0.00 

2018  13.03    1.30    12.22    0.83    94.99    3.65    1,160.83    3.03    0.00 

2019  12.38    1.24    11.61    0.79    94.99    3.65    1,102.82    2.88    0.00 

2020  11.79    1.18    11.06    0.75    94.99    3.65    1,050.52    2.74    0.00 

2021  11.17    1.12    10.48    0.71    94.99    3.65    995.23    2.60    0.00 

2022  4.57    0.46    4.29    0.29    94.99    3.65    407.44    1.06    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  96.33    9.63    90.36    6.14    94.99    3.65    8,582.45    22.42    0.00 

Ult  4,269.09    591.63                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  3.00    62.66     43.92     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     372.97     356.03  
2016  3.00    59.69     41.83     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     313.64     628.29  
2017  3.00    56.55     39.63     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     250.92     826.27  
2018  3.00    53.73     37.65     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     194.51     965.83  
2019  3.00    51.04     35.77     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     140.93     1,057.78  
2020  3.00    48.62     34.07     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     92.60     1,112.79  
2021  3.00    46.06     32.28     0.00     0.00     877.97     0.00     0.00     41.52     1,135.25  
2022  3.00    18.86     13.22     0.00     0.00     368.52     0.00     0.00     7.97     1,139.24  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        397.21    278.37     0.00     0.00     6,514.30     0.00     0.00     1,414.99     1,139.24  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  6/4/2022           

Perfs:  62270-6335     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  1,300.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.93802090  PW  5.00%:  1,262.25 

Abandonment:  888.26 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  1,185.40 

Initial Decline:  5.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  1,139.24 

Beg ratio:  0.100    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  1,096.63 

End Ratio:  0.100    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  1,038.60 

               PW  20.00%:  955.08 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     10 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: FAULK EL 1R-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  3,338.49                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  249.85                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  3,338.49    249.85                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  6260-6348     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  0.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87611610  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  0.00  bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  0.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     11 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: FOSTER UNIT 1, 2-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  4,279.07                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  489.17                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  21.04    1.47    18.41    0.79    94.99    3.65    1,748.79    2.87    0.00 

2016  20.04    1.40    17.54    0.75    94.99    3.65    1,665.84    2.73    0.00 

2017  18.99    1.33    16.61    0.71    94.99    3.65    1,578.17    2.59    0.00 

2018  18.04    1.26    15.78    0.67    94.99    3.65    1,499.31    2.46    0.00 

2019  17.14    1.20    15.00    0.64    94.99    3.65    1,424.40    2.34    0.00 

2020  16.33    1.14    14.28    0.61    94.99    3.65    1,356.84    2.23    0.00 

2021  15.47    1.08    13.53    0.58    94.99    3.65    1,285.43    2.11    0.00 

2022  14.69    1.03    12.86    0.55    94.99    3.65    1,221.20    2.00    0.00 

2023  13.96    0.98    12.21    0.52    94.99    3.65    1,160.18    1.90    0.00 

2024  13.30    0.93    11.64    0.50    94.99    3.65    1,105.15    1.81    0.00 

2025  12.60    0.88    11.02    0.47    94.99    3.65    1,046.99    1.72    0.00 

2026  11.97    0.84    10.47    0.45    94.99    3.65    944.67    1.63    0.00 

2027  11.37    0.80    9.95    0.42    94.99    3.65    944.97    1.55    0.00 

2028  10.83    0.76    9.48    0.40    94.99    3.65    900.15    1.48    0.00 

2029  10.26    0.72    8.98    0.38    94.99    3.65    852.78    1.40    0.00 

Rem  27.45    1.92    24.02    1.03    94.99    3.65    2,281.77    3.74    0.00 

Total  253.47    17.74    221.79    9.47    94.99    3.65    21,066.63    34.56    0.00 

Ult  4,532.54    506.91                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  2.00    80.81     56.67     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     954.15     910.54  
2016  2.00    76.98     53.98     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     877.59     1,671.90  
2017  2.00    72.93     51.14     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     796.67     2,300.14  
2018  2.00    69.28     48.58     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     723.88     2,819.14  
2019  2.00    65.82     46.15     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     654.73     3,245.92  
2020  2.00    62.70     43.97     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     592.38     3,596.97  
2021  2.00    59.40     41.65     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     526.46     3,880.55  
2022  2.00    56.43     39.57     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     467.18     4,109.35  
2023  2.00    53.61     37.59     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     410.85     4,292.28  
2024  2.00    51.07     35.81     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     360.06     4,438.06  
2025  2.00    48.38     33.93     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     306.38     4,550.80  
2026  2.00    45.96     32.23     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     258.09     4,637.14  
2027  2.00    43.67     30.62     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     212.21     4,701.70  
2028  2.00    41.60     29.17     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     170.84     4,748.97  
2029  2.00    39.41     27.63     0.00     0.00     660.02     0.00     0.00     127.12     4,780.94  
Rem.        105.44     73.94     0.00     0.00     1,951.68     0.00     0.00     154.45     33.68  
Total        973.47     682.62     0.00     0.00     11,852.04     0.00     0.00     7,593.06     4,814.62  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  12/15/2032           

Perfs:  0-6252     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  1,800.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  5,316.44 

Abandonment:  716.54 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  4,204.66 

Initial Decline:  5.00  % year b -  0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  4,814.62 

Beg ratio:  0.070    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  4,477.79 

End Ratio:  0.070    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  402.31 

               PW  20.00%:  3,501.42 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     12 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: KENNEMER CB 1R, 4R, 6-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  7,332.99                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  744.49                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  27.80    2.09    22.26    1.20    94.99    3.65    2,114.27    4.39    0.00 

2016  26.25    1.97    21.02    1.13    94.99    3.65    1,996.44    4.14    0.00 

2017  24.70    1.85    19.77    1.07    94.99    3.65    1,878.18    3.90    0.00 

2018  23.34    1.75    18.69    1.01    94.99    3.65    1,774.84    3.68    0.00 

2019  22.09    1.66    17.68    0.95    94.99    3.65    1,679.80    3.48    0.00 

2020  20.99    1.57    16.81    0.91    94.99    3.65    1,596.44    3.31    0.00 

2021  19.87    1.49    15.91    0.86    94.99    3.65    1,511.03    3.13    0.00 

2022  18.87    1.42    15.11    0.82    94.99    3.65    1,435.44    2.98    0.00 

2023  17.93    1.34    14.36    0.78    94.99    3.65    1,363.71    2.83    0.00 

2024  17.08    1.28    13.68    0.74    94.99    3.65    1,299.03    2.69    0.00 

2025  16.18    1.21    12.96    0.70    94.99    3.65    1,230.66    2.55    0.00 

2026  15.37    1.15    12.31    0.66    94.99    3.65    1,169.17    2.43    0.00 

2027  14.61    1.10    11.69    0.63    94.99    3.65    1,110.75    2.30    0.00 

2028  13.91    1.04    11.14    0.60    94.99    3.65    1,058.07    2.19    0.00 

2029  13.18    0.99    10.55    0.57    94.99    3.65    1,002.38    2.08    0.00 

Rem  6.36    0.48    5.09    0.27    94.99    3.65    483.55    1.00    0.00 

Total  298.54    22.39    239.02    12.91    94.99    3.65    22,703.77    47.10    0.00 

Ult  7,631.53    766.88                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  3.00    97.77     68.54     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     1,072.04     1,023.21  
2016  3.00    92.32     64.72     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     963.24     1,859.01  
2017  3.00    86.85     60.89     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     854.04     2,532.58  
2018  3.00    82.07     57.54     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     758.61     3,076.54  
2019  3.00    77.68     54.45     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     670.84     3,513.87  
2020  3.00    73.82     51.75     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     593.87     3,865.85  
2021  3.00    69.87     48.98     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     515.00     4,143.29  
2022  3.00    66.38     46.53     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     445.20     4,361.34  
2023  3.00    63.06     44.21     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     378.97     4,530.10  
2024  3.00    60.07     42.11     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     319.24     4,659.38  
2025  3.00    56.91     39.89     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     256.11     4,753.65  
2026  3.00    54.06     37.90     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     199.32     4,820.36  
2027  3.00    51.36     36.01     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     145.38     4,864.61  
2028  3.00    48.93     34.30     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     96.73     4,891.42  
2029  3.00    46.35     32.49     0.00     0.00     880.31     0.00     0.00     45.31     4,902.84  
Rem.        22.36     15.68     0.00     0.00     436.90     0.00     0.00     9.62     2.26  
Total        1,049.86     735.99     0.00     0.00     13,641.52     0.00     0.00     7,323.50     4,905.10  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  7/2/2030           

Perfs:  6288-6372     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  2,390.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.80065680  PW  5.00%:  5,890.51 

Abandonment:  1044.02 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  5,258.45 

Initial Decline:  6.00  % year b = 0.500  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  4,905.10 

Beg ratio:  0.075    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  4,595.62 

End Ratio:  0.075    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  4,198.56 

               PW  20.00%:  3,673.48 

TRC Eco Detailed.rpt     13 



 
 

 

Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: KENNEMER JD 1-R-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  1,896.12                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  177.22                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  12.05    0.53    10.56    0.34    94.99    3.65    1,002.61    1.25    0.00 

2016  11.72    0.52    10.27    0.33    94.99    3.65    975.17    1.22    0.00 

2017  11.33    0.50    9.93    0.32    94.99    3.65    943.31    1.18    0.00 

2018  11.00    0.48    9.63    0.31    94.99    3.65    915.03    1.14    0.00 

2019  10.67    0.47    9.34    0.30    94.99    3.65    887.60    1.11    0.00 

2020  10.37    0.46    9.09    0.30    94.99    3.65    863.31    1.08    0.00 

2021  10.03    0.44    8.79    0.29    94.99    3.65    835.11    1.04    0.00 

2022  9.73    0.43    8.53    0.28    94.99    3.65    810.07    1.01    0.00 

2023  9.44    0.42    8.27    0.27    94.99    3.65    785.79    0.98    0.00 

2024  9.18    0.40    8.05    0.26    94.99    3.65    764.28    0.96    0.00 

2025  8.88    0.39    7.78    0.25    94.99    3.65    739.31    0.92    0.00 

2026  8.62    0.38    7.55    0.25    94.99    3.65    717.15    0.90    0.00 

2027  8.36    0.37    7.32    0.24    94.99    3.65    695.65    0.87    0.00 

2028  8.13    0.36    7.12    0.23    94.99    3.65    676.62    0.85    0.00 

2029  7.86    0.35    6.89    0.22    94.99    3.65    654.51    0.82    0.00 

Rem  93.33    4.11    81.77    2.66    94.99    3.65    7,767.00    9.72    0.00 

Total  240.71    10.59    210.90    6.87    94.99    3.65    20,032.52    25.06    0.00 

Ult  2,136.83    187.81                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  1.00    46.30     32.47     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     608.92     580.92  
2016  1.00    45.03     31.59     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     583.61     1,087.07  
2017  1.00    43.56     30.55     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     554.21     1,523.99  
2018  1.00    42.26     29.64     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     528.12     1,902.50  
2019  1.00    40.99     28.75     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     502.81     2,230.14  
2020  1.00    39.87     27.96     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     480.40     2,514.71  
2021  1.00    38.56     27.05     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     454.37     2,759.37  
2022  1.00    37.41     26.24     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     431.27     2,970.49  
2023  1.00    36.29     25.45     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     408.87     3,152.46  
2024  1.00    35.29     24.76     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     389.03     3,309.87  
2025  1.00    34.14     23.95     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     365.99     3,444.47  
2026  1.00    33.12     23.23     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     345.54     3,560.00  
2027  1.00    32.12     22.53     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     325.70     3,659.01  
2028  1.00    31.25     21.92     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     308.14     3,744.16  
2029  1.00    30.23     21.20     0.00     0.00     316.16     0.00     0.00     287.74     3,816.44  
Rem.        358.68     251.58     0.00     0.00     4,742.46     0.00     0.00     2,424.00     356.93  
Total        925.09     648.86     0.00     0.00     9,484.92     0.00     0.00     8,998.70     4,173.38  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  12/31/2044           

Perfs:  6330-6356     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  1,020.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87616100  PW  5.00%:  5,778.11 

Abandonment:  409.01 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  4,700.29 

Initial Decline:  3.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  4,173.38 

Beg ratio:  0.044    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  3,751.53 

End Ratio:  0.044    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  3,259.16 

               PW  20.00%:  2,681.90 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: MCCREIGHT GA 1-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  1,716.64                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  147.44                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

NON-ECONOMIC  
Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Ult  1,716.64    147.44                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     

Net  
Lease Costs     

Net  
Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  0.00    0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  1/1/2015           

Perfs:  4085-6387     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  153.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  0.00 

Abandonment:  153.00 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  0.00 

Initial Decline:  2.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  0.00 

Beg ratio:  0.287    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  0.00 

End Ratio:  0.287    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  0.00 

               PW  20.00% :  0.00 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: RADNEY 1, 2, 3-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD (TX), TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  1,380.89                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  0.19                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  5.69    0.00    4.08    0.00    94.99    0.00    387.35    0.00    0.00 

2016  5.14    0.00    3.68    0.00    94.99    0.00    349.54    0.00    0.00 

2017  4.61    0.00    3.30    0.00    94.99    0.00    313.71    0.00    0.00 

2018  2.29    0.00    1.64    0.00    94.99    0.00    156.08    0.00    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  17.73    0.00    12.70    0.00    94.99    0.00    1,206.68    0.00    0.00 

Ult  1,398.62    0.19                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  1.00    17.85     12.53     0.00     0.00     259.33     0.00     0.00     97.63     93.35  
2016  1.00    16.11     11.31     0.00     0.00     259.33     0.00     0.00     62.79     148.00  
2017  1.00    14.46     10.15     0.00     0.00     259.33     0.00     0.00     29.77     171.61  
2018  1.00    7.19     5.05     0.00     0.00     138.47     0.00     0.00     5.37     175.57  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        55.61     39.04     0.00     0.00     916.46     0.00     0.00     195.57     175.57  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  7/16/2018           

Perfs:  5120-8069     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  500.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.71656247  PW  5.00%:  184.92 

Abandonment:  344.34 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  179.17 

Initial Decline:  10.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  175.57 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  172.15 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  167.31 

               PW  20.00%:  159.95 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: ROBERTSON JM 3, 4-0  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  2,143.23                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  202.70                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  11.98    1.02    10.48    0.62    94.99    3.65    995.32    2.28    0.00 

2016  11.10    0.94    9.71    0.58    94.99    3.65    922.49    2.11    0.00 

2017  10.27    0.87    8.99    0.53    94.99    3.65    853.97    1.95    0.00 

2018  9.58    0.81    8.38    0.50    94.99    3.65    795.83    1.82    0.00 

2019  8.95    0.76    7.84    0.47    94.99    3.65    744.22    1.70    0.00 

2020  8.42    0.72    7.37    0.44    94.99    3.65    699.99    1.60    0.00 

2021  7.90    0.67    6.91    0.41    94.99    3.65    656.66    1.50    0.00 

2022  6.44    0.55    5.63    0.34    94.99    3.65    534.94    1.22    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  74.64    6.34    65.31    3.89    94.99    3.65    6,203.41    14.18    0.00 

Ult  2,217.87    209.04                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  2.00    46.04     32.27     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     358.21     342.10  
2016  2.00    42.67     29.91     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     290.94     594.74  
2017  2.00    39.50     27.69     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     227.66     774.43  
2018  2.00    36.81     25.80     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     173.96     899.28  
2019  2.00    34.43     24.13     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     126.29     981.70  
2020  2.00    32.38     22.70     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     85.44     1,032.45  
2021  2.00    30.38     21.29     0.00     0.00     561.07     0.00     0.00     45.43     1,056.99  
2022  2.00    24.74     17.34     0.00     0.00     477.16     0.00     0.00     16.91     1,065.41  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        286.95     201.14     0.00     0.00     4,404.66     0.00     0.00     1,324.83     1,065.41  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  11/10/2022           

Perfs:  6248-6428     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  1,040.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87500000  PW  5.00%:  1,180.82 

Abandonment:  608.73 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  1,108.66 

Initial Decline:  8.00  % year b = 0.730  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  1,065.41 

Beg ratio:  0.085    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  1,025.54 

End Ratio:  0.085    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  971.34 

               PW  20.00%:  893.52 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: SKEEN-CL 1-1  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: COKE  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  1,334.34                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  0.76                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  9.67    0.00    7.54    0.00    94.99    0.00    716.60    0.00    0.00 

2016  8.73    0.00    6.81    0.00    94.99    0.00    646.66    0.00    0.00 

2017  7.84    0.00    6.11    0.00    94.99    0.00    580.36    0.00    0.00 

2018  7.05    0.00    5.50    0.00    94.99    0.00    522.36    0.00    0.00 

2019  6.35    0.00    4.95    0.00    94.99    0.00    470.16    0.00    0.00 

2020  5.73    0.00    4.47    0.00    94.99    0.00    424.27    0.00    0.00 

2021  5.14    0.00    4.01    0.00    94.99    0.00    380.77    0.00    0.00 

2022  4.63    0.00    3.61    0.00    94.99    0.00    342.72    0.00    0.00 

2023  1.95    0.00    1.52    0.00    94.99    0.00    144.32    0.00    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  57.09    0.00    44.51    0.00    94.99    0.00    4,228.24    0.00    0.00 

Ult  1,391.43    0.76                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  1.00    33.02     23.18     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     374.54     357.69  
2016  1.00    29.80     20.92     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     310.09     626.94  
2017  1.00    26.75     18.77     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     248.99     823.49  
2018  1.00    24.07     16.90     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     195.54     963.84  
2019  1.00    21.67     15.21     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     147.43     1,060.08  
2020  1.00    19.55     13.73     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     105.14     1,122.52  
2021  1.00    17.55     12.32     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     65.06     1,157.66  
2022  1.00    15.79     11.09     0.00     0.00     285.85     0.00     0.00     29.99     1,172.44  
2023  1.00    6.65     4.67     0.00     0.00     128.59     0.00     0.00     4.41     1,174.46  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        194.86     136.78     0.00     0.00     2,415.41     0.00     0.00     1,481.18     1,174.46  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  6/15/2023           

Perfs:  0-6336     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  850.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.77979515  PW  5.00%:  1,310.10 

Abandonment:  348.79 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  1,225.14 

Initial Decline:  10.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  1,174.46 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  1,127.94 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  1,064.96 

               PW  20.00%:  975.73 
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Date:  01/30/2015 10:18:28AM                 

      ECONOMIC SUMMARY PROJECTION        

Project Name:  Glori - YE2014  As of Date: 01/01/2015     Case: WHITE SL ETAL 1,11,15,2,3,4,5 - 11L  

Partner:  GLORI ENERGY, INC.  Discount Rate (%): 10.00     Reserve Cat: Proved Producing  

Case Type:  LEASE CASE  All Cases  Field: QUITMAN  

Archive Set:  YE 2014           Operator: GLORI ENERGY HOLDINGS INC.  

      Oil Price: $94.99/Bbl Gas Price: $4.30/MMBtu  Reservoir: PALUXY  

               Co., State: WOOD, TX  

Cum Oil (Mbbl):  6,807.75                 

Cum Gas (MMcf):  1,951.64                 

 
Year  

Gross  
Oil     

Gross  
Gas     

Net  
Oil     

Net  
Gas     

Oil  
Price     

Gas  
Price     

Oil  
Revenue     

Gas  
Revenue     Misc. Revenue  

   (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     (Mbbl)     (MMcf)     ($/bbl)     ($/Mcf)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  4.09    0.00    3.58    0.00    94.99    0.00    340.33    0.00    0.00 

2016  3.57    0.00    3.13    0.00    94.99    0.00    297.37    0.00    0.00 

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

                                    

Rem  0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.00 

Total  7.67    0.00    6.71    0.00    94.99    0.00    637.70    0.00    0.00 

Ult  6,815.41    1,951.64                                           

 
Year  

Well  
Count     

Net Tax 
Production     

Net Tax 
AdValorem     Net Investment     Net Lease Costs     Net Well Costs     Other Costs     Net Profits     

Annual Cash 
Flow     

Cum Disc. Cash 
Flow  

         (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)     (M$)  

2015  3.00    15.68     11.01     0.00     0.00     292.00     0.00     0.00     21.64     20.70  
2016  3.00    13.70     9.62     0.00     0.00     267.66     0.00     0.00     6.38     26.33  
                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

                                        

Rem.        0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00  
Total        29.39     20.63     0.00     0.00     559.66     0.00     0.00     28.02     26.33  

Major Phase:  Oil     Abandonment Date:  11/30/2016           

Perfs:  8324-8327     Working Int:  1.00000000  Present Worth Profile (M$)  

Initial Rate:  350.00  bbl/month  Revenue Int:  0.87574150  PW  5.00%:  27.14 

Abandonment:  317.23 bbl/month  Disc. Initial Invest. (M$):  0.00  PW  8.00%:  26.64 

Initial Decline:  5.00  % year b = 0.000  ROInvestment (disc/undisc)  0.00/0.00  PW  10.00%:  26.33 

Beg ratio:  0.000    Years to Payout:  0.00  PW  12.00%:  26.02 

End Ratio:  0.000    Internal ROR (%):  0.00  PW  15.00%:  25.59 

               PW  20.00%:  24.91 
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